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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. a Yes & No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. & Yes & No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. a Yes a4 No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).
a Yes & No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an

emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. &

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued
its audit report. a

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). & Yes & No

The aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates computed based on the closing sales price of such stock on June 30,
2021 was approximately $1,981,113,685.

Number of Shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 31, 2022, — 150,173,507
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Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, subsequent to the date hereof
pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the registrant’'s 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, are incorporated by reference into Part Ill of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We intend to file such proxy statement with the SEC not later than 120 days after the conclusion of the registrant’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021.
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This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on
information currently available to our management. Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or
assumed future results of operations, business strategies, technology developments, financing and investment plans, dividend
policy, competitive position, industry and regulatory environment, potential growth opportunities and the effects of competition.
Forward-looking statements include statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” "seek," “should,” “will,” “would” or
similar expressions and the negatives of those terms.

” o« " o« ” o ” o« ” o« N » o,

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this
report. You should read this report with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we
expect.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include factors in “Summary Risk
Factors” and the “Risk Factors” sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by law, we assume no
obligation to update these forward-looking statements, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

6XP P DU 5LVN) DRVRW

Our business is subject to a number of risks that if realized could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
conditions, results of operations, cash flows and access to liquidity. These risks are discussed more fully in the “Risk Factors”
section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our principal risks include the following:

* we may be unable to successfully integrate the business of STI (as defined below) into our business or achieve the
anticipated benefits of the STI Acquisition (as defined below);

» the capped call transactions may affect the value of our Convertible Notes (as defined below) and the market price of our
common stock;

* the fundamental change repurchase feature of the Convertible Notes may delay or prevent an otherwise beneficial
attempt to acquire us;

« if demand for solar energy projects does not continue to grow or grows at a slower rate than we anticipate, our business
will suffer;

» the viability and demand for solar energy are impacted by many factors outside of our control, which makes it difficult to
predict our future prospects;

T a loss of one or more of our significant customers, their inability to perform under their contracts, or their default in
payment, could harm our business and negatively impact revenue, results of operations and cash flow;

+ afailure to retain key personnel a failure to attract additional qualified personnel may affect our ability to achieve our
anticipated level of growth adversely affect our business;

« adrop in the price of electricity derived from the utility grid or from alternative energy sources may harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects;
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+ defects or performance problems in our products could result in loss of customers, reputational damage and decreased
revenue, and we may face warranty, indemnity and product liability claims arising from defective products;

* developments in alternative technologies may have a material adverse effect on demand for our offerings;

* an increase in interest rates, or a reduction in the availability of tax equity or project debt capital in the global financial
markets could make it difficult for customers to finance the cost of a solar energy system and could reduce the demand
for our products;

+ existing electric utility industry policies and regulations, and any subsequent changes, may present technical, regulatory
and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems, which may significantly reduce demand for our
products or harm our ability to compete;

» the interruption of the flow of materials from international vendors could disrupt our supply chain, including as a result of
the imposition of additional duties, tariffs and other charges on imports and exports;

« changes in the U.S. trade environment, including the imposition of import tariffs, could adversely affect the amount or
timing of our revenues, results of operations or cash flows;

« the reduction, elimination or expiration of government incentives for, or regulations mandating the use of, renewable
energy and solar energy specifically could reduce demand for solar energy systems and harm our business;

« if we fail to, or incur significant costs in order to, obtain, maintain, protect, defend or enforce, our intellectual property and
other proprietary rights, our business and results of operations could be materially harmed;

+ we may need to defend ourselves against third-party claims that we are infringing, misappropriating or otherwise
violating others’ intellectual property rights, which could divert management’s attention, cause us to incur significant
costs and prevent us from selling or using the technology to which such rights relate;

+ significant changes in the cost of raw materials could adversely affect our financial performance;

+ we are dependent on transportation and logistics providers to deliver our products in a cost efficient manner. Disruptions
to transportation and logistics, including increases in shipping costs, could adversely impact our financial condition and
results of operations;

+ the determination to restate prior period financial statement could negatively affect investor confidence and raise
reputational issues;

« our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition; and

+ the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations. The
duration and extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain
and could be material.

(;3/$1$725<127(

In connection with our year-end financial statement close and preparation of our 2021 Form 10-K, misstatements were identified
in certain of our previous interim financial statements. The determination was made upon the recommendation of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Board of Directors after consultation with the Company’s independent auditors and
management team.

The Company is filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, and to restate Array’s interim
financial statements as of March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021, September 30, 2021, and for the three months ended March 31,
2021, the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 (collectively,
the “Prior Period Financial Statements”).
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On March 23, 2022, the management and the Audit Committee of the Company, in consultation with BDO USA LLP (“BDQO”), the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, determined that the Company’s previously issued interim financial
statements, as of March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021, September 30, 2021, and for the three months ended March 31, 2021, the
three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 (the “Non-Reliance
Periods”), should no longer be relied upon due to an error in the recognition of revenue under Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”) for the Non-Reliance Periods. The errors resulted from an
incorrect conclusion regarding (1) the identification and recognition of performance obligations for customer contracts, and (2)
that certain projects which were negotiated with customers at the same time should be combined and recognized as a single
performance obligation using an over-time methodology. During Fiscal 2021, management reviewed the respective agreements
from 2019 through 2021 and determined that certain projects should instead be considered multiple performance obligations
and accounted for as either over-time or point-in-time depending on the nature of the underlying contractual terms. Management
and the Audit Committee have determined that these accounting changes required a restatement of the Prior Period Financial
Statements (the “Restatement”).

Previously filed quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the Prior Period Financial Statements have not been amended. Accordingly,
investors should no longer rely upon the Company'’s previously released financial statements for these periods and any earnings
releases or other communications relating to these periods, and, for these periods, investors should rely solely on the financial
statements and other financial data for the relevant periods included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See Note 22,
“Restatement of Previously Issued Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements,” for the impact of these
adjustments on each of the first three quarters of fiscal 2021.

, QMLODOE ROWRCE: ROVIGHIDWRQV

In connection with the restatement, management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2021. Based on this assessment, management identified material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. Management is taking steps to remediate the material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting, as described in Part Il, ltem 9A, “Controls and Procedures”



Table of Contents

7$9% ( 2) &217(176

,7(0 3% (
3$57 ,
Iltem 1. Business 1
Iltem 1A. Risk Factors 7
Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 36
Iltem 2. Properties 36
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 36
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 38
3%$57 ,,
Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 38
Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data 40
Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 42
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 58
Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 59
Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting_and Financial Disclosure 59
Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures 59
Iltem 9B. Other Information 61
Iltem 9C. Disclosure Regarding_Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections 59
3%$57 ,,,
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 62
Iltem 11. Executive Compensation 62
ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 62
ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 62
ltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 62
3%$57 ,9
ltem 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules 62
ltem 16. Form 10—-K Summary 65
SIGNATURES 66
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS E-1

Vi



Table of Contents

3%$57,

WP 9XVIOHW

2 YHY1IHZ

We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of ground-mounting systems used in solar energy projects. Our principal
product is an integrated system of steel supports, electric motors, gearboxes and electronic controllers commonly referred to as
a single-axis “tracker.” Trackers move solar panels throughout the day to maintain an optimal orientation to the sun, which
significantly increases their energy production. Solar energy projects that use trackers generate more energy and deliver a lower
Levelized Cost of Energy (“LCOE”) than projects that use “fixed tilt” mounting systems, which do not move. The vast majority of
ground mounted solar systems in the U.S. use trackers.

Our trackers use a patented design that allows one motor to drive multiple rows of solar panels through articulated driveline
joints. To avoid infringing on our U.S. patent, our competitors must use designs that we believe are inherently less efficient and
reliable. For example, our largest competitor’s design requires one motor for each row of solar panels. As a result, we believe
our products have greater reliability, lower installation costs, reduced maintenance requirements and competitive manufacturing
costs. Our core U.S. patent on a linked-row, rotating gear drive system does not expire until February 5, 2030.

We sell our products to engineering, procurement and construction firms (“EPCs”) that build solar energy projects and to large
solar developers, independent power producers and utilities, often under master supply agreements or multi-year procurement
contracts.

Demand for ground-mounting systems is driven by installations of new ground-mounted solar energy projects. Demand for our
products and our competitors’ products is a function of the percentage of those new installations that use trackers as opposed to
fixed-tilt mounting systems. Historically, we have derived the majority of our revenues from the sale of trackers used in solar
energy projects located in the U.S. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we derived 97% and 3% of our revenues from
customers in the U.S. and rest of the world, respectively.

We are a U.S. company with our headquarters and principal manufacturing facility in Albuguerque, New Mexico. As of
December 31, 2021, we had 471 full-time employees.

6 DBV
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We sell our products to EPCs that build solar energy projects and to large solar developers, independent power producers and
utilities, often under master supply agreements or multi-year procurement contracts. Although sales to a single customer may
occasionally be greater than 10%, they generally represent multiple projects for many different end customers who often directly
influence or make the decision to use our products. In 2021, our sales to EPC’s represented approximately 70% of our revenue.

2 XU3 IRGXFW DQG 6 HXYIFRV
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Large-scale solar energy projects are typically laid out in successive “rows” that form an “array.” An array can have dozens of
rows with more than 100 solar panels in each row. With a single-axis tracker system, motors and gears cause each row of solar
panels to rotate along their north-south axis to continually align the row with the sun throughout the day. Different tracker
manufacturers use different approaches to rotate the panels in a row. We have patented single-axis tracker systems that use
one electric motor to drive the rotation of multiple
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rows through articulated driveline joints, require only a single bolt clamp to attach solar panels and automatically stow in high
wind conditions. We refer to our design as the “DuraTrack” system. We believe our DuraTrack system has significant
advantages, including:

* requiring fewer motors per megawatt (“MW”) than competing products;

» creating site design flexibility;

« enabling higher power density than competing products;

* making installation easier;

« automatically stowing in high wind conditions;

» having high reliability and no scheduled maintenance; and

* incorporating software and machine learning capabilities that enhance performance.

" XW7WDFN += Y

Our principal product is the DuraTrack® HZ v3 tracker system, which we launched in May 2015. DuraTrack HZ v3 is our third-
generation single axis tracker and incorporates unique features such as a patented single-bolt per module mounting system that
reduces installation time, a passive wind load mitigation system and a low number of motors and controls per MW.

6 P DJ WDFN 6 RIVZ DLH

SmarTrack is our software product that uses site-specific historical weather and energy production data, in combination with
machine learning algorithms, to identify the optimal position for a solar array in real time to increase its energy production.

0 DUNHW
3 UIRGXFWb RDGP DS

Our products reflect the innovation focus and engineering capabilities of our people. Our product roadmap is rooted in delivering
value to the customer, differentiated products and services and new market creation.

We have introduced three generations of trackers and each new version has delivered significant cost and performance
improvements over the prior version. We are currently developing the fourth generation of the DuraTrack technology which will
focus on improvements to performance, reliability and cost of ownership.

We are also planning to introduce improvements and additional functionality to our SmarTrack software, including unique
positioning algorithms designed to maximize energy production from arrays that use bi-facial panels, pre-positioning instructions
based on weather forecasts and enhanced site-specific machine learning capabilities as well as cybersecurity enhancements.

6 DBV DQG 0 DINHWQJ 6 \WDMI\

Our sales and marketing strategy is to educate all influencers and stakeholders involved in building, owning and maintaining a
solar energy project on the merits of our products generally and their low lifetime cost of ownership specifically. With the
objective of making DuraTrack the preferred tracker system globally, we educate customers and influencers through a
combination of direct sales efforts; commissioning independent, third-party studies; hosting training seminars; and sponsoring
industry conferences and events.

We take a “360-degree” approach to selling, working with developers, independent power producers, EPCs, utilities,
independent engineering firms, insurers and mechanical subcontractors in each of the countries where
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we operate. In the United States, Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), Latin America and Australia our products are
actively sold by employees in seven different countries.

7WDIQIQI DQG &XWRP HU6 XSSRUV

We offer our customers engineering expertise to design and deliver the optimal solution for each unique project, installation
training services and dedicated project management to provide comprehensive technical support.

We offer a wide variety of training and support designed to ensure an efficient build process of our tracker system, including
hands on and video supported instruction and documentation. We support all of our customers with design consulting
throughout the sales process. Our technical support organization includes applications engineering, geotechnical and civil
engineering in each region where we operate. To support projects around the globe, we have resources available to work on
solutions 24/7. We manage open issues via our customer relationship management system in order to monitor service, track
closure of all customer issues and further improve our customer service in every region in which we sell our products.

Customer service and satisfaction are a key focus for us and contribute to our success. We have field service engineers located
in the geographies where we are active, and support our customers with commissioning of large projects, introduction of new
technologies and features and on-the-job training of new installers.

&RP SHWARQ

Trackers are highly specialized products that are specific to the solar industry. The unique expertise required to design trackers
and customers’ reluctance to try unproven products has confined the number of firms that produce trackers to a relatively small
number. Our principal tracker competitors include NEXTracker Inc., a subsidiary of Flex Ltd., PV Hardware and Artech Solar. We
also compete indirectly with manufacturers of fixed tilt mounting systems, including UNIRAC, Inc., and RBI Solar Inc., a
subsidiary of Gibraltar Industries, Inc. We compete on the basis of product performance and features, total cost of ownership
(usually measured by LCOE), reliability and duration of product warranty, sales and distribution capabilities, and training and
customer support.

5 HVRXUFHV
0 DQXI DRMUQJ

We operate a fifty-seven thousand square foot manufacturing facility in Albuquerque, New Mexico. Our manufacturing process
is designed to meet four objectives: limit capital intensive and low value-added activities that can be outsourced to other
companies; minimize labor content where possible; minimize the amount of assembly our customers will be required to do at the
site; and minimize material movement both from vendors to us and inside our factory.

We produce module clamps, center structures, spring dampers and motor controller assemblies at our Albuquerque facility. We
have entered outsourcing contracts for steel tubing, drivelines, bearing assemblies and gear boxes that ship directly from our
suppliers to job sites or designated warehouses. By using vendors, we are able to drop ship products directly to our customers’
sites, which improves working capital turnover, quality and inventory management.

While we maintain certain levels of supplies and inventories, have the capability to in source some of the products manufactured
by outside vendors to our principal manufacturing facility and have identified alternative vendors for contingency purposes, we
depend upon a small number of vendors to manufacture certain components used in our products. We have implemented a
policy that no component be single-sourced and that second-source suppliers be located domestically where possible.
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We believe our status as a U.S. company with U.S. manufacturing reduces the potential impact of U.S. government tariffs
placed on, or other U.S. government regulatory actions taken against, products manufactured in foreign countries.

5 HVHDUFK DQG' HYH®RSP HQW

We continually devote resources to research and development (“R&D”) with the objective of developing innovative new products
and services that enhance system performance, improve product reliability, reduce product cost and simplify installation. Our
development strategy is to identify features that bring value to our customers and differentiate us from our competitors. We
measure the effectiveness of our R&D using a number of metrics, beginning with a market requirements definition, which
includes a program budget, financial payback, resource requirements, and time required to launch the new product, system, or
service into the market. We employ a stringent engineering phase gate review process that ensures all R&D programs are
meeting their stated objectives from inception to deployment.

We have a strong R&D team with significant experience in solar energy as well as expertise in mechanical engineering, software
engineering, civil engineering, systems/control engineering, power electronics, semiconductors, power line communications and
networking. As needed, we collaborate with academia, national laboratories and consultants, to further enhance our capabilities
and confirm results independently.

, QMIDF\MDOB LRSHUV

The success of our business depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and protect our proprietary technologies, information,
processes and know-how. We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and
similar laws in other countries, confidentiality agreements and procedures and other contractual arrangements to protect our
technology. As of December 31, 2021, we had two U.S. trademark registrations, eleven issued U.S. patents, 152 issued non-
U.S. patents, eighteen patent applications pending for examination in the United States, fourteen U.S. provisional patent
applications pending, 94 patent applications pending for examination in other countries and eight domain name registrations.
Many of our patents relate to mounting assemblies, solar trackers and related methods. Our U.S. issued patents are scheduled
to expire between 2030 and 2037.

We rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to safeguard our interests with respect to proprietary know-
how that is not patentable and processes for which patents are difficult to enforce. We believe that many elements of our
manufacturing processes involve proprietary know-how, technology or data that are not covered by patents or patent
applications, including technical processes, test equipment designs, algorithms, and procedures.

Our policy is for our research and development employees to enter into confidentiality and proprietary information agreements
with us to address intellectual property protection issues and require our employees to assign to us all the inventions, designs
and technologies they develop during the course of employment with us. However, we might not have entered into such
agreements with all applicable personnel, and such agreements might not be self-executing. Moreover, such individuals could
breach the terms of such agreements.

We also require our customers and business partners to enter into confidentiality agreements before we disclose any sensitive
aspects of our technology or business plans.

* RYHUOP HOW&.RQADFW

None.
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Our revenue is impacted by seasonality related to federal investment tax credit (“ITC”) step-downs for solar energy projects and
construction activity.

,7& VWMS GRZ Qv While solar power is cost-competitive with conventional forms of generation in many U.S. states even
without the ITC, we believe step-downs in the ITC have influenced, and will continue to influence, the timing and quantity of
some customers’ orders. During the fourth quarter of 2019, we received approximately $400 million of orders that were
structured to maintain our customers’ eligibility for the 30% ITC available for projects for which construction began before 2020.
We shipped and recorded the associated revenues on approximately $100 million and $300 million of those orders in the fourth
quarter of 2019 and first half of 2020, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2020, we received approximately $80 million of
orders that were structured to maintain our customers’ eligibility for the 26% ITC that is available for projects for which
construction began before 2021, respectively. We shipped and recorded the associated revenues on approximately $40 million
and $40 million of those orders in the fourth quarter of 2020 and the first half of 2021, respectively. The current 26% ITC phases
down to 22% for projects that begin construction in 2023, and then phases down to a permanent 10% level for projects that
begin construction in 2024 or later. We cannot predict our customers’ behavior; however, should the step-downs remain intact
we expect to see a similar order pattern to what was experienced in prior years.

& RQMKRIRQ DRYW Project construction activity in North America is lower in colder months. The installation of a solar
tracker requires setting foundations in the ground which is more costly when the ground is frozen. Accordingly, we typically
expect to see higher revenues in the second and third quarters when the weather is warmer in North America and lower in the
first and fourth quarters when the weather is colder absent other factors. While we expect this seasonality will continue to impact
us in the near term as a large portion of our business is in North America, we expect to see less pronounced seasonal variations
as we expand into new global markets in the southern hemisphere.

* RYHUQP HOWS HI XOMRQ
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We are subject to a variety of environmental, health and safety, and pollution-control laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in
which we operate. We do not believe the costs of compliance with these laws and regulations will be material to the business or
our operations. We use, handle, generate, store, discharge and dispose of hazardous substances, chemicals and wastes at
some of our facilities in connection with our product development, testing and manufacturing activities. Any failure by us to
control the use of, to remediate the presence of or to restrict adequately the discharge of such substances, chemicals or wastes
could subject us to potentially significant liabilities, clean-up costs, monetary damages and fines or suspensions in our business
operations. In addition, some of our facilities are located on properties with a history of use involving hazardous substances,
chemicals and wastes and may be contaminated. Although we have not incurred, and do not currently anticipate, any material
liabilities in connection with such contamination, we may be required to make expenditures for environmental remediation in the
future.

* RYHUP HOQWQFHQWYHV

Federal, state, local and foreign government bodies provide incentives to owners, end users, distributors and manufacturers of
solar energy systems to promote solar electricity in the form of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives such as system
performance payments, payments for renewable energy credits associated with renewable energy generation, and an exclusion
of solar energy systems from property tax assessments. The range and duration of these incentives varies widely by geographic
market. The market for grid-connected applications, where solar power is sold into organized electric markets or pursuant to
power purchase agreements, often depends in large part on the availability and size of these government subsidies and



Table of Contents

economic incentives. The following is a summary of the major current government subsidies and economic incentives in the key
jurisdictions where our customers operate.

United States. The U.S. federal government provides an ITC that allows a taxpayer to offset its federal income tax liability by a
percentage of its cost basis in a solar energy system put to commercial use. The value of the tax credit varies depending on the
year in which construction is deemed to begin. Under the current legislative framework, solar projects that were under
construction by the end of 2019 qualify for a tax credit equal to 30% of the project’s cost. The value dropped to 26% for projects
starting construction in 2020 through 2022, and 22% for projects starting construction in 2023. The credit drops to a permanent
10% level for projects that begin construction in 2024 or later. Projects that begin construction before 2024 but are not placed in
service until 2026 or later, are also limited to the 10% credit.

The federal government also permits accelerated depreciation, and in some cases 100% “bonus” depreciation, for certain
equipment, including solar energy systems. In addition, some U.S. states offer an additional corporate investment or production
tax credit for solar that is additive to the ITC. Additionally, many U.S. states and local jurisdictions have established various
property tax abatement incentives for renewable energy systems.

+XP DQ &DSIMIO

We believe our success depends on our ability to attract and retain outstanding employees at all levels of our business. As of
December 31, 2021, we had 471 full-time employees, of which approximately 93% are located in the United States, with the
balance located in Europe, Latin America, Australia, and Asia. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We
have not experienced any employment-related work stoppages, and we consider relations with our employees to be good.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented procedures to reduce the risk of spreading the virus and have
implemented an hourly incentive for employees that work in our manufacturing facilities.

We have a team-oriented culture, which we believe helps us to succeed and drive operational excellence. As a rapidly growing
business, we rely on the success of our recruitment efforts to attract and retain technically skilled people who can support our
ongoing innovation and expansion. We aim to be inclusive in our hiring practices focusing on the best talent for the role,
welcoming all genders, nationalities, ethnicities, abilities and other dimensions of diversity. We drive high levels of performance
and improvement by prioritizing training and development to ensure our team members are equipped with the knowledge, skills,
and tools to succeed. We motivate and develop our employees by providing them with opportunities for advancement, and we
invest in both on-the-job training and on-line training and development tools because we believe our people are the ultimate
drivers of our success. These initiatives include multiple compliance trainings as well as various leadership development
courses. In addition, we support external development and verification programs as well as offer education reimbursement.

We aim to provide our employees with competitive salary and benefits that enable them to achieve a good quality of life and
plan for the future. Our benefits differ according to local norms and market preferences but typically include all salary and social
benefits required by local law (including retirement saving programs, paid vacation and sick leave) and many additional benefits
that go beyond legal requirements in local markets.

We aim to hire individuals who share our passion, commitment and entrepreneurial spirit. We are also committed to diversity
and inclusion because we believe that diversity leads to better outcomes for our business and enables us to better meet the
needs of our customers. We recognize the importance of diversity in leadership roles within our company.

Our employees’ health and safety is important to us. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we took measures to ensure the safety of
our employees by complying with federal, state and local health guidelines, and we have implemented procedures to reduce the
risk of spreading the virus, such as work from home measures,
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restricting the number of attendees at events or in-person meetings, limiting the number of people in our buildings and factories
at a given time, further restricting access to our facilities and suspending employee travel, and we have also implemented an
hourly incentive for employees that work in our manufacturing facilities. In addition, we believe that all accidents and injuries at
work are preventable and we aim to ensure a zero-injury culture across our offices and operations. We comply with applicable
occupational health and safety regulations and are certified to Occupational Health and Safety Quality Management Standard
ISO 9001. Our injury rates are low.

$ YDIDE®! ,Q RUP DWRQ

Our website address is https://arraytechinc.com, and our investor relations website is located at https://ir.arraytechinc.com.
Information on our website is not incorporated by reference herein. We will make available on our website, free of charge, our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) containing
reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

WP $ 5LVN) DRRWY

,Q HYDODW WH &RP SDQ \ RX VKRX@ FROVIGHU FDUHX@® \KH UMV DQG XQFHUBIQWAY GHAVFUEHG EHBZ DV ZHODV WH RKHU
IQRP DIRQ IQ\KY $QXDCB HSRWRQ) RP . LQFAQ) RXUFRQURTEDMG | LQDQFIDOABAMP HQN DQG UHDWMG QRWV DSSHDUQ) DV
WH HQG R WY $QQXDOB HSRWRQ) RPP . 7KH RFFXUWHQAH R DQ R WH IRTRZ IQ) UMNV FRX@ KDP RXUBXMICHW  1ICDQADC
FRQGAMRQ UHVX@V R RSHIDMRQV DOG RUJURZ \K SURVSHRW RUFDXVH RXUDPWDOUHVXOV \R GLIHUP DMID® IRP \WRVH FRQBIQHG 1Q
IRZ DG BRNQ] WMMP HQN Z H KDYH P DGH 1Q WLV UHSRWDQG \WRVH ZH P D\ P DNH IURP P HVR AP H 7 KH UVNY DQG XQFHABIQIA
GHVAUEHG EHBZ DUH QRAKH RQD RCHV IDAQ) XV 2 \WHUHYHOW \WDWZ H GR QRAFXWHQ® DQUIASDW RUWDWZ H FXUWHO® GHHP

[P P DIMUDODOR P D\ DGYHYHO DIHRAWRXU EXMCHW  [IQDCHDOFRQAMRQ  UHVXAV R RSHIDMRQY  VRFNKRGHWAT HTXIW DQG FDWK
[C7AY)

51NV 5 HOWMG VR WH 67, $ FTXIVIMRQ

© HP D\ EHXQDE®I R VXFFHWIX@ LW UDW 67,5 EXVIOHW LQR RXUEXVIQHWW RUDFKLHYH WH DOWFLSDMG EHQH W Rl WH
67, $ FTXIVIMRQ

On January 11, 2022, we completed the acquisition (the “STI Acquisition”) of 100% of the share capital of Soluciones Técnicas
Integrales Norland, S.L. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “STI”). Our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the STI
Acquisition will depend in part upon whether we can integrate STI's business into our existing business in an efficient and
effective manner. We may not be able to accomplish this integration process successfully. The successful integration of STI's
business requires an assessment of several factors, including:

« our ability to successfully combine our respective businesses in a manner that permits us to achieve the cost savings,
synergies and other anticipated benefits from the STI Acquisition;

+ the challenge of integrating complex systems, operating procedures, compliance programs, technology, networks and
other assets while carrying out our ongoing business in a manner that minimizes any adverse impact on customers,
suppliers, employees and other constituencies;

« the challenge of managing the expanded operations of a larger and more complex company and coordinating
geographically separate organizations; and
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+ potential unknown liabilities, liabilities that are significantly larger than we currently anticipate, and unforeseen increased
expenses or delays associated with the STI Acquisition, including cash costs of integration that may exceed what we
currently anticipate.

Any one of these factors could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of anticipated benefits and diversion of
management’s attention, each of which could materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, even following successful integration, the anticipated benefits of the STI Acquisition may not be realized fully, or at all,
or may take longer to realize than expected.

: HDQG 67, Z LOEH VXEMIFWR EXVIOHW XQFHUBLOWHY IRUD SHURG RI WP H IRTRZ LQJ FRP SGMRQRI WH 67, $ FTXIVIMRQ
Z KIFK FRX@ DGYHWHO® DI THRARXUEXVIQHW

In connection with the completion of the STI Acquisition, it is possible that certain persons with whom we or STI have a business
relationship may delay or defer certain business decisions or might decide to seek to terminate, change or renegotiate their
relationships with us or STI, as the case may be, as a result of the STI Acquisition and integration of STI's business, which could
negatively affect our or STI's revenues, earnings and cash flows as well as the market price of our common stock. Also, our and
STI's ability to attract, retain and motivate employees may be impaired for a period of time, as current and prospective
employees may experience uncertainty about their roles within the Company following the completion of the STI Acquisition.

: HZ L@KDYH LQFXUHG VLJ QU LEDQWADQVDFMRQ FRVW 1Q FRQOHFWRQ Z W WH 6 7, $ FTXIVIMRQ

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur a number of non-recurring costs associated with the STI Acquisition,
combining the operations of STI with ours and achieving desired synergies. These costs have been, and will continue to be,
substantial and, in many cases, will be borne by us. A substantial majority of non-recurring expenses will consist of transaction
costs and include, among others, fees paid to financial, legal, accounting and other advisors and employee retention,
severance, and benefit costs. We will also incur costs related to formulating and implementing integration plans. Although we
expect that the elimination of duplicative costs, as well as the realization of synergies and efficiencies related to the integration
of STI's business, should allow us to offset these transaction costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near
term or at all.

$VDUHVXORI WH 67, $FTXIVMRQ Z HZ L@EH H SRVHG VR UVNV ILRP FXUHQR\ H FKDQI H LDWM | OSXFWDAWRQV EHVE HHQ WH
8 6 GREDUDQG | RUHJ Q FXUHQFLHV WDWFRX@ DGYHWHO DIl HFWRXUI LQDQFLDOUHVX @OV DQG FRP SDUDELDN RI RXUUHVXAV
EHVE HHQ | LODQFLDOSHURGY

Changes in exchange rates may affect our financial condition and results of operations. Appreciation of the U.S. dollar against
the euro, the Brazilian real or other currencies in which our net sales are denominated may generally have the effect of
decreasing our net sales figures. Movements in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar to the euro, the Brazilian real or other
currencies, could increase the amount of cash that must be generated in foreign currencies in order to pay the principal and
interest on our Convertible Notes and our other U.S. dollar denominated indebtedness. We are unable to predict with any
precision future movements of the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies or their effect on our business or
results of operations.

5 VNV 5 HDWG W ' HP DOG IRURXU3 LRGXFW

| GHP DQG |IRU VR@U HOHWU\  SIRMFW CRHY QRWFROWXH VR JUIRZ RUJWRZV DWD V&Z HU DM WDQ Z H DOWFLISDIM RXU
EXVIOHWV Z LOVXITHU

Our solution is utilized in large-scale ground-mounted solar energy projects. As a result, our future success depends on
continued demand for solar energy solutions and the ability of solar equipment vendors to meet
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this demand. The solar industry is an evolving industry that has experienced substantial changes in recent years, and we cannot
be certain that consumers and businesses will adopt solar energy as an alternative energy source at levels sufficient to grow our
business. If demand for solar energy fails to develop sufficiently, demand for our products will decrease, which would have an
adverse impact on our ability to increase our revenue and grow our business.

7KH YIDELOV DQG GHP DQG IRUVROUHQHU\  DQG WH GHP DQG IRURXUSURGXFW DUH P SDFWG E\ P DQ\ IDFVRY/ RXWIGH Rl
RXUFRQWRO Z KIFK P DNHV MG LEXOWR SUHGLFWRXUIXVMH SLIRVSHFW

The viability and demand for solar energy, and in turn, our products, may be affected by many factors outside of our control.
While we have been in existence since 1989, we have recently grown and expanded significantly. Our recent significant growth
and expansion, combined with the rapidly evolving and competitive nature of our industry, makes it difficult to predict our future
prospects. We have limited insight into emerging trends that may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced by
growing companies in rapidly changing industries, including unpredictable and volatile revenues and increased expenses as we
continue to grow our business. Some of the factors outside of our control which may impact the viability and demand for solar
energy include:

» cost competitiveness, reliability and performance of solar energy systems compared to conventional and non-solar
renewable energy sources and products and cost competitiveness, reliability and performance of our products compared
to our competitors;

« availability and scale and scope of government subsidies and incentives to support the development and deployment of
solar energy solutions;

» prices of traditional carbon-based energy sources;
+ levels of investment by end-users of solar energy products, which tend to decrease when economic growth slows;

« the emergence, continuance or success of, or increased government support for, other alternative energy generation
technologies and products; and

« if we do not manage these risks and overcome these difficulties successfully, our business will suffer.

$ QW Rl RQH RUP RWIH Rl RXUVL] QULFDQAFXWRP HY  WHU LQDELON VR SHIRWP  XQGHUWHU FRQADFW  RUWHU GH DXOQUQ
SD\ P HOWFRX@ KDWP  RXUEXVIQHWY DQG QHJ DWYHD 1P SDFWHYHOXH LHVXAV RI RSHIDMWRQV DQG FDWK |(RZ

We are dependent on a relatively small number of customers for our sales, and a small number of customers have historically
accounted for a material portion of our revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company’s largest customer and
five largest customers constituted 12.6% and 46.0% of our total revenues, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021,
2 customers (Primoris Renewable Energy, Inc. and Blattner Energy, Inc.), constituted more than 10% of total revenue. The loss
of any one of the Company’s significant customers, their inability to perform under their contracts, or their default in payment,
could have a materially adverse effect on the revenues and profits of the Company. Further, the Company’s trade accounts
receivable are from companies within the solar industry, and, as such, the Company is exposed to normal industry credit risks.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers constituted 17.6% and 44.6% of trade
accounts receivable, respectively. For the near future, we may continue to derive a significant portion of our net sales from a
small number of customers. Accordingly, loss of a significant customer or a significant reduction in pricing or order volume from
a significant customer could materially reduce net sales and operating results in any reporting period.
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$ GRS LQWH SUFH Rl HBFWIFIW VRGP D KDIPP RXUEXVIQHW | LQDQFLDOFRQGIMRQ LHVXAV RI RSHIMRQV DQG SLRVSHFW

Decreases in the price of electricity, whether in organized electric markets or with contract counterparties, may negatively impact
the owners of the solar energy projects or make the purchase of solar energy systems less economically attractive and would
likely lower sales of our products. The price of electricity could decrease as a result of:

» construction of a significant number of new, lower-cost power generation plants, including plants utilizing natural gas,
renewable energy or other generation technologies;

» relief of transmission constraints that enable distant, lower-cost generation to transmit energy less expensively or in
greater quantities;

* reductions in the price of natural gas or other fuels;
« utility rate adjustment and customer class cost reallocation;

+ decreased electricity demand, including from energy conservation technologies and public initiatives to reduce electricity
consumption;

+ development of smart-grid technologies that lower the peak energy requirements;

+ development of new or lower-cost customer-sited energy storage technologies that have the ability to reduce a
customer’s average cost of electricity by shifting load to off-peak times; and

+ development of new energy generation technologies that provide less expensive energy.

Moreover, technological developments in the solar components industry could allow our competitors and their customers to offer
electricity at costs lower than those that can be achieved by us and our customers, which could result in reduced demand for our
products.

If the cost of electricity generated by solar energy installations incorporating our systems is high relative to the cost of electricity
from other sources, then our business, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.

" HHFW RU SHURW DQFH SWREG®P V 1Q RXU SIRGXFW FRX@G WHVXAVIQ &RW Rl FXWWRP HY  UHSXVBIMRQDO GDP DIH DQG
GHFUHDVHG IHYHQXH DQGZHP D IDFHZ DUDQW  LQGHP QW DQG SUIRGXFWIDELON FOLP V DUMQJ 1UIRP GH HRWYH SURGXFW

Although our products meet our stringent quality requirements, they may contain undetected errors or defects, especially when
first introduced or when new generations are released. Errors, defects or poor performance can arise due to design flaws,
defects in raw materials or components or manufacturing difficulties, which can affect both the quality and the yield of the
product. Any actual or perceived errors, defects or poor performance in our products could result in the replacement or recall of
our products, shipment delays, rejection of our products, damage to our reputation, lost revenue, diversion of our engineering
personnel from our product development efforts and increases in customer service and support costs, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, defective components may give rise to warranty, indemnity or product liability claims against us that exceed any
revenue or profit we receive from the affected products. Our limited warranties cover defects in materials and workmanship of
our products under normal use and service conditions. As a result, we bear the risk of warranty claims long after we have sold
products and recognized revenue. While we do have accrued reserves for warranty claims, our estimated warranty costs for
previously sold products may change to the extent future products are not compatible with earlier generation products under
warranty. Our warranty accruals are based on our assumptions and we do not have a long history of making such assumptions.
As a result, these assumptions could prove to be materially different from the actual performance of our systems,

10
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causing us to incur substantial unanticipated expense to repair or replace defective products in the future or to compensate
customers for defective products. Our failure to accurately predict future claims could result in unexpected volatility in, and have
a material adverse effect on, our financial condition.

If one of our products were to cause injury to someone or cause property damage, including as a result of product malfunctions,
defects or improper installation, then we could be exposed to product liability claims. We could incur significant costs and
liabilities if we are sued and if damages are awarded against us. Further, any product liability claim we face could be expensive
to defend and could divert management’s attention. The successful assertion of a product liability claim against us could result in
potentially significant monetary damages, penalties or fines, subject us to adverse publicity, damage our reputation and
competitive position and adversely affect sales of our products. In addition, product liability claims, injuries, defects or other
problems experienced by other companies in the residential solar industry could lead to unfavorable market conditions for the
industry as a whole, and may have an adverse effect on our ability to attract new customers, thus harming our growth and
financial performance.

2 XUIHVXQV Rl RSHIDWRQV P D\ IXFXDWM [UIRP TXDUMUWR TXDUMU Z KIFK FRX@ P DNH RXUIXWWUH SHIRUP DOQFH GLILEXOWR
SUIHGRPAWDQG FRX@ FDXVH RXU UHVXAV RI RSHIDWRQV IRU D SDUAFXMU SHURG WR IDOEH®RZ H SHRAVMRQY WHVXOMYJ LQ D
GHOOH LQ WH SUFH RI RXUFRP P RQWRFN

Our quarterly results of operations are difficult to predict and may fluctuate significantly in the future. We have experienced
seasonal and quarterly fluctuations in the past as a result of seasonal fluctuations in our customers’ business. Our end-users’
ability to install solar energy systems is affected by weather, as for example during the winter months in Europe and the
northeastern United States. Such installation delays can impact the timing of orders for our products. Further, given that we are
an early-stage company operating in a rapidly growing industry, the true extent of these fluctuations may have been masked by
our recent growth rates and consequently may not be readily apparent from our historical results of operations and may be
difficult to predict. Our financial performance, sales, working capital requirements and cash flow may fluctuate, and our past
quarterly results of operations may not be good indicators of future performance. Any substantial decrease in revenues would
have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and stock price.

$ Q LOFUHDVH 1Q LOMHWAILDWY RUD UHGXFURQ LQ WH DYDIMELDN RI V[ HTXIW RUSURMPWGHEWFDSVBOLQ WH J GREDOI LODQFLDC
P DUNHW FRX@ P DNH IMGLI LEXGMRUHQG FXWRP HY \R 1LQDQFH WH FRWARI D VROUHQHU\ W\ WMP  DQG FRX@ UHGXFH WH
GHP DQG | RURXUSIRGXFW

Many end-users depend on financing to fund the initial capital expenditure required to construct a solar energy project. As a
result, an increase in interest rates, or a reduction in the supply of project debt or tax equity financing, could reduce the number
of solar projects that receive financing or otherwise make it difficult for our customers or their customers to secure the financing
necessary to construct a solar energy project on favorable terms, or at all, and thus lower demand for our products which could
limit our growth or reduce our net sales. In addition, we believe that a significant percentage of end-users construct solar energy
projects as an investment, funding a significant portion of the initial capital expenditure with financing from third parties. An
increase in interest rates could lower an investor’s return on investment on a solar energy project, increase equity requirements
or make alternative investments more attractive relative to solar energy projects, and, in each case, could cause these end-
users to seek alternative investments.

' HYHRSP HQW LQ DOMUOQDWYH WIFKQR®J IHV P D KDYH D P DIMUDCDGYHYWH H ITHRARQ GHP DQG |RURXURITHUQI V
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Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as advances in other forms of solar tracking systems may have a
material adverse effect on our business and prospects. Any failure by us to adopt new or enhanced technologies or processes,
or to react to changes in existing technologies, could result in product obsolescence, the loss of competitiveness of our
products, decreased revenue and a loss of market share to competitors.

5 VN 5 HIMWG VR WH 5 HI XOWRUY ( QYLLROP HOW

([ DM HOFWF XWONV LQGXVW  SRAIFIHV DQG HIX@MARQY DQG DQ\ VXEVHTXHQWFKDQIHV P D SUHVHQWWKQLIFDO
HIXOWRY DQG HFRQRP IF EDUIHY R WH SXUFKDVH DQG XVH Rl VROU HQHU\ W\ WMP V WDWP D\ VLJ QULEDQWD  UHGXFH
GHP DQG IRURXUSURGXFW RUKDUP  RXUDELDV \R FRP SHWM

Federal, state, local and foreign government regulations and policies concerning the broader electric utility industry, as well as
internal policies and regulations promulgated by electric utilities and organized electric markets with respect to fees, practices,
and rate design, heavily influence the market for electricity generation products and services. These regulations and policies
often affect electricity pricing and the interconnection of generation facilities, and can be subject to frequent modifications by
governments, regulatory bodies, utilities and market operators. For example, changes in fee structures, electricity pricing
structures, and system permitting, interconnection and operating requirements can deter purchases of renewable energy
products, including solar energy systems, by reducing anticipated revenues or increasing costs or regulatory burdens for would-
be system purchasers. The resulting reductions in demand for solar energy systems could harm our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

A significant recent development in renewable-energy pricing policies in the United States occurred on December 31, 2020,
when a final rule amending the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) regulations that implement the Public Utility
Regulatory Policies Act (“PURPA”) became effective. Among other requirements, PURPA mandates that electric utilities buy the
output of certain renewable generators, including qualifying solar energy facilities, below established capacity thresholds.
PURPA also requires that such sales occur at a utility’s “avoided cost” rate. FERC’s PURPA reforms include modifications (1) to
how regulators and electric utilities may establish avoided cost rates for new contracts, (2) that reduce from 20 MW to 5 MW the
capacity threshold above which a renewable-energy qualifying facility is rebuttably presumed to have non-discriminatory market
access, thereby removing the requirement for utilities to purchase its output, (3) that require regulators to establish criteria for
determining when an electric utility incurs a legally enforceable obligation to purchase from a PURPA qualifying facility, and (4)
that reduce barriers for third parties to challenge PURPA eligibility. The net effect of these changes is uncertain, as they have
only been effective for a short time, and some changes will not become fully effective until states and other jurisdictions
implement the new authorities provided by FERC. In general, however, FERC’s PURPA reforms have the potential to reduce
prices for the output from certain new renewable generation projects while also narrowing the scope of PURPA eligibility for new
projects. These effects could reduce demand for PURPA-eligible solar energy systems and could harm our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in other current laws or regulations applicable to us or the imposition of new laws, regulations or policies in the United
States, Europe or other jurisdictions in which we do business could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Any changes to government, utility or electric market regulations or policies that favor
electric utilities, non-solar generation, or other market participants, or that make construction or operation of new solar
generation facilities more expensive or difficult, could reduce the competitiveness of solar energy systems and cause a
significant reduction in demand for our products and services and adversely impact our growth. In addition, changes in our
products or changes in export and import laws and implementing regulations may create delays in the introduction of new
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products in international markets, prevent our customers from deploying our products internationally or, in some cases, prevent
the export or import of our products to certain countries altogether. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

7KH LOMUXSWRQ Rl WH I&Z RI FRP SRQHQW DQG P DMUDY [LRP  IQMUODARQDOYHQGRY FRXE GIMXSWRXUVXSS® FKDIQ
LOFOXGIQJ DV D UHVX@ORI WH LP SRVIMRQ RI DGGIMRQDOGXWHY VULV DQG RWHUFKDU HV RQ P SRUV DQG H| SRUV

We purchase some of our components and materials outside of the United States through arrangements with various vendors.
Political, social or economic instability in these regions, or in other regions where our products are made, could cause
disruptions in trade, including exports to the United States. Actions in various countries, particularly China and the United States,
have created uncertainty with respect to tariff impacts on the costs of some of our components and materials. The degree of our
exposure is dependent on (among other things) the type of materials, rates imposed, and timing of the tariffs. Other events that
could also cause disruptions to our supply chain include:

+ the imposition of additional trade law provisions or regulations;

+ the imposition of additional duties, tariffs and other charges on imports and exports such as anti-dumping and
countervailing duties, including as a result of the escalating trade war between China and the United States;

+ the potential imposition of restrictions on our acquisition, importation, or installation of equipment under future U.S.
regulations, if any, implementing the temporarily suspended Executive Order on Securing the United States Bulk-Power
System, any successor order, or other subsequently imposed administrative or legislative requirements;

* quotas imposed by bilateral trade agreements;
» foreign currency fluctuations;
* natural disasters;

* public health issues and epidemic diseases, their effects (including any disruptions they may cause) or the perception of
their effects, such as the ongoing novel coronavirus outbreak originating in China;

» theft;

+ restrictions on the transfer of funds;

« the financial instability or bankruptcy of vendors; and
« significant labor disputes, such as dock strikes.

We cannot predict whether the countries in which our components and materials are sourced, or may be sourced in the future,
will be subject to new or additional trade restrictions imposed by the United States or other foreign governments, including the
likelihood, type or effect of any such restrictions. Trade restrictions, including new or increased tariffs or quotas, border taxes,
embargoes, safeguards and customs restrictions against certain components and materials, as well as labor strikes and work
stoppages or boycotts, could increase the cost or reduce or delay the supply of components and materials available to us and
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

&KDQIHV IQWH 8 6 WDGH HQYLLRQP HOWIQFOXGIQ] WH LP SRVIMRQ RI IP SRUMBULIV FRX@ DGYHWHD DIl HPWMH DP RXQARU
WP LQJ RI RXUHYHQXHV UHVXOV RI RSHIDARQV RUFDVK |®&Z V/

Escalating trade tensions, particularly between the United States and China, have led to increased tariffs and trade restrictions,
including tariffs applicable to certain materials and components for our products or for
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products used in solar energy projects more broadly, such as module supply and availability. More specifically, in March 2018,
the United States imposed a 25% tariff on steel imports and a 10% tariff on aluminum imports pursuant to Section 301 of the
Trade Act of 1974 and has imposed additional tariffs on steel and aluminum imports pursuant to Section 232 of the Trade
Expansion Act of 1962. To the extent we continue to use overseas suppliers of steel and aluminum, these tariffs could result in
interruptions in the supply chain and impact costs and our gross margins. Additionally, in January 2018, the United States
adopted a tariff on imported solar modules and cells pursuant to Section 201 of the Trade Act of 1974. The tariff was initially set
at 30%, with a gradual reduction over four years to 15%. While this tariff does not apply directly to the components we import, it
may indirectly affect us by impacting the financial viability of solar energy projects, which could in turn reduce demand for our
products. Furthermore, in July 2018, the United States adopted a 10% tariff on a long list of products imported from China under
Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974, including, inverters and power optimizers, which became effective on September 24,
2018. In June 2019, the U.S. Trade Representative increased the rate of such tariffs from 10% to 25%. While these tariffs are
not directly applicable to our products, they could impact the solar energy projects in which our products are used, which could
lead to decreased demand for our products.

On January 15, 2020, the United States and China entered into an initial trade deal that preserves the bulk of the tariffs placed
in 2018 and maintains a threat of additional tariffs should China breach the terms of the deal. The Biden Administration has not
yet indicated whether it will remove or alter any of the aforementioned tariffs.

In addition, the United States currently imposes antidumping and countervailing duties on certain imported crystalline silicon PV
cells and modules from China and Taiwan. Such antidumping and countervailing duties can change over time pursuant to
annual reviews conducted by the U.S. Department of Commerce, and an increase in duty rates could have an adverse impact
on our operating results. In February 2022, Auxin Solar Inc., a U.S. producer of crystalline silicon PV products, petitioned the
U.S. Department of Commerce (“USDOC”) to investigate alleged circumvention of antidumping and countervailing duties on
Chinese imports by crystalline silicon PV cells and module imports assembled and completed in Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand,
and Vietnam. On March 28, 2022, the USDOC announced that it would investigate the circumvention alleged in the petition. As
the timing and progress of many of our customers’ projects depend upon the supply of PV cells and modules, our operating
results could be adversely impacted if the USDOC makes negative circumvention determinations.

Tariffs and the possibility of additional tariffs in the future have created uncertainty in the industry. If the price of solar systems in
the United States increases, the use of solar systems could become less economically feasible and could reduce our gross
margins or reduce the demand of solar systems manufactured and sold, which in turn may decrease demand for our products.
Additionally, existing or future tariffs may negatively affect key customers, suppliers, and manufacturing partners. Such
outcomes could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenues, results of operations or cash flows, and continuing
uncertainty could cause sales volatility, price fluctuations or supply shortages or cause our customers to advance or delay their
purchase of our products. It is difficult to predict what further trade-related actions governments may take, which may include
additional or increased tariffs and trade restrictions, and we may be unable to quickly and effectively react to such actions.

7KH IHGXPARQ HIP LODWRQ RUH SILDARQ Rl J RYHUOP HOALQFHQWYHY |RU RUUHI XOMRQV P DQGDWRI WH XVH R UHQHZ DE®
HOHU\ DQG VROUHQHU\ VSHFLILFDAED FRX@ WHGXFH GHP DQG |RUVRMUHQHU\ VA VWP V DQG KDLP - RXUEXVIQHW

Federal, state, local and foreign government bodies provide incentives to owners, end users, distributors, system integrators and
manufacturers of solar energy systems to promote solar electricity in the form of rebates, tax credits and other financial
incentives such as system performance payments, payments of
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renewable energy credits associated with renewable energy generation, and an exclusion of solar energy systems from property
tax assessments.

For example, the solar ITC provides a federal income tax credit for owners of commercial solar projects that is equal to a
percentage of the applicable projects’ cost. The ITC was originally enacted by Congress in 2005, and was most recently
extended in 2020. Under the current text of the legislation, the tax credit phases down from its current 26% level to 22% for
projects that begin construction in 2023, and then down to 10% for projects that begin construction in 2024 or later.

The range and duration of these incentives varies widely by jurisdiction. Our customers typically use our systems for grid-
connected applications wherein solar power is sold under a power purchase agreement or into an organized electric market.
This segment of the solar industry has historically depended in large part on the availability and size of government incentives
and regulations mandating the use of renewable energy. Consequently, the reduction, elimination or expiration of government
incentives for grid-connected solar electricity or regulations mandating the use of renewable energy may negatively affect the
competitiveness of solar electricity relative to conventional and non-solar renewable sources of electricity, and could harm or halt
the growth of the solar electricity industry and our business. These subsidies and incentives may expire on a particular date, end
when the allocated funding is exhausted or be reduced or terminated as solar energy adoption rates increase or as a result of
legal challenges, the adoption of new statutes or regulations, or the passage of time. These reductions or terminations may
occur without warning.

In addition, federal, state, local and foreign government bodies have implemented various policies that are intended to promote
renewable electricity generally or solar electricity in particular. Chief among these policies is the renewable portfolio standard
(“RPS). Currently, 30 U.S. states, the District of Columbia, and three U.S. territories have implemented some form of RPS,
which mandates that a certain portion of electricity delivered by regulated utilities to customers come from a set of eligible
renewable energy resources by a certain compliance date. RPSs vary widely by jurisdiction. In some areas, requirements have
been satisfied and utilities must only prevent reductions in qualifying energy purchases and sales, while other jurisdictions’
RPSs continue to require substantial increases, up to 100 percent renewable electric generation, with final compliance dates
typically 20 or more years out.

While the recent trend has been for jurisdictions with RPSs to maintain or expand them, there have been certain exceptions and
there can be no assurances that RPSs or other policies supporting renewable energy will continue. Proposals to extend
compliance deadlines, reduce renewable requirements or solar set-asides, or entirely repeal RPSs emerge from time to time in
various jurisdictions. Reduction or elimination of RPSs, as well as changes to other renewable-energy and solar-energy policies,
could reduce the potential growth of the solar energy industry and our business.

Moreover, policies of the U.S. presidential administration may create regulatory uncertainty in the renewable energy industry,
including the solar energy industry, and adversely affect our business. For example, in June 2017, the then U.S. President
announced that the United States would withdraw from participation in the 2015 Paris Agreement on climate change mitigation.
The United States formally announced its intent to withdraw from the Paris Agreement on November 4, 2019, which withdrawal
took effect in November 4, 2020. Following the change of presidential administration on January 20, 2021, the U.S. President
issued written notification to the United Nations of the United States’ intention to rejoin the Paris Agreement, which became
effective on February 19, 2021. Further, on June 19, 2019, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) issued the final
Affordable Clean Energy (“ACE”) rule and repealed the 2015 Clean Power Plan (“CPP”). Under the ACE rule, emissions from
electric utility generation facilities would be regulated only through the use of various “inside the fence” or onsite efficiency
improvements and emission control technologies. In contrast, the CPP allowed facility owners to reduce emissions with “outside
the fence” measures, including those associated with renewable energy projects. On January 19, 2021, the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the D.C. Circuit struck down the ACE rule and remanded it to the EPA. On February 12, 2021, EPA issued a memo
stating that the agency
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would not reinstate the CPP; therefore, the regulation of greenhouse gas emissions in the power sector is uncertain at this time.

Finally, the solar industry has in past years experienced periodic downturns due to, among other things, changes in subsidies
and incentives, as well as other policies and regulations, which, as noted above, may affect the demand for equipment that we
manufacture. Although the solar industry has recovered from these downturns, there is no assurance that the solar industry will
not suffer significant downturns in the future, which will adversely affect demand for our solar products.

&KDQIHV QW] @Z V RUUHI XOMRQV WDADH DSSTHG DEYHWHO VR XV RURXUFXVRP HY FRX@ P DMUD® DGYHWHD DIIHAW
RXUEXVIQHW | LQDQFIDOFRQGIMRQ LHVXAV RI RSHIDWRQV DQG SLRVSHFW

Tax laws continually change as new laws are passed and new interpretations of the law are issued or applied. For example, in
December 2017, the U.S. government enacted Public Law No. 115-97 (the “TCJA”), resulting in various changes to U.S. tax
laws, including, among other things, changes to U.S. federal tax rates (including a reduction of the U.S. corporate tax rate),
changes to the rules governing the carryback and carryforward of net operating losses, significant additional limitations on the
deductibility of interest, and changes to the rules governing the expensing of capital expenditures.

More recently, in March 2020, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (the "FFCR Act"), and in March 2020, the CARES
Act were each enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The FFCR Act and the CARES Act contain several provisions
related to income tax, such as provisions relaxing limitations on the deductibility of interest and the use of net operating losses
arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. Additionally, in December 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations
Act, 2021 was enacted, which expands upon the relief provided in the CARES Act and the FFCR Act and includes additional
tax-related provisions. We continue to evaluate the impact of the foregoing legislation on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows. Future guidance under the FFCR Act, the CARES Act, and the Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2021 (as well as under the TCJA) may be forthcoming, and such guidance could ultimately increase or
decrease the impact that such Acts have on our business and financial condition. It is possible that Congress will enact
additional legislation in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, some of which could have an impact on us.

Changes like the ones discussed above and other changes to tax laws, such as changes in corporate tax rates, tax incentives
for renewable energy projects, the realization of net deferred tax assets relating to our U.S. operations, the taxation of foreign
earnings, and the deductibility of expenses under future tax reform legislation could have a material impact on the value of our
deferred tax assets, could result in significant one-time charges in the current or future taxable years, and could increase our
future U.S. tax expense, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and prospects.

: HFRX@ EHDGYHWHOD DIIHAMGE\ DQ YIRODMRQV Rl WH) &3$ WHS . %UEHY $ PAWDQG RWHUIRUHLI Q DOWEUEHY @Z V

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”), generally prohibits companies and their intermediaries
from making improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Other
countries in which we operate also have anti-bribery laws, some of which prohibit improper payments to government and non-
government persons and entities. Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. However, we currently operate
in and intend to further expand into, many parts of the world that have experienced governmental corruption to some degree
and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. In addition,
due to the level of regulation in our industry, our entry into certain jurisdictions requires substantial government contact where
norms can differ from U.S. standards. It is possible that our employees, subcontractors, agents and partners may take actions in
violation of our policies and anti-bribery laws. Any
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such violation, even if prohibited by our policies, could subject us to criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and reputation.

5 VIV 5 HDWAG VR _, QMBI DCB LRSHUV

J ZHIDOR RULQFXUVLI QUIFDQAFRWY 1Q RUIGHUWR REWIQ P DIQWIQ SIRWFWGH HQG RUHQIRUFH  RXULOW@FDOSURSHIV
DQG RWHUSURSURVEY W KW RXUEXVIQHWW DQG UHVXAV Rl RSHIDWRQV FRX@ EH P DWUD® KDUWP HG

Our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We
rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and unfair competition laws, as well as confidentiality and
license agreements and other contractual provisions, to establish and protect our intellectual property and other proprietary
rights. Such means may afford only limited protection of our intellectual property and may not (i) prevent our competitors from
duplicating our processes or technology; (ii) prevent our competitors from gaining access to our proprietary information and
technology; or (iii) permit us to gain or maintain a competitive advantage.

We generally seek or apply for patent protection as and if we deem appropriate, based on then-current facts and circumstances.
We have applied for patents in numerous countries across the world, including in the United States, Europe, and China, some of
which have been issued. We cannot guarantee that any of our pending patent applications or other applications for intellectual
property registrations will be issued or granted or that our existing and future intellectual property rights will be sufficiently broad
to protect our proprietary technology. While a presumption of validity exists with respect to United States patents issued to us,
there can be no assurance that any of our patents, patent applications, or other intellectual property rights will not be, in whole or
in part, opposed, contested, challenged, invalidated, circumvented, designed around, or rendered unenforceable. If we fail to
obtain issuance of patents or registration of other intellectual property, or our patent claims or other intellectual property rights
are rendered invalid or unenforceable, or narrowed in scope, pursuant to, for example, judicial or administrative proceedings
including re-examination, post-grant review, interference, opposition, or derivation proceedings, the coverage of patents and
other intellectual property rights afforded our products could be impaired. Even if we are to obtain issuance of further patents or
registration of other intellectual property, such intellectual property could be subjected to attacks on ownership, validity,
enforceability, or other legal attacks. Any such impairment or other failure to obtain sufficient intellectual property protection
could impede our ability to market our products, negatively affect our competitive position and harm our business and operating
results, including forcing us to, among other things, rebrand or re-design our affected products. Moreover, our patents and
patent applications may only cover particular aspects of our products, and competitors and other third parties may be able to
circumvent or design around our patents. Competitors may develop and obtain patent protection for more effective technologies,
designs or methods. There can be no assurance that third parties will not create new products or methods that achieve similar
or better results without infringing upon patents we own. If these developments were to occur, it could have an adverse effect on
our sales or market position.

In countries where we have not applied for patent protection or trademark or other intellectual property registration or where
effective patent, trademark, trade secret, and other intellectual property laws and judicial systems may not be available to the
same extent as in the United States, we may be at greater risk that our proprietary rights will be circumvented, misappropriated,
infringed, or otherwise violated. Filing, prosecuting, maintaining, and defending our intellectual property in all countries
throughout the world may be prohibitively expensive, and we may choose to forego such activities in some applicable
jurisdictions. The lack of adequate legal protections of intellectual property or failure of legal remedies or related actions in
jurisdictions outside of
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the United States could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

We have initiated, and may in the future need to initiate infringement claims or litigation in order to try to protect or enforce our
intellectual property rights. For instance, we have brought an action against a competitor in connection with misappropriation of
trade secrets that remains pending (see Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings). Litigation, whether we are a plaintiff or a defendant, can be
expensive and time-consuming and may divert the efforts of our management and other personnel, which could harm our
business, whether or not such litigation results in a determination favorable to us. Litigation also puts our patents or other
intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications or applications for other
intellectual property registrations at risk of not issuing. Additionally, any enforcement of our patents or other intellectual property
may provoke third parties to assert counterclaims against us. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

: HPD QHHG WR GHHQG RXWHYHV DI DIQOWWKILG SDUWV FOIP V WDWZ H DUH lQUQILQI P LVDSSURSUDWQI RU RWHZ LVH

YIRODWQ RWHWAT LOMBIFMDOSIRSHIV WKW Z KIFK FRX@ GLYHW\P DQDI HP HQWY DIVMQUWRQ FDXVH XV R LOFXUVLI QULEDQW
FRW DQG SUHYHQAKV ILRP VHEQ RUXVIQ) WHWFKQR®RI\ WR Z KIEK VXFK W KW UHDW

Our competitors and other third parties hold numerous patents related to technology used in our industry, and may hold or
obtain patents, copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property rights that could prevent, limit, or interfere with our ability to
make, use, develop, sell or market our products and services, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our business.
From time to time we may be subject to claims of infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of patents or other intellectual
property rights and related litigation, and, if we gain greater recognition in the market, we face a higher risk of being the subject
of these types of claims. Regardless of their merit, responding to such claims can be time consuming, can divert management’s
attention and resources, and may cause us to incur significant expenses in litigation or settlement, and we cannot be certain that
we would be successful in defending against any such claims in litigation or other proceedings. If we do not successfully defend
or settle an intellectual property claim, we could be liable for significant monetary damages and could be prohibited from
continuing to use certain technology, business methods, content, or brands, and from making, selling or incorporating certain
components or intellectual property into the products and services we offer. As a result, we could be forced to redesign our
products and services, and/or to establish and maintain alternative branding for our products and services. To avoid litigation or
being prohibited from marketing or selling the relevant products or services, we could seek a license from the applicable third-
party, which could require us to pay significant royalties, licensing fees, or other payments, increasing our operating expenses. If
a license is not available at all or not available on reasonable terms, we may be required to develop or license a non-violating
alternative, either of which could be infeasible or require significant effort and expense. If we cannot license or develop a non-
violating alternative, we would be forced to limit or stop sales of our offerings and may be unable to effectively compete.
Moreover, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or
developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse
effect on the price of our common stock. Any of these results would materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. Finally, any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could result in substantial
costs, negative publicity and diversion of resources and management attention, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

S IVNV 5 HOWIG VR * LRZ W DQG 2 SHIDWRQV

.| ZHIDIOR P DQDI H RXUUHFHQADQG | XVMUH JURZ W HIHFWYHO ZH P D\ EH XQDE® VR H HFEX\WM RXUEXVIQHW S@Q P DIQWIQ
KLJK GIYHY Rl FXWWRP HUVHYYLEH RUDGHT XDWM® DGGUHWW FRP SHWAYH FKDEBIQI HY
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We have experienced significant growth in recent periods. We intend to continue to expand our business significantly within
existing and new markets. This growth has placed, and any future growth may place, a significant strain on our management,
operational and financial infrastructure. In particular, we will be required to expand, train and manage our growing employee
base and scale and otherwise improve our IT infrastructure in tandem with that headcount growth. Our management will also be
required to maintain and expand our relationships with customers, suppliers and other third parties and attract new customers
and suppliers, as well as manage multiple geographic locations.

Our current and planned operations, personnel, IT and other systems and procedures might be inadequate to support our future
growth and may require us to make additional unanticipated investment in our infrastructure. Our success and ability to further
scale our business will depend, in part, on our ability to manage these changes in a cost-effective and efficient manner. If we
cannot manage our growth, we may be unable to take advantage of market opportunities, execute our business strategies or
respond to competitive pressures. This could also result in declines in quality or customer satisfaction, increased costs,
difficulties in introducing new offerings or other operational difficulties. Any failure to effectively manage growth could adversely
impact our business and reputation.

: HGHSHQG XSRQ D QXP EHURI RXWIGH YHQGRWY/ 2 XURSHIDWRQV FRX@ EH GIMXSWG LI Z H HOFRXQWIUSWREGP V Z W WHVH
YHQGRWY/

While we manufacture products at our principal manufacturing facility in Albuquerque, New Mexico, we depend upon a number
of vendors to manufacture certain components used in our products. Our reliance on these vendors makes us vulnerable to
possible capacity constraints and reduced control over component availability, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields and
costs.

If any of our vendors were unable or unwilling to manufacture the components that we require for our products in sufficient
volumes and at high quality levels or renew existing terms under supply agreements, we would have to manufacture at our
principal manufacturing facility the components manufactured by our vendors or identify, qualify and select acceptable
alternative vendors, if not already multi-sourced. Manufacturing at our principal manufacturing facility the components
manufactured by our vendors may lower our cost efficiency, and an alternative vendor may not be available to us when needed
or may not be in a position to satisfy our quality or production requirements on commercially reasonable terms, including price.
Any significant interruption in manufacturing would require us to reduce our supply of products to our customers or increase our
shipping costs to make up for delays in manufacturing, which in turn could reduce our revenues, harm our relationships with our
customers and damage our reputation with local installers and potential end-users and cause us to forego potential revenue
opportunities.

© HPD LOFXUREQ DARQV @DELDAHV RU FRVW XQGHU HQYILRQP HQWO KHDIM DQG VDIHW @ZV Z KIFK FRX@ KDYH DQ
DGYHWH LP SDFVRQ RXUEXVIQHW 1 lQDQFLDCFRQGIMRQ DQG LHVXAV RI RSHIDWRQV

Our operations involve the use, handling, generation, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances, chemicals and
wastes. As a result, we are required to comply with national, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations regarding the
protection of the environment and health and safety. Adoption of more stringent laws and regulations in the future could require
us to incur substantial costs to come into compliance with these laws and regulations. In addition, violations of, or liabilities
under, these laws and regulations may result in restrictions being imposed on our operating activities or in our being subject to
adverse publicity, substantial fines, penalties, criminal proceedings, third-party property damage or personal injury claims,
cleanup costs, or other costs. We may become liable under certain of these laws and regulations for costs to investigate or
remediate contamination at properties we own or operate, we formerly owned or operated or to which hazardous substances
were sent by us for disposal. Liability under these laws and regulations can be imposed on a joint and several basis and without
regard to fault or the legality of the activities giving rise to the contamination conditions. In addition, future developments such as
more aggressive
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enforcement policies or the discovery of presently unknown environmental conditions may require expenditures that could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

© H DUH WHTXLWHG VR P DNH SD\ P HOW XQGHUWH 7D 5 HFHYDE®! $JUHHP HQW375$" Ll DQG ZKHQ FDVK W VDYIQIV DWH
UHD@ HG DQG WH DP RXQW RI VXFK SD\ P HQW FRX@ EH VLJ QULFDQW

Concurrent with Former Parent’s acquisition of Array Technologies Patent Holdings Co., LLC. (“Patent LLC”), Array Tech, Inc.
(f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) entered into the TRA with Ron P. Corio, a former indirect stockholder. The TRA requires that
Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) pay Ron P. Corio for a portion of certain federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax
benefits that we actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in taxable periods following Former Parent’s
acquisition of the Patent LLC. These payments are obligations if and when cash tax savings are realized. The TRA will continue
until all tax benefit payments have been made or we elect early termination under the terms described in the TRA (or the TRA is
otherwise terminated pursuant to its terms).

Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by nature imprecise; however, these payments could be
significant. We estimate that, as of December 31, 2021, the undiscounted future expected payments under the TRA are
$20.4 million. In addition, in certain cases, payments under the TRA may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual
benefits, if any, we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the TRA. Moreover, we will not be reimbursed for any
payments made under the TRA in the event that any tax benefits are subsequently disallowed.

Further, our payment obligations under the TRA are not conditioned upon Ron P. Corio having a continued interest in us or our
subsidiaries. Accordingly, Ron P. Corio’s interests may conflict with those of the holders of our common stock.

6 LJ QULFDQAFKDQI HV 1O WH FRWRI LDZ P DIMUDY FRX@ DGYHWH® DI I HAVIRXUILQDQFLDCSHURWP DQFH

We are subject to risk from fluctuating market prices of certain commodity raw materials, including steel and aluminum, that are
used in our products. Prices of these raw materials may be affected by supply restrictions or other market factors from time to
time, and we do not enter into hedging arrangements to mitigate commodity risk. Significant price changes for these raw
materials could reduce our operating margins if we are unable to recover such increases from our customers, and could harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

© H DH GHSHQGHQWRQ WDQUSRUMMRQ DQG &RJMMEV SIRYIGHY VR GHIYHU RXU SUIRGXFW 1Q D FRVWHIILFIHQWP DQQHU
' IMUXSMRQV VR WDQVSRUEMRQ DQG BRI MV LOFOGIQI LOFUHDVHV LQ VKISSIQI FRWV FRX@ DGYHWH® [P SDRWRXUILQDQFLDC
FRQGIMRQ DQG IHVX®V Rl RSHIDARQV

We rely on transportation and logistics providers for the delivery of our products. We may also incur additional shipping costs
when we need to accelerate delivery times. Our ability to deliver our products in a cost efficient manner could be adversely
impacted by shortages in available cargo capacity, changes by carriers and transportation companies in policies and practices,
such as scheduling, pricing, payment terms and frequency of service or increases in the cost of fuel, taxes and labor, disruptions
to shipping facilities as a result of the COVID-19 or other epidemics, and other factors not within our control. Disruptions to
transportation and logistics, including increases in shipping costs, could adversely impact our financial condition and results of
operations.

: HP D' H SHUIHQFH GHD\ V GMXSWRQV RUTXDOW FRQWRCSWRE®P V LQ RXUP DQXIDRXUQI RSHIDWRQV

Our product development, manufacturing and testing processes are complex and require significant technological and
production process expertise. Such processes involve a number of precise steps from design to production. Any change in our
processes could cause one or more production errors, requiring a
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temporary suspension or delay in our production line until the errors can be researched, identified and properly addressed and
rectified. This may occur particularly as we introduce new products, modify our engineering and production techniques, and/or
expand our capacity. In addition, our failure to maintain appropriate quality assurance processes could result in increased
product failures, loss of customers, increased warranty reserve, increased production and logistics costs and delays. Any of
these developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

) DIXWH E\ RXUYHQGRY/ RURXUFRP SRQHQWRUWDZ P DWUDOVXSSTHY VR XVH RWMLFDOEXVIQHW SWDFWFHV DQG FRP SO Z W
DSSODE® @Z V DQG IHI XOMRQV P D DGYHWHO DI HFWRXUEXVIQHW

We do not control our vendors or suppliers or their business practices. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that they follow ethical
business practices such as fair wage practices and compliance with environmental, safety and other local laws. A lack of
demonstrated compliance could lead us to seek alternative manufacturers or suppliers, which could increase our costs and
result in delayed delivery of our products, product shortages or other disruptions of our operations. Violation of labor or other
laws by our manufacturers or suppliers or the divergence of a supplier’s labor or other practices from those generally accepted
as ethical in the United States or other markets in which we do business could also attract negative publicity for us and harm our
business.

| ZHIDIOR URWIQ RXUNH SHWYRQOHCRUL Z H I DIOR DMDFWDGCEMWRQDOT XDA IHG SHYRQQHOZHP D\ QRVWEH DE® VR DFKLHYH
RXUDQWFLSDWIG GIYHCRI J LIRZ W DQG RXUEXVIQHW FRX@ VXITHU

Our future success and ability to implement our business strategy depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain key
personnel, and on the continued contributions of members of our senior management team and key technical personnel, each of
whom would be difficult to replace. All of our employees, including our senior management, are free to terminate their
employment relationships with us at any time. Competition for highly skilled individuals with technical expertise is extremely
intense, and we face challenges identifying, hiring and retaining qualified personnel in many areas of our business. Integrating
new employees into our team could prove disruptive to our operations, require substantial resources and management attention
and ultimately prove unsuccessful. An inability to retain our senior management and other key personnel or to attract additional
qualified personnel could limit or delay our strategic efforts, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

2 XUS@QOHG H SDOMRQ LR QHZ P DINHW FRX@ VXEMIPWKY VR DGGMRQDCEXVIQHW 1 LQDQFLDO UHI X@WRY DQG FRP SHWAYH
UVAV

Our strategy is to grow our revenues outside of the United States by developing region-specific products; entering into joint-
venture or licensing arrangements with companies in certain markets; expanding our relationships with value-added resellers of
our products in some countries; and utilizing locally sourced components in our products in jurisdictions where locally sourced
components are a regulatory or customer requirement.

Our strategy to grow our revenues outside of the United States includes North America, South America, Europe and Southeast
Asia but currently excludes China. Our products and services to be offered in these regions may differ from our current products
and services in several ways, such as the consumption and utilization of local raw materials, components and logistics, the re-
engineering of select components to reduce costs, and region-specific customer training, site commissioning, warranty
remediation and other technical services. We plan to implement this strategy in phases over the next approximately two years,
beginning with the qualification of region-specific suppliers and vendors and followed by the design and qualification of region-
specific components and products.

These markets have different characteristics from the markets in which we currently sell products, and our success will depend
on our ability to adapt properly to these differences. These differences may include
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differing regulatory requirements, including tax laws, trade laws, labor regulations, tariffs, export quotas, customs duties or other
trade restrictions, limited or unfavorable intellectual property protection, international political or economic conditions, restrictions
on the repatriation of earnings, longer sales cycles, warranty expectations, product return policies and cost, performance and
compatibility requirements. In addition, expanding into new geographic markets will increase our exposure to presently existing
risks, such as fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies and difficulties and increased expenses in complying with U.S. and
foreign laws, regulations and trade standards, including the FCPA.

Failure to develop these new products successfully or to otherwise manage the risks and challenges associated with our
potential expansion into new geographic markets could adversely affect our revenues and our ability to achieve or sustain
profitability.

7KH WHTXILHP HQW RI EHQJ D SXEQF FRP SDQ\ P D VMDLQ RXUUHVRXUFHV  GLYHWAP DQDI HP HQWY DWMQUWRQ DQG DIIHPARXU
DELOW VR DMDPWDQG UHVILQ TXDA HG ERDUG P HP EHWY DQG RIILFHWY

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, and
other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and
financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems
and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to
our business and results of operations and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. To maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting to meet this standard, including becoming compliant with SOX 404, significant resources and management
oversight may be required. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could
harm our business and results of operations. Although we have already hired additional employees for these heightened
requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future which would increase our costs and expenses.

5 VNV 5 HDWMGWR WH&2 9 ' 3DQGP IF

7KH RQIRIQJ &29, SDQGHP IF KDV P DWMUD@ DQG DGYHWH® DIIHFWG RXU EXVIQHW DQG LHVXAV RI RSHIDWRQV  7KH

GXUDARQ DQG H WQWR Z KIFK IWZ LFRQWOXH VR DGYHWH® P SDFWRXU EXVIQHW DQG LHVXOV Rl RSHIDWRQV UHP DIQV
XQFHWEILOQ DQG FRX@ EH P DWUIDO

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread public health crisis and numerous disease control measures
being taken to limit its spread, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and shutdowns. These
measures have materially impacted and are continuing to impact our workforce and operations, the operations of our customers,
and those of our respective vendors and suppliers. This has resulted in disruptions at many of our manufacturing operations and
facilities, and further disruptions could occur in the future. Any such disruptions could materially adversely affect our business.
We continue to closely monitor the situation in all the locations where we operate. The impact of the pandemic on our business
has included and could in the future include:

* disruptions to or restrictions on our ability to ensure the continuous provision of our manufacturing services and
solutions;

* temporary closures or reductions in operational capacity of our manufacturing facilities;

* temporary closures of our direct and indirect suppliers, resulting in adverse effects to our supply chain, and other supply
chain disruptions, which adversely affect our ability to procure sufficient inventory to support customer orders;
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* restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures, and increased
border controls or closures;

* increases in operational expenses and other costs related to requirements implemented to mitigate the impact of the
pandemic;

* delays or limitations on the ability of our customers to perform or make timely payments or take deliveries;

* reductions in short- and long-term demand for our manufacturing services and solutions, or other disruptions in
technology buying patterns;

» workforce disruptions due to illness, quarantines, governmental actions, other restrictions, and/or the social distancing
measures we have taken to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 at our locations around the world in an effort to protect the
health and well-being of our employees, customers, suppliers and of the communities in which we operate (including
working from home, restricting the number of employees attending events or meetings in person, limiting the number of
people in our buildings and factories at any one time, further restricting access to our facilities and suspending employee
travel); and

* our management team continuing to commit significant time, attention and resources to monitoring the COVID-19
pandemic and seeking to mitigate its effects on our business and workforce.

The global spread of COVID-19 also has created significant macroeconomic uncertainty, volatility and disruption, which may
continue to adversely affect our and our customers’ and suppliers’ liquidity, cost of capital and ability to access the capital
markets. As a result, the continued spread of COVID-19 could cause further disruptions in our supply chain and customer
demand, and could adversely affect the ability of our customers to perform, including in making timely payments to us, which
could further adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic
has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business as a result of the pandemic’s global economic
impact, including any recession, economic downturn, government spending cuts, tightening of credit markets or increased
unemployment that has occurred or may occur in the future, which could cause our customers and potential customers to
postpone or reduce spending on our manufacturing services and solutions.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact our business and financial results going forward will be
dependent on future developments such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in the
future including variants of the virus, the availability and distribution of effective treatments, vaccines and boosters, and public
health measures and actions taken throughout the world to contain COVID-19, and the overall impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the global economy and capital markets, among many other factors, all of which remain highly uncertain and
unpredictable. We cannot at this time quantify or forecast the business impact of COVID-19, and there can be no assurance that
the COVID-19 pandemic will not have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial results and financial condition. In
addition, the COVID-19 pandemic increases the likelihood and potential severity of other risks described in this Part |, “Item 1A.
Risk Factors”.

5 VNV 5 HDWIG VR . QI RUP DWRQ 7THFKOR®RI\

) DIXUHWR HIHRWRYHO XWI H 1QIRUWP DARQ WIFKQR®&I\ M\ WMP V RULP SGP HOWQHZ WIFKQR®RJ LHY FRX@ GIMXSWRXUEXVIOHW
RUWGXFH RXUVD®V RUSLRI WRELDN

We rely extensively on various information technology systems, including data centers, hardware, software and applications to
manage many aspects of our business, including to operate and provide our products and
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services, to process and record transactions, to enable effective communication systems, to track inventory flow, to manage
logistics and to generate performance and financial reports. We are dependent on the integrity, security and consistent
operations of these systems and related back-up systems. Our computer and information technology systems and the third-
party systems we rely upon are also subject to damage or interruption from a number of causes, including power outages;
computer and telecommunications failures; computer viruses, malware, phishing or distributed denial-of-service attacks; security
breaches; cyber-attacks; catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes; acts of war or terrorism
and design or usage errors by our employees or contractors.

Compromises, interruptions or shutdowns of our systems, including those managed by third parties, whether intentional or
inadvertent, could lead to delays in our business operations and, if significant or extreme, affect our results of operations.

From time to time, our systems require modifications and updates, including by adding new hardware, software and
applications; maintaining, updating or replacing legacy programs; and integrating new service providers, and adding enhanced
or new functionality. Although we are actively selecting systems and vendors and implementing procedures to enable us to
maintain the integrity of our systems when we modify them, there are inherent risks associated with modifying or replacing
systems, and with new or changed relationships, including accurately capturing and maintaining data, realizing the expected
benefit of the change and managing the potential disruption of the operation of the systems as the changes are implemented.
Potential issues associated with implementation of these technology initiatives could reduce the efficiency of our operations in
the short term. In addition, any interruption in the operation of our websites or systems could cause us to suffer reputational
harm or to lose sales if customers are unable to access our site or purchase merchandise from us during such interruption. The
efficient operation and successful growth of our business depends upon our information technology systems. The failure of our
information technology systems and the third-party systems we rely on to perform as designed, or our failure to implement and
operate them effectively, could disrupt our business or subject us to liability and thereby have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

8 QDXWRU] HG GVFRVXIH Rl SHYRQDORU VHQVIWYH GDW» RU FRQILGHOWDOLQIRWP DWRQ  Z KHWHUWIRXIK D EUHDFK Rl RXU
FRP SXWWUW WMP RURWHZ LVH FRX@ VHYHHD KXUARXUEXVIQHW

Some aspects of our business involves the collection, receipt, use, storage, processing and transmission of personal information
(of our customers’ and end users of our customers’ solar energy systems, including names, addresses, e-mail addresses, credit
information, energy production statistics), consumer preferences as well as confidential information and personal data about our
employees, our suppliers and us, some of which is entrusted to third-party service providers and vendors. We increasingly rely
on commercially available systems, software, tools (including encryption technology) and monitoring to provide security and
oversight for processing, transmission, storage and protection of confidential information and personal data. Despite the security
measures we have in place, our facilities and systems, and those of third parties with which we do business, may be vulnerable
to security breaches, acts of vandalism and theft, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors,
or other similar events, and there is no guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure will not occur or that third
parties will not gain unauthorized access to this type of confidential information and personal data.

Electronic security attacks designed to gain access to personal, sensitive or confidential information data by breaching mission
critical systems of large organizations are constantly evolving, and high profile electronic security breaches leading to
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information or personal data have occurred recently at a number of major U.S.
companies.

Attempts by computer hackers or other unauthorized third parties to penetrate or otherwise gain access to our computer
systems or the systems of third parties with which we do business through fraud or other means of
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deceit, if successful, may result in the misappropriation of personal information, data, check information or confidential business
information. Hardware, software or applications we utilize may contain defects in design or manufacture or other problems that
could unexpectedly compromise information security. In addition, our employees, contractors or third parties with which we do
business or to which we outsource business operations may attempt to circumvent our security measures in order to
misappropriate such information and data, and may purposefully or inadvertently cause a breach or other compromise involving
such information and data. Despite advances in security hardware, software, and encryption technologies, the methods and
tools used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems are constantly changing and
evolving, and may be difficult to anticipate or detect for long periods of time. We are implementing and updating our processes
and procedures to protect against unauthorized access to, or use of, secured data and to prevent data loss. However, the ever-
evolving threats mean we and our third-party service providers and vendors must continually evaluate and adapt our respective
systems, procedures, controls and processes, and there is no guarantee that they will be adequate to safeguard against all data
security breaches, misappropriating of confidential information, or misuses of personal data. Moreover, because techniques
used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not identified until they are
launched against a target, we and our suppliers or vendors may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement
adequate preventative or mitigation measures.

Despite our precautions, an electronic security breach in our systems (or in the systems of third parties with which we do
business) that results in the unauthorized release of personally identifiable information regarding customers, employees or other
individuals or other sensitive data could nonetheless occur lead to serious disruption of our operations, financial losses from
remedial actions, loss of business or potential liability, including possible punitive damages. As a result, we could be subject to
demands, claims and litigation by private parties, and investigations, related actions, and penalties by regulatory authorities. In
addition, we could incur significant costs in notifying affected persons and entities and otherwise complying with the multitude of
foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, personal
information. Finally, any perceived or actual unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, such information could harm our
reputation, substantially impair our ability to attract and retain customers and have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In addition, as the regulatory environment relating to retailers and other companies’ obligation to protect such sensitive data
becomes increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, compliance with
those requirements could result in additional costs, and a material failure on our part to comply could subject us to fines or other
regulatory sanctions and potentially to lawsuits. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

) DIOXH VR FRP SO Z W FXUHQWRUIXVMUH | HGHUDO VWA DQG | RUHLI Q @Z V DQG UHI XOMRQV DQG LQGXWW WEBQGDUGY UHDMWQJ
W SUYDR\ GDW SIRMPARQ DGYHWMWIQI DQG FRQUXP HU SIRWMFWRQ FRX@ DGYHWHD DIIHFWRXU EXVIOHW  [LQDQFLDC
FRQGIMRQ IHVX@V Rl RSHIDWRQV DQG SURVSHFW

We rely on a variety of marketing and advertising techniques and we are subject to various laws, regulations and industry
standards that govern such marketing and advertising practices. A variety of federal, state and foreign laws and regulations and
certain industry standards govern the collection, use, processing retention, sharing and security of consumer data.

Laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy, data protection, marketing and advertising, and consumer
protection are evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations. These requirements may be interpreted and applied in
a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another or may conflict with other rules or our practices. As a result, our
practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations, standards, requirements and
obligations. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any federal or state privacy
or consumer protection-related
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laws, regulations, industry self-regulatory principles, industry standards or codes of conduct, regulatory guidance, orders to
which we may be subject or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection could adversely affect our
reputation, brand and business, and may result in claims, fines, penalties, investigations, proceedings or actions against us by
governmental entities, customers, suppliers or others or other liabilities or may require us to change our operations and/or cease
using certain data.

Any such claims, proceedings, investigations or actions could hurt our reputation, brand and business, force us to incur
significant expenses in defense of such claims, proceedings, investigations or actions, distract our management, increase our
costs of doing business, result in a loss of customers, suppliers or vendors and result in the imposition of monetary penalties.
We may also be contractually required to indemnify and hold harmless third parties from the costs and consequences of non-
compliance with any laws, regulations or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection or any inadvertent or
unauthorized use or disclosure of data that we store or handle as part of operating our business.

Federal, state and foreign governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-
party “cookies” and other methods of online tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes. The U.S. government has
enacted, has considered or is considering legislation or regulations that could significantly restrict the ability of companies and
individuals to engage in these activities, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required before a
company can employ cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. Additionally, some
providers of consumer devices and web browsers have implemented, or announced plans to implement, means to make it
easier for Internet users to prevent the placement of cookies or to block other tracking technologies, which could, if widely
adopted, result in the use of third-party cookies and other methods of online tracking becoming significantly more restricted and
less effective. The regulation of the use of these cookies and other current online tracking and advertising practices or a loss in
our ability to make effective use of services that employ such technologies could increase our costs of operations and limit our
ability to acquire new customers on cost-effective terms and, consequently, materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, various federal, state and foreign legislative and regulatory bodies, or self-regulatory organizations, may expand
current laws or regulations, enact new laws or regulations or issue revised rules or guidance regarding privacy, data protection,
consumer protection, and advertising. For example, in June 2018, the State of California enacted the California Consumer
Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), which came into effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA requires companies that process
information relating to California residents to implement additional data security measures, to make new disclosures to
consumers about their data collection, use and sharing practices, and allows consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with
third parties. In addition, the CCPA provides for civil penalties and allows private lawsuits from California residents in the event
of certain data breaches. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal
and state consumer protection laws to impose standards for the online collection, use, dissemination and security of data. Each
of these privacy, security, and data protection laws and regulations, and any other such changes or new laws or regulations,
could impose significant limitations, require changes to our business, or restrict our use or storage of personal information,
which may increase our compliance expenses and make our business more costly or less efficient to conduct. In addition, any
such changes could compromise our ability to develop an adequate marketing strategy and pursue our growth strategy
effectively.

Any failure to comply with applicable laws or other obligations or any security incident or breach involving the misappropriation,
loss or other unauthorized processing, use or disclosure of sensitive or confidential consumer or other personal information,
whether by us, one of our third-party service providers or vendors or another third-party, could have adverse effects, including
but not limited to: investigation costs; material fines and penalties; compensatory, special, punitive and statutory damages;
litigation; consent orders regarding our privacy and security practices; requirements that we provide notices, credit monitoring
services and/or credit restoration services or other relevant services to impacted individuals; reputational damage; and injunctive
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relief. We cannot assure you that our vendors or other third-party service providers with access to our or our customers’ or
employees’ personally identifiable and other sensitive or confidential information in relation to which we are responsible will not
breach contractual obligations imposed by us, or that they will not experience data security breaches, which could have a
corresponding effect on our business, including putting us in breach of our obligations under privacy laws and regulations and/or
which could in turn adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We also cannot assure you that
our contractual measures and our own privacy and security-related safeguards will protect us from the risks associated with the
third-party processing, use, storage and transmission of such information. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

5 VNV 5 HDWIG VR , QGHEWIGOHWY DQG ) LODOFIQ]

2 XULQGHEWGQHW FRX@ DGYHWHO DI HRWRXUILQDQFIDA &f LELOW DQG RXUFRP SHWAYH SRVIMRQ

As of December 31, 2021, we owe $326.8 million under our Senior Secured Credit Facility (as defined below) and $425.0 million
on our Convertible Notes. Our level of indebtedness increases the risk that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay
amounts due in respect of our indebtedness. Our indebtedness could have other important consequences to you and significant
effects on our business. For example, it could:

* increase our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions;

* require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments on our indebtedness,
thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes;

+ limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;
+ restrict us from exploiting business opportunities;

+ make it more difficult to satisfy our financial obligations, including payments on our indebtedness;

+ place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

« limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service
requirements, execution of our business strategy or other general corporate purposes.

In addition, the agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facility contains, and the agreements evidencing or governing
any other future indebtedness may contain, restrictive covenants that will limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in
our long-term best interests. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or
waived, could result in the acceleration of all of our indebtedness. In addition, a default by us under the agreement governing the
Senior Secured Credit Facility or an agreement governing any other future indebtedness may trigger cross-defaults under any
other future agreements governing our indebtedness. Upon the occurrence of an event of default or cross-default under any of
the present or future agreements governing our indebtedness, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be
due and payable and exercise other remedies as set forth in the agreements. If any of our indebtedness were to be accelerated,
there can be no assurance that our assets would be sufficient to repay this indebtedness in full, which could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to continue to operate as a going concern.

The agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facility contains, and the agreements evidencing or governing any other
future indebtedness may contain, financial restrictions on us and our restricted subsidiaries, including restrictions on our or our
restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:

+ place liens on our or our restricted subsidiaries’ assets;
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* make investments other than permitted investments;

* incur additional indebtedness;

* prepay or redeem certain indebtedness;

* merge, consolidate or dissolve;

+ sell assets;

* engage in transactions with affiliates;

« change the nature of our business;

« change our or our subsidiaries’ fiscal year or organizational documents; and
* make restricted payments (including certain equity issuances).

In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) also includes a springing financial maintenance covenant that is
tested on the last day of each fiscal quarter if the outstanding loans and certain other credit extensions under the Revolving
Credit Facility exceed 35% of the aggregate amount of commitments thereunder, subject to customary exclusions and
conditions.

2 XUVXEWWEQWDAQGHEWIGQHW FRX@ DGYHW/HO Dl I HFVWRXUI LODQFLIDOFRQGMRQ

We currently have, and we will continue to have, a significant amount of indebtedness, including the Convertible Notes. This
significant amount of indebtedness could limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions, debt service requirements, stock repurchases or other purposes. It may also increase our vulnerability to adverse
economic, market and industry conditions, limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business operations
or to our industry overall, and place us at a disadvantage in relation to our competitors that have lower debt levels. Any or all of
the above events and/or factors could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

6 HYIFLQJ RXUGHEWHT XILHV D VLJ QULFDQWDP RXQWRI FDVK DQG ZH P D\ QRWKDYH VXIIIFIHOAFDWK |RZ 1UIRP RXUEXVIQHW
WR SD. RXUVXEMVEQWDOGHEW

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the
Convertible Notes, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors
beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our
debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or
more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous
or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such
time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result
in a default on our debt obligations.

7 KH SKDVH RXWUHS@FHP HOARUXQDYDLDELDW R / ,9%2 5 DQG RURWHULOWMUHWALDM EHQFKP DUNV FRX@ DGYHWHOD DI HPRXU
LQGHEWGQHW

The interest rates applicable to the Senior Secured Credit Facility are based on, and the interest rates applicable to certain debt
obligations we may incur in the future may be based on, a fluctuating rate of interest determined by reference to the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). In July 2017, the U.K.’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that
it intends to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. In response to
concerns regarding the future of LIBOR, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York convened the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (the “ARRC”) to identify alternatives to LIBOR. The ARRC
has recommended a benchmark replacement waterfall to assist issuers in continued capital market entry while
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safeguarding against LIBOR'’s discontinuation. The initial steps in the ARRC’s recommended provision reference variations of
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), calculated using short-term repurchase agreements backed by Treasury
securities. At this time, it is not possible to predict whether SOFR will attain market traction as a LIBOR replacement.
Additionally, it is uncertain if LIBOR will cease to exist after calendar year 2021, or whether additional reforms to LIBOR may be
enacted, or whether alternative reference rates will gain market acceptance as a replacement for LIBOR. In anticipation of
LIBOR’s phase-out, the credit agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facility provides for alternative base rates, as
well as a transition mechanism for selecting a benchmark replacement rate for LIBOR, with such benchmark replacement rate to
be mutually agreed with the administrative agent and subject to the majority lenders not objecting to such benchmark
replacement; provided that, with respect to any proposed amendment containing any SOFR-based rate, the Lenders shall be
entitled to object only to the benchmark replacement spread (or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment)
contained therein.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to reach any agreement on a replacement benchmark, and there can be no
assurance that any agreement we reach will result in effective interest rates at least as favorable to us as our current effective
interest rates. The failure to reach an agreement on a replacement benchmark, or the failure to reach an agreement that results
in an effective interest rate at least as favorable to us as our current effective interest rates, could result in a significant increase
in our debt service obligations, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the
overall financing market may be disrupted as a result of the phase-out or replacement of LIBOR, which could have an adverse
impact on our ability to refinance, reprice or amend the Senior Secured Credit Facility, or incur additional indebtedness, on
favorable terms, or at all.

: HP D\ QRVWEH DEGI W WDLVH DGGMRQDOFDSIMBOR H HFXW RXUFXUHQARUIXVMUIH EXVIQHW VWD LHY RQ | DYRWDE®! WP V
U DAD@ RUZ IWRXWGELOMRQ VR RXUWRFNKRGHY/

We expect that we may need to raise additional capital to execute our current or future business strategies. However, we do not
know what forms of financing, if any, will be available to us. Some financing activities in which we may engage could cause your
equity interest in the Company to be diluted, which could cause the value of your stock to decrease. If financing is not available
on acceptable terms, if and when needed, our ability to fund our operations, expand our research and development and sales
and marketing functions, develop and enhance our products, respond to unanticipated events, including unanticipated
opportunities, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited. In any such event, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed, and we may be unable to continue our operations.

5 HFHQWDQG IXWWH UHIX@WRY DPARQY DQG RWHU HYHQW P D\ DGYHWH® DIHPWWH WDGLQ) SUFH DQG ATXIGIW Rl WH
&RQYHWAE®! 1 RWV

We expect that many investors in, and potential purchasers of, the Convertible Notes will employ, or seek to employ, a
convertible arbitrage strategy with respect to the Convertible Notes. Investors would typically implement such a strategy by
selling short the common stock underlying the Convertible Notes and dynamically adjusting their short position while continuing
to hold the Convertible Notes. Investors may also implement this type of strategy by entering into swaps on our common stock in
lieu of or in addition to short selling the common stock.

The SEC and other regulatory and self-regulatory authorities have implemented various rules and taken certain actions and may
in the future adopt additional rules and take other actions, that may impact those engaging in short selling activity involving
equity securities (including our common stock). Such rules and actions include Rule 201 of SEC Regulation SHO, the adoption
by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. and the national securities exchanges of a “Limit Up-Limit Down” program,
the imposition of market-wide circuit breakers that halt trading of securities for certain periods following specific market declines,
and the
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implementation of certain regulatory reforms required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of
2010. These circuit breakers have been tripped on several occasions during the current period of increased market volatility in
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic and may be tripped in the future. Any governmental or regulatory action that restricts
the ability of investors in, or potential purchasers of, the Convertible Notes to effect short sales of our common stock, borrow our
common stock or enter into swaps on our common stock could adversely affect the trading price and the liquidity of the
Convertible Notes.

" HVSIW RXUFXUHOMWGHEWBIYHY ZHP DI VWWDIOFXUVXEWEQWD® P RUH GHEVRUVIINH RWHUDRWRQV Z KIFK Z RX@ LOWQVLI
WH UVNV GVFXWHG DERYH

Despite our current consolidated debt levels, we and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional debt in the
future, subject to the restrictions contained in our debt instruments, some of which may be secured debt. We will not be
restricted under the terms of the indenture governing the Convertible Notes from incurring additional debt, securing existing or
future debt, recapitalizing our debt or taking a number of other actions that are not limited by the terms of the indenture
governing the Convertible Notes that could have the effect of diminishing our ability to make payments on the Convertible Notes
when due. Our Senior Secured Credit Facility restricts our ability to incur additional indebtedness, including secured
indebtedness, but if the facility matures or is repaid, we may not be subject to such restrictions under the terms of any
subsequent indebtedness.

7KH FRQGMRQDOFRQYHWIRQ |HDIMUWH Rl WH & RQYHUAE®! 1 RMV UL WIJHHG P D' DGYHWH® DIl HFWRXUI LQDQFLDOFRQGIMRQ
DQG RSHIDWQJ LHVX@V

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Notes is triggered, holders of Convertible Notes will be entitled
to convert the Convertible Notes at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their
Convertible Notes, we would be required to settle in cash up to the converted aggregate principal amount of such Convertible
Notes converted and may at our election pay the excess of any conversion obligation in cash, which could adversely affect our
liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Notes, we could be required under applicable
accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as a current rather than long-term liability,
which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.

7KH IXQGDP HQWCOFKDQI H LHSXUFKDVH THDWWH Rl WH 1 RV P D\ GHD\  RUSUHYHOWDQ RWHLE LVH EHOH LFLDCDWP SWIR
DFTXILH XV

Certain provisions in the indenture governing the Convertible Notes may make it more difficult or expensive for a third-party to
acquire us. For example, the indenture governing the Convertible Notes requires us, in certain circumstances, to repurchase the
Convertible Notes for cash upon the occurrence of a fundamental change and, in certain circumstances, to increase the
conversion rate for a holder that converts its Convertible Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change. A
takeover of us may trigger the requirement that we repurchase the Convertible Notes and/or increase the conversion rate, which
could make it more costly for a potential acquirer to engage in such takeover. Such additional costs may have the effect of
delaying or preventing a takeover of us that would otherwise be beneficial to investors.

7KH FDSSHG FD@ADQVDRWRQV P D\ DITHFWKH P DUNHWSUFH RI RXUFRP P RQ WRFN

In connection with the pricing of the Convertible Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with several affiliates of the
initial purchasers (the “Option Counterparties”). The capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution
to our common stock upon conversion of any Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the
principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap.

In addition, the Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or
unwinding various derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling
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our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions and prior to the maturity of the Convertible Notes
(and are likely to do so on each exercise date for the capped call transactions or following any termination of any portion of the
capped call transactions in connection with any repurchase, redemption or early conversion of the Convertible Notes). This
activity could cause or avoid an increase or decrease in the market price of our common stock.

: HDWH VXEMFWR FRXQMSDUWV UWN Z IW IHVSHRWR WH FDSSHG FD@OWDQVDFWRQV

The option counterparties are financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that any or all of them might default under the
capped call transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties is not secured by any collateral. Past global
economic conditions have resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial institutions. If an
option counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings
with a claim equal to our exposure at that time under the capped call transactions with such option counterparty. Our exposure
will depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be correlated to an increase in the market price and
in the volatility of our common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer more dilution than we
currently anticipate with respect to our common stock. We can provide no assurance as to the financial stability or viability of the
option counterparties.

5 IVINWV 5 HDWG VR 2 Z QHWYKIS RI 2 XU&RP P RQ 6 \VRFN

6 DBV Rl VXEVWRQWDCDP RXQW RI RXUFRP P RQ WRFN LQ WH SXETF P DUNHW  RUWH SHUFHSWRQ WDW/XFK VDBV FRX@
RFFXU FRX@ WHGXFH WH P DINHWSUFH RI RXUFRP P RQWRFN

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur,
could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on
the prevailing market price of our common stock.

In connection with the Convertible Notes Offering (as defined below), we, our directors and executive officers agreed, to enter
into lock-up agreements with the initial purchasers in the offering pursuant to which we and they agreed not to dispose of or
hedge any shares of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of our common stock for a
period of 60 days after the date of the consummation of the Convertible Notes Offering. Sales of a substantial number of such
shares upon expiration of, or the perception that such sales may occur, or early release of the securities subject to, the lock-up
agreements, could cause our stock price to fall or make it more difficult for holders of our Convertible Notes to sell common
stock they may receive upon conversion of the Convertible Notes at a time and price they deem appropriate.

We may issue common stock or equity securities senior to our common stock in the future for a number of reasons, including to
finance our operations and growth plans, to adjust our ratio of debt-to-equity, to satisfy our obligations upon the exercise of
options or for other reasons. Future sales or issuances of shares of our common stock or other equity securities, or the
availability of shares of common stock or such other equity securities for future sale or issuance may negatively affect the
trading price of our common stock. No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, that future sales or issuance of shares of
our common stock or other equity or equity-linked securities will have on the trading price of our common stock and, in turn, the
Convertible Notes.

7KHWDGIQJ SUFHRI RXUFRP P RQ WRFN FRX@ EH YRODWB! Z KLFK FRX@ UIHVXANQ VXEWBQWDORWHY | RUSXUFKDVHY Rl RXU
FRP P RQ WRFN DQG VXEMIFWKV R VHEXUMHY FOWW DFUWRQ @A) DARQ

We expect that the market price of our common stock will affect the market price of the Convertible Notes. This may result in
greater volatility in the market price of the Convertible Notes than would be expected for non-convertible notes. The trading price
of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control. For
instance, if our financial results are below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, the market price of our common
stock could decrease, perhaps
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significantly. The market price of our common stock could also be affected by investors’ anticipation of the potential resale in the
market of a substantial number of additional shares of our common stock received upon conversion of the Convertible Notes,
possible sales of our common stock by investors who view the Convertible Notes as a more attractive means of equity
participation in us than owning shares of our common stock, and hedging or arbitrage trading activity that we expect to develop
involving our common stock (which trading activity could, in turn, affect the trading prices of the Convertible Notes). Other
factors that may affect the market price of our common stock include announcements relating to significant corporate
transactions; fluctuations in our quarterly and annual financial results; operating and stock price performance of companies that
investors deem comparable to us; and changes in government regulation or proposals relating to us. In addition, the U.S.
securities markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations, and these fluctuations often have been unrelated
to the operating performance of companies in these markets. Any volatility of or a significant decrease in the market price of our
common stock could also negatively affect our ability to make acquisitions using common stock. Further, if we were to be the
object of securities class action litigation as a result of volatility in our common stock price or for other reasons, it could result in
substantial costs and diversion of our management’s attention and resources, which could negatively affect our financial results.
Following periods of such volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been
brought against that company. Because of the potential volatility of our stock price, we may become the target of securities
litigation in the future. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from
our business.

In addition, we expect that the market price of the Convertible Notes will be influenced by yield and interest rates in the capital
markets, our creditworthiness and the occurrence of certain events affecting us that do not require an adjustment to the
conversion rate. Fluctuations in yield rates may give rise to arbitrage opportunities based upon changes in the relative values of
the Convertible Notes and our common stock. Any such arbitrage could, in turn, affect the market prices of our common stock
and the Convertible Notes.

: HP D' BWWXH SWIH HUHG WRFN Z KRVH WP V FRX@ DGYHWHO DI THRWKH YRWQJ SRZ HURUYDXXH RI RXUFRP P RQ WWRFN

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our stockholders, one or more classes or series of
preferred stock having such designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights, including preferences over our common
stock respecting dividends and distributions, as our board of directors may determine. The terms of one or more classes or
series of preferred stock could adversely impact the voting power or value of our common stock. For example, we might grant
holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or
the right to veto specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we might assign
to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of our common stock.

3RYIMRQV 1Q RXUFHUNIEDM Rl LQFRUISRUMRQ DQG E\ @ZV P D\ KDYH WH HIHFWRI GHD\ LQJ RUSWHYHOWQ) D FKDQIH RI
FRQARCRUFKDQJ HV 1Q RXUP DQDU HP HOW

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our common stock by
discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control of our Company or changes in our management that the stockholders
of our Company may believe advantageous. These provisions include:

« authorizing “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the number of outstanding
shares to discourage a takeover attempt;

» providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders
to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

» not providing for cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect
director candidates;

+ limiting the ability of stockholders to call a special stockholder meeting;
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+ prohibiting stockholders from acting by written consent from and after the date on which Oaktree Power, Oaktree
Investors and each of their respective affiliates cease to beneficially own at least 50% of the outstanding shares of
common stock (the “Trigger Event”);

» establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters
that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings;

« from and after the Trigger Event, the removal of directors only for cause and only upon the affirmative vote of the holders
of at least 66 2/3% in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the Company entitled to vote
thereon;

+ providing that our board of directors is expressly authorized to amend, alter, rescind or repeal our bylaws; and

« from and after the Trigger Event, which occurred in 2020, requiring the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of
the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of common stock to amend provisions of our certificate of
incorporation relating to the management of our business, our board of directors, stockholder action by written consent,
calling special meetings of stockholders, competition and corporate opportunities, Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), forum selection and the liability of our directors, or to amend, alter, rescind or repeal our
bylaws.

In addition, we are not governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation
from engaging in a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following
the date on which the stockholder becomes an “interested” stockholder.

Furthermore, our certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the United States is the exclusive forum
for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act but that the forum selection provision will
not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”).

2 XUFHUNLFDWM Rl LOFRUISRUDAWRQ SIRYLGHY WDWKH & RXUARI & KDQFHY RI WH 6 VM Rl ' HDZ DUH LV WH H FOXVLYH IRUKP IRU
VXEWBQWD@ D@GLYSXWV ERE HHQ XV DQG RXUWRFNKR@GHY Z KIFK FRX@ @P WMWRXU WRFNKR@GHUA DELOW VR REVWQ D
IDYRWDEG!I MGFIDAORWKP TRUCLYSXWV Z IW XV RURXUGUHARY/ RITIFHY RUHP SR\ HHV

Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any
derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a
claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws; any action to interpret, apply,
enforce or determine the validity of our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws; any action asserting a claim against us that is
governed by the internal affairs doctrine; or any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as defined in Section 115 of the
DGCL. The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors,
officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of
incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such
action in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

: HGR QRWQMQG R SD DQ\ FDVK GMAMEXWRQV RUGLYLGHQGV RQ RXUFRP P RQ VWRFN LQ WH | RUAVHHDE®1 | XVXUH

We have never declared or paid any distributions or dividends on our common stock, except the Special Distribution (as defined
below). We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any
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cash distributions or dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash distributions or dividends will
be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws and provisions of our debt instruments and
organizational documents, after taking into account our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general
business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. As a result, capital appreciation in the price
of our common stock, if any, may be your only source of gain on an investment in our common stock.

, QMUQDCFRQWROGH LFLHQFLHY KDYH EHHQ LGHQWIHG WDWFRQVAXWG P DWUDCZ HONQHWHY 1Q RXULQMUQDOFRQURCRYHU
ILODQFLDOHSRUAQ) | Z H IDIOR LP SGP HOWDQG P DIQWIAQ H I HAWYH LOMUQDCFRQARY RYHUILQDQFIDOHSRUAQ) ZHP D\ EH
XQDE®I VR DFFXUDMO RUWP HD UHSRUARXUI LODQFLDOFRQGIMRQ RULHVXOV RI RSHIDARQY Z KIFK P D\ DGYHWH® DIl HPRXU
EXVIQHW

Management has determined that the Company had the following material weaknesses in its internal control over financial
reporting at December 31, 2021:

&RQARO( QYLRQP HRADQG 0 RQWUQI — We did not maintain appropriately designed entity-level controls impacting the control
environment and effective monitoring controls to prevent or detect material misstatements to the consolidated financial
statements. These deficiencies were attributed to (i) the lack of a sufficient number of qualified resources and inadequate
oversight and accountability over the performance of controls, and (ii) ineffective evaluation and determination as to whether the
components of internal control were present and functioning.

&RQMRO$ FYMHV — These material weaknesses contributed to the following additional material weaknesses within certain
business processes:

+ ,QvHQRU — We did not appropriately design and implement controls over the existence, accuracy, and cutoff of inventory.
As previously reported, we identified a material weakness relating to inventory cut-off and in-transit inventory, which
continued to exist at December 31, 2021. In addition, we identified a material weakness relating to ineffective controls
over our year-end inventory reconciliation process, which resulted in adjustments being recorded as of December 31,
2021.

+  S5HYHQXH 5 HHRIQWRQ- We did not design, implement and maintain effective controls over revenue recognized for
certain contracts relating to the proper application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”) . Specifically, we did not maintain effective controls relating to (1) the identification
and recognition of performance obligations for customer contracts, and (2) evaluation of customer contracts for potential
combination, which resulted in adjustments being recorded as of December 31, 2021, and restatement of the Company’s
interim unaudited consolidated financial statements during 2021.

+  $FFRXQW 5 HAHYDE®H We did not fully design, implement and maintain effective controls over the existence of accounts
receivable. Specifically, we did not design controls at an appropriate precision level to identify material misstatements,
which resulted in balance sheet adjustments being recorded as of December 31, 2021.

» After giving full consideration to these material weaknesses, and the additional analyses and other procedures that we
performed to ensure that our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, our management has concluded that our consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods disclosed
in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

We have begun the process of, and we are focused on, designing and implementing effective measures to strengthen our
internal controls over financial reporting and remediate the material weaknesses. Our planned internal control remediation
efforts include the following:
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&RQARO( QYILRQP HOADQG 0 RQWRUQ] — Consistent with the COSO 2013 Framework, Principle 4, attracting, developing, and
retaining competent personnel, we have recently hired a Chief Accounting Officer who will provide an additional level of
technical accounting expertise, oversight, and monitoring of the design and performance of both existing and newly
implemented controls as noted below. We further will continue to hire in 2022, additional accounting and IT personnel to bolster
our accounting and IT capabilities and capacity, and we will concentrate on retaining key accounting, IT, and operational
personnel. These actions will further serve to remediate the noted material weakness under the COSO 2013 Framework,
Principle 16, by enhancing the efforts towards separate evaluations regarding the presence and functionality of the components
of internal control, specifically in the areas of inventory, revenue recognition, and accounts receivable, as noted below.

& RQNRCH

* Inventory — We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the accounting, processing,
and recording of inventory. Specifically, we have strengthened the design of the management review control over
inventory-in-transit. Additionally, we have implemented processes to ensure timely identification and evaluation of
inventory cut-off and are requiring additional accountability from counterparties on the accuracy of incoming and
outgoing shipment documentation. We also plan to deploy information system enhancements and better use of current
system capabilities in order to improve the accuracy of inventory cut-off, reporting, and reconciliation.

+ Revenue Recognition — We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the review of
the application and recording of revenue for customer contracts under the guidance outlined in ASC 606. We will also
design and implement more precise reviews regarding evaluation of contract terms and whether contracts should be
combined. These reviews will include increased contract analysis from our legal team as well as ensuring qualified
resources are involved and adequate oversight is performed during the internal technical accounting review process.

* Accounts Receivable — We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the processing
and review of accounts receivable billings. We also plan to supplement our accounting staff with more experienced
personnel. Additionally, we will evaluate information system capabilities in order to reduce the manual calculations within
this business process.

While these actions and planned actions are subject to ongoing management evaluation and will require validation and testing of
the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, we are
committed to the continuous improvement of our internal control over financial reporting and will continue to diligently review our
internal control over financial reporting.

While we believe that these efforts will improve our internal control over financial reporting, the implementation of these
procedures is ongoing and will require validation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a
sustained period of financial reporting cycles. We cannot be certain that these measures will successfully remediate the material
weakness or that other material weaknesses and control deficiencies will not be discovered in the future.

| ZH IDOWR P DIQWIQ DQ HIHFWYH V\ WMP Rl LOWI LDMG LOMUQDOFRQARY ZH P D\ QRWEH DE®! R UHSRUMRXU | LODQFLDC
UHVXQV DFFXUDWO  Z KIFK FRX@ KDYH D P DIMUDODGYHWH HIHFWRQ RXU EXVIOHW 1 LQDQFLIDOFRQGIMRQ DQG LHVXAV R

RSHUDARQV

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that we can produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that will need to be evaluated frequently.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires public companies to conduct an annual review and evaluation of their internal
controls and requires attestations of the effectiveness of internal controls by independent auditors. Evaluation of our internal
controls over financial reporting may identify material weaknesses that may cause us to be unable to report our financial
information on a timely basis and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or
violations of Nasdaq rules. There also could be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor
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confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial statements also could
suffer if we or our independent registered public accounting firm were to report a material weakness in our internal controls over
financial reporting. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and
could also lead to a decline in the price of our common stock.

WP % 8 QUHVROHG 6 W &RP P HOQW
None.

WP 3WRSHWAHV

Our corporate headquarters are located in Albuquerque, New Mexico and consists of 11,647 square feet of office space and
57,911 square feet of manufacturing, warehousing and shipping space, respectively. We own our corporate headquarters. We
lease 28,608 square feet of office space in Chandler, Arizona for executive and corporate office space.

In addition to our corporate headquarters, we lease approximately 1,276,000, 649,000, 500,000, 357,000, 187,000 ,176,000,
and 135,000 square feet of warehousing facilities in Kansas, Nevada, Tennessee, Ohio, Texas, New Mexico, and Wisconsin,
respectively. We also lease space in Australia, U.K. and Brazil for sales and technical support employees.

We believe that our existing properties are in good condition and are sufficient and suitable for the conduct of our business for
the foreseeable future. To the extent our needs change as our business grows, we expect that additional space and facilities will
be available.

WP/ HIDCB WIRFHHALQIV

On August 30, 2017, Array filed its first amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Mexico against Colin
Mitchell, Nextracker, Inc., Flextronics International U.S.A., Inc., Marco Garcia, Daniel S. Shugar, and Scott Graybeal (collectively
“Defendants”) asserting (among other claims) trade secret misappropriation, tortious interference with contract, fraud, and
breach of contract. Defendant Mitchell was formerly an employee of the Company, but was hired by Nextracker in violation of his
non-compete agreement, and shared with Nextracker and the other defendants certain of Array’s trade secrets and confidential
information in violation of his legal obligations. Defendants filed their answer to the amended complaint on February 5, 2018
denying the allegations, but did not assert any counterclaims against Array. The case has been vigorously litigated through the
close of fact discovery and expert discovery. As of September 1, 2020, the court has ruled on a number of motions, including a
dismissal of the Defendants’ unclean hands defense and granting partial summary judgment in favor of Array for breach of
contract. As of December 31, 2021, the Court has denied in every material aspect the motion for summary judgment filed by the
Defendants. The Court denied without prejudice a motion for sanctions filed by Array. The Court has set a trial date for July 18,
2022.

On May 14, 2021, a putative class action was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against the
Company and certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933
(“Plymouth Action”). The Plymouth Action alleges misstatements and/or omissions in the Company’s registration statements and
prospectuses related to the Company’s October 2020 initial public offering (the “IPO”), the Company’s December 2020 follow-on
offering (the “2020 Follow-On Offering”), and the Company’s March 2021 follow-on offering (the “2021 Follow-On Offering”)
during the putative class period of October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021.
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On June 30, 2021, a second putative class action was filed in the Southern District of New York against the Company and
certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule
10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 (“Keippel Action”). The Keippel
Action similarly alleged misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s registration statements and prospectuses
related to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s 2020 Follow-On Offering, and the Company’s 2021 Follow-On Offering during the
putative class period of October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021. On July 6, 2021, the Court entered an order that the Keippel
Action was in all material respects substantially similar to the Plymouth Action, that both actions arise out of the same or similar
operative facts, and that the parties are substantially the same parties. The Court accordingly consolidated the Keippel Action
with the Plymouth Action for all pretrial purposes and ordered all filings to be made in the Plymouth Action.

On July 16, 2021, a verified derivative complaint was filed in the Southern District of New York against certain officers and
directors of the Company (“First Derivative Action”). The complaint alleges: (1) violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 for misleading proxy statements, (2) breach of fiduciary duty, (3) unjust enrichment, (4) abuse of control,
(5) gross mismanagement, (6) corporate waste, (7) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, and (8) contribution under
sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

On July 30, 2021, a second and related verified derivative complaint was filed in the Southern District of New York against
certain officers and directors of the Company (“Second Derivative Action”). The complaint alleges: (1) violations of Section 14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for causing the issuance of a false/misleading proxy statement, (2) breach of fiduciary
duty, and (3) aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty. On August 24, 2021, the Second Derivative Action was consolidated
with the First Derivative Action, the Court appointed co-lead counsel, and the case was temporarily stayed pending the entry of
an order on all motions to dismiss directed at the pleadings filed in the Plymouth Action. The stay shall remain in effect until the
later of (a) the entry of an order on any motions to dismiss the Plymouth Action or, (b) to the extent the complaint in the
Plymouth Action is amended, the entry of an order on any motions to dismiss any such amended complaints in the Plymouth
Action.

On September 21, 2021, the Court appointed a group comprised of institutional investors Plymouth County Retirement
Association and Carpenters Pension Trust Fund for Northern California as lead plaintiff in the Plymouth Action. The deadline for
the lead plaintiff to file an amended complaint in the Plymouth action was originally November 19, 2021, but was subsequently
extended by agreement of the parties and further order of the Court.

On December 7, 2021, an amended class action complaint was filed by lead plaintiff in the Plymouth Action against the
Company and certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, on
behalf of a putative class of persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities during the
period from October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021 (the “Consolidated Amended Complaint”). The Consolidated Amended
Complaint alleges misstatements and/or omissions in: (1) certain of the Company’s registration statements and prospectuses
related to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s 2020 Follow-On Offering, and the Company’s 2021 Follow-On Offering; (2) in the
Company’s annual report and associated press release announcing results for the fourth quarter and full fiscal year 2020; and
(3) in the Company’s November 5, 2020 and March 9, 2021 earnings calls.

Consistent with the individual rules of practice for the Court in the Plymouth Action, on January 24, 2022, the defendants in the
Plymouth Action, including the Company and certain of its officers and directors named as defendants therein, served on lead
plaintiff and the Court a letter outlining why the Consolidated Amended Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety. Lead
plaintiff must respond to that letter on or before February 23, 2022, stating the extent, if any, to which lead plaintiff concurs with
the defendants’ objections and the
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amendments, if any, to be made to the Consolidated Amended Complaint to address them, or else stating the reasons and
controlling authority that lead plaintiff asserts supports the Consolidated Amended Complaint. If, as a result of this exchange of
letters, the parties have failed to resolve their dispute about the sufficiency of the Consolidated Amended Complaint, then, on or
before March 21, 2022, defendants must submit a letter to the Court setting forth the reason why a motion dismiss is warranted.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations and businesses that cover a
wide range of matters, including, among others, intellectual property matters, contract and employment claims, personal injury
claims, product liability claims and warranty claims. Currently, there are no claims or proceedings against us that we believe will
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, the results of
any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty and, regardless of the outcome, we may incur significant costs
and experience a diversion of management resources as a result of litigation.

MWP 0 IOH6DIHW ' VFRVXURV
Not applicable.
3%$57,,
MWP 0 DUNHWRUS HI DDQW/ &RP P RQ ( TXIW 5 HIWG 6 VRFNKR@HUO DMAY/ DQG ,WXHU3 XUFKDVHV Rl (| TXIW 6 HFEXUMHY

0 DINHWQIRWP DARQ

Our Common Stock, par value US$0.001 per share, began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “ARRY” on
October 15, 2020. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock.

+ RGHYW RI 5 HFRWG

As of March 31, 2022, there were approximately 8 stockholders of record of our common stock, which does not include shares
held in street name.

' IYIGHQG 3RAA\

We have never declared or paid any distributions or dividends on our common stock, except the Special Distribution. We
currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any cash distributions or dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination to declare cash distributions or dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors,
subject to applicable laws and provisions of our debt instruments and organizational documents, after taking into account our
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of
directors may deem relevant.

6 HEXUMHV $ XWRUJ HG | RU,WXDQFH 8 QGHU2 XU( TXIW &RP SHOQVDMRQ 3 @QV

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by
reference to Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” of
Part Ill of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

6 VRFN 3 HURWP DQFH* WDSK
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The following graph compares the five-year cumulative total return on our common stock relative to the cumulative total returns
of and Russel 2000 Index, our 2020 Peer Group Index and our 2021 Peer Group Index, which both represent a peer group of
solar companies. For purposes of the graph, an investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been
made in our common stock, the Russel 2000 Index and our 2020 Peer Group and 2021 Peer Group on October 15, 2020, and
its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2021. This graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with
the SEC, and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing by us under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether
made before or after the date hereof, and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing. The stock price
performance shown in the graph represents past performance and is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.
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5 HFHOW6 DBV RI 8 QUHI DAMUHG (| TXIW 6 HFEXUWMHY
6HUHV $ 5 HGHHP DE®I 3 HSHWDCB IHHULHG
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On August 10, 2021, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”)
pursuant to which on August 11, 2021, the Company issued and sold to certain investors (the “Purchasers”) 350,000 shares of a
newly designated Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of the Company, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock”), and 7,098,765 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(the “Common Stock”), for an aggregate purchase price of $346.0 million (the “Initial Closing”). Further, pursuant to the
Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold to the Purchaser 776,235 shares of Common Stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $776. The Company used net proceeds from the Initial Closing of $334.6 million to repay all of the
outstanding amounts under the Company’s existing Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) and prepaid $100 million under
the Company’s Term Loan Facility (as defined below) and for general corporate purposes. The Purchaser is entitled to designate
one representative to be appointed to the Company’s board of directors, and to appoint three non-voting observers to the board
of directors, in each case until such time as the Purchaser no longer beneficially own shares of the Series A Redeemable
Perpetual Preferred Stock with at least $100 million aggregate Liquidation Preference (as defined below). The Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock has no maturity date. The securities issued pursuant to the Securities Purchase
Agreement were offered, issued and sold in reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act
set forth under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

For more information regarding the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and our unregistered sales of equity
securities, see Note 11 - Redeemable Perpetual Preferred and Note 10 - Convertible Debt in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

3XUFKDVHV RI ( TXIW 6 HFEXUWAHY E\ WH ,WXHUDQG $ |1 LADWG 3 XUFKDVHY/

None.
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WP 0 DQDIHP HOW/' LVFXWIRQ DQG $ QDO RI ) LODQFLDOS RQGMRQ DQG 5 HVXAV Rl 2 SHIMRQV
0 DQDIHP HOWV' LWVFXWIRQ DQG $ QDO RI ) LQDQFLDO& RQGMRQ DQG 5 HVXAV Rl 2 SHIDWRQY

7KLV 0 DQDIHP HQWV ' VPXWIRQ DQG $ QDOMY Rl ) IQDQRDOS RQAMRQ DQG 5 HVXAV R 2 SHIMRQY VKRX@ EH UHDG 1Q FROMQRIRQ
Z W RXUILCDQRIDOABAMP HQN DQG WH UHDWG QRAMV DQG RWHUIICDGADAQ RUP DIRQ IQFOGHG 1Q WY $ QQXDC5 HSRWRQ) RP
,Q DAAMRQ \R KMRUFDOILCDQRDOIQRP DIRQ WH IRMZ Q) GVFXWIRQ DQG DQDOMY FROBIQV IRZ DG GRNGQ) \ABWP HQN \KDV!
LQYROH UMV XQFHUBIQUAY DQG DWXP SWRQV 2 XUDRPXDOUHVXAV DQG WP 1Q) R VHBIRMG HYHQW P D GlLIHUP DIMID@® [URP \KRVH
DQUFISDWG LQ \WHVH IRZ DU GRNQI \ABAMP HQN DV D UAVX@R P DQ. IDARY IQFOGQ) WRVH GVFXWHG XQGHUWH VHRIRQY R \KLY
YRP . FDSWRQHG?) RZ DG/ RRNQ) 6\BAMP HONV DQG35 WN) DRRY

2 YHYIHZ

We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of ground-mounting systems used in solar energy projects. Our principal
product is an integrated system of steel supports, electric motors, gearboxes and electronic controllers commonly referred to as
a single-axis “tracker.” Trackers move solar panels throughout the day to maintain an optimal orientation to the sun, which
significantly increases their energy production. Solar energy projects that use trackers generate more energy and deliver a lower
LCOE than projects that use “fixed tilt” mounting systems, which do not move. The vast majority of ground mounted solar
systems in the United States use trackers.

Our trackers use a patented design that allows one motor to drive multiple rows of solar panels through articulated driveline
joints. To avoid infringing on our U.S. patent, our competitors must use designs that we believe are inherently less efficient and
reliable. For example, our largest competitor’s design requires one motor for each row of solar panels. As a result, we believe
our products have greater reliability, lower installation costs, reduced maintenance requirements and competitive manufacturing
costs. Our core U.S. patent on a linked-row, rotating gear drive system does not expire until February 5, 2030.

We sell our products to engineering, procurement and construction firms (“EPCs”) that build solar energy projects and to large
solar developers, independent power producers and utilities, often under master supply agreements or multi-year procurement
contracts. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we derived 97% and 3% of our revenues from customers in the United
States and rest of the world, respectively.

We are a U.S. company and our headquarters and principal manufacturing facility are in Albuquerque, New Mexico. As of
December 31, 2021, we had 471 full-time employees.

$FTXVMRQRI 67,

On January 11, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed the previously announced STI Acquisition, pursuant to that
certain definitive agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), dated as of November 10, 2021, by and among Array Tech, Inc, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Amixa Capital, S.L. and Aurica Trackers, S.L., each a company duly organized under
the laws of the Kingdom of Spain, and Mr. Javier Reclusa Etayo.

In accordance with the Purchase Agreement, the Company paid closing consideration to STI consisting of $410.5 million in cash
(the “Cash Consideration”) and 13,894,800 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Stock Consideration”). The fair value
of the cash and common stock consideration was $610.7 million and resulted in the Company owning 100% of the interests in
STI. The Company is in the process of performing a valuation of the acquisition assets and liabilities and the related accounting
impact.

The purchase price will be increased by the amount that is four times the audited Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation
and Amortization (“EBITDA”) of the target less €47.0 million ($53.5 million at current

42



Table of Contents

exchange rates), such that the amount of contingent consideration is subject to a cap of €45.0 million ($52.0 million at current
exchange rates).

In connection with the entry into the Purchase Agreement, the Company entered into a debt commitment letter dated November
10, 2021 pursuant to which third-party financial institutions have committed, subject to the satisfaction of standard conditions, to
provide the Company with a bridge loan facility in aggregate principal amount of up to $300 million. The Company was able,
however, to finance the transaction and related fees and expenses with cash on hand, borrowings under its senior credit
facilities, proceeds from our option to require the holders of our Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock to purchase
additional shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, and through the proceeds of its Convertible Notes
Offering.

6 HUHV $ 5 HGHHP DE®I 3 HSHMWDCB UH HUHG 6 \RFN

On August 10, 2021, the Company entered into the Securities Purchase Agreement with an investment vehicle of funds affiliated
with Blackstone Inc. (the “Purchaser”). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, on August 11, 2021, the Company
issued and sold to the Purchaser 350,000 shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, having the powers,
designations, preferences, and other rights set forth in the Certificate of Designations, and 7,098,765 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, for an aggregate purchase price of $346.0 million. Further, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the
Company has issue and sold to the Purchaser 776,235 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $776 on
September 27, 2021. For more information related to the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, see Note 11 -
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred, to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the Certificate of Designations governing the Series A Redeemable
Perpetual Preferred Stock (see Note 11 - Redeemable Perpetual Preferred), on January 7, 2022, the Company issued and sold
to the Purchasers 50,000 shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and 1,125,000 shares of Common Stock in
an Additional Closing for an aggregate purchase price of $49,376,125.

8 SCDWMRQWH ,P SDFWRI &2 9

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019, or COVID-19, surfaced
in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to multiple countries, including the United States. On March 11, 2020, the
World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. With the second wave of the pandemic including variants of
COVID-19, we continue to closely monitor the situation in all the locations where we operate. Our priority remains the welfare of
our employees. We expect persistent waves of COVID-19 to remain a headwind into the near future. Refer to “Risk Factors -
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations resulting in
reduced margins due to the rise in steel and other commodity costs and as well as logistics delays and costs. The duration and
extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain and could be
material,” as disclosed in Part Il, “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

3HURW DOQFH 0 HDVXUHV

In managing our business and assessing financial performance, we supplement the information provided by the financial
statements with other operating metrics. These operating metrics are utilized by our management to evaluate our business,
measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business and formulate projections. The primary operating metric we use
to evaluate our sales performance and to track market acceptance of our products from year to year is megawatts (“MWSs”)
shipped generally and the change in MW shipped from period to period specifically. MWs is measured for each individual project
and is calculated based on the expected output of that project once installed and fully operational.
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We also utilize metrics related to price and cost of goods sold per MW, including average selling price (“ASP”) and cost per watt
(“CPW”). ASP is calculated by dividing total applicable revenues by total applicable MWs, whereas CPW is calculated by
dividing total applicable costs of goods sold by total applicable MWs. These metrics enable us to evaluate trends in pricing,
manufacturing cost and customer profitability.

. H &RP SRQHQW RI 2 XU5 HVXWV RI 2 SHDWRQV

The following discussion describes certain line items in our consolidated statements of operations.

5 HYHQXH

We generate revenue from the sale of solar tracking systems and parts. Our customers include EPCs, utilities, solar developers
and independent power producers. For each individual solar project, we enter into a contract with our customers covering the
price, specifications, delivery dates and warranty for the products being purchased, among other things. Our contractual delivery
period for the tracker system and parts can vary from days to several months. Contracts can range in value from hundreds of
thousands to tens of millions of dollars.

Our revenue is affected by changes in the volume and ASPs of solar tracking systems purchased by our customers. The
quarterly volume and ASP of our systems is driven by the supply of, and demand for, our products, changes in product mix
between module type and wattage, geographic mix of our customers, strength of competitors’ product offerings, and availability
of government incentives to the end-users of our products.

Our revenue growth is dependent on continued growth in the amount of solar energy projects installed each year as well as our
ability to increase our share of demand in each of the geographies where we compete, expand our global footprint to new
evolving markets, grow our production capabilities to meet demand and to continue to develop and introduce new and
innovative products that address the changing technology and performance requirements of our customers.

&RWARI 5 HYHOXH DQG* LRW 3 RIIW

Cost of revenue consists primarily of product costs, including purchased components, as well as costs related to shipping,
tariffs, customer support, product warranty, personnel and depreciation of test and manufacturing equipment. Personnel costs in
cost of revenue includes both direct labor costs as well as costs attributable to any individuals whose activities relate to the
transformation of raw materials or component parts into finished goods or the transportation of materials to the customer. Our
product costs are affected by the underlying cost of raw materials, including steel and aluminum; component costs, including
electric motors and gearboxes; technological innovation; economies of scale resulting in lower component costs, and
improvements in production processes and automation. In 2021, our business has been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic by
increased raw materials and shipping costs and delays which has resulting in reduced margins and in certain instances have
incurred remediation costs and liquidated damages owed to the customer. We have modified our processes in order to decrease
the impact on our margins of these cost increases however we do not know how long the current operating environment will
persist. We do not currently hedge against changes in the price of raw materials. Some of these costs, primarily personnel and
depreciation of test and manufacturing equipment, are not directly affected by sales volume.

Gross profit may vary from quarter to quarter and is primarily affected by our ASPs, product costs, product mix, customer mix,
geographical mix, shipping method, warranty costs and seasonality.

2 SHDWQJ ( [ SHQVHV

Operating expenses consist of general and administrative costs, contingent consideration, as well as depreciation and
amortization expense. Personnel-related costs are the most significant component of our
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operating expenses and include salaries, benefits, payroll taxes and commissions. Our full-time employee headcount in our
general and administrative departments has grown from approximately 150 as of December 31, 2019 to approximately 177 as of
December 31, 2020 to approximately 210 at December 31, 2021, and we expect to continue to hire new employees to support
our growth. The timing of these additional hires could materially affect our operating expenses in any particular period, both in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue. We expect to continue to invest substantial resources to support our growth
and continued technological advancement and anticipate that general and administrative and depreciation expenses will
increase in absolute dollar amounts for the foreseeable future.

* HQHUDCDQG DGP IQMADMYH H SHOMHV

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, equity-based compensation, employee benefits and payroll
taxes related to our executives, sales, finance, human resources, information technology, engineering and legal organizations,
as well as travel, facilities costs, marketing, bad debt and fees for professional services. Professional services consist of audit,
legal, tax, insurance, information technology and other costs. We expect an increase in the number of sales and marketing
personnel in connection with the expansion of our global sales and marketing footprint, enabling us to penetrate new markets.
The majority of our sales in 2021 were in the United States; however, during the year we expanded our international presence
with additional global sales staff. We currently have a sales presence in the United States, Australia, the U.K. and Brazil. We
intend to continue to expand our sales presence and marketing efforts to additional countries. We also expect that as a public
company we will incur additional audit, tax, accounting, legal and other costs related to compliance with applicable securities
and other regulations, as well as additional insurance, investor relations and other costs associated with being a public
company. We also anticipate an increase in our spend related to product innovation as we hire additional engineering resources
and increase our external research and development spend.

& RN HOA& RMCHIDMRQ

Contingent consideration consists of the changes in fair value of the earn-out and the TRA entered into with Ron P. Corio, a
former indirect stockholder, concurrent with the acquisition of Patent LLC by ATI Investment Parent, LLC (“Former Parent”).

The earn-out liability was recorded at fair value as of July 8, 2016 (the “Acquisition Date”) and subsequent changes in the fair
value are recognized in earnings. Fair value of the earn-out liability is measured based upon the expected return of investment
of Former Parent, among other things. Cash payments related to the earn-out liability are required to be evaluated upon the
occurrence of certain events, including the consummation of an initial public offering; the sale, transfer, assignment, pledge,
encumbrance, distribution or disposition of shares of Former Parent held by Oaktree Power Opportunities Fund IV (Delaware)
Holdings, L.P. and Oaktree ATI Investors, L.P. to a third-party; the sale of equity securities or assets of Former Parent, ATI
Investment Sub, Inc. (“Investment Sub”) or the Company to a third-party; or a merger, consolidation, recapitalization or
reorganization of Former Parent, Investment Sub, or the Company. Our IPO, the cash distribution of $589 million that we paid to
ATI Investment Parent, LLC upon the closing of our IPO, and our 2020 Follow-on Offering required the Company to make a
cash payment of $9.1 million in October 2020 and $15.9 million in December 2020. As a result of these payments our earn-out
liability has been paid in full.

The TRA liability was recorded at fair value at the Acquisition Date and subsequent changes in the fair value are recognized in
earnings. The TRA will generally provide for the payment by Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) to Ron P. Corio for
certain federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax benefits deemed realized in post-closing taxable periods by Array Tech, Inc. from
the use of certain deductions generated by the increase in the tax value of the developed technology. Estimating fair value of the
TRA is by nature imprecise. The significant fair value inputs used to estimate the future expected TRA payments to Ron P. Corio
include the
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timing of tax payments, a discount rate, book income projections, timing of expected adjustments to calculate taxable income
and the projected rate of use for attributes defined in the TRA.

" HSUHFIDWRQ
Depreciation in our operating expense consists of costs associated with property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) not used in

manufacturing of our products. We expect that as we continue to grow both our revenue and our general and administrative
personnel we will require some additional PP&E to support this growth resulting in additional depreciation expense.

$ P RUY DMRQ

Amortization of intangibles consist of developed technology, customer relationships and internal-use software modifications over
their expected period of use.

1 RQ 2 SHIDWQJ ( [ SHQVHV
, QMHW [ SHQMH

Interest expense consists of interest and other charges paid in connection with our Senior Secured Credit Facility (as defined
below) and our Senior ABL Facility, interest on the Senior Secured Promissory Note (as defined below), and interest on our Prior
Term Loan Facility (as defined below), which was fully repaid on February 2, 2020.

QRPH7O ([SHAH

We are subject to federal and state income taxes in the United States and certain foreign markets. As we expand into additional
foreign markets, we may be subject to additional foreign tax.
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5 HVXWV Rl 2 SHDWRQV

The following tables set forth our consolidated statement of operations (in thousands):

<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU ,OFUDVH ' HFUDVH
Revenue $ 853,318 $ 872,662 $ (19,344) (2)%
Cost of revenue 770,459 669,861 100,598 15 %
Gross profit 82,859 202,801 (119,942) (59)%
2 SHDWQJ ( [ SHQVHV
General and administrative 80,974 55,634 25,340 46 %
Contingent consideration 2,696 26,441 (23,745) (90)%
Depreciation and amortization 23,930 25,514 (1,584) (6)%
Total operating expenses 107,600 107,589 11 — %
(Loss) income from operations (24,741) 95,212 (119,953) (126)%
2 WHUH SHQVH
Other expense, net (905) (2,305) (1,400) (61)%
Interest expense (35,475) (15,129) 20,346 134 %
Total other expense (36,380) (17,434) 18,946 109 %
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit) (61,121) 77,778 (138,899) (179)%
Income tax expense (benefit) (10,718) 18,705 (29,423) (157)%
1HWERW IQFRP H $ (50,403) $ 59,073 $ (109,476) (185)%
&RP SDUVRQRI WH\ HDWY HQGHG' HFHP EHU DG
5 HYHQXH

Revenue decreased by $19.3 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31,
2020. Total MW delivered increased by approximately 19% for the year ended December 31, 2021 due to increased demand for
our products.

&RWR! 5 HYHQXH DQG* IRW 3 IRIW

Cost of revenue increased by $100.6 million, or 15%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020 primarily due to the cost of raw materials and logistics increasing in 2021. Gross profit as a percentage of
revenue decreased from 23.2% for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 9.7% for the year ended December 31, 2021. The
decrease in Gross Profit as percentage of revenue reflects the higher commodity and logistics prices which we did not fully pass
through to our customers via price increases.

2 SHIDWY ( [ SHOHV
* HQHUDADQG DGP IQMIDIWH

General and administrative expenses increased by $25.3 million, or 46%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to
the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in general and administrative expense
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relates to a $11.5 million expense increase in equity-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared
to the prior year due to the acceleration of the Class B awards that occurred in 2021. Further, in 2021, we had higher legal and
professional fees of approximately $7 million due to higher capital markets activity, M&A activity, as well as on-going securities
litigation. In addition, in 2021 we had higher insurance costs of approximately $4 million as this was our first full year as a public
company. Finally, we added headcount in 2021 to support growth, innovation, and to ensure operational execution; however, the
increased costs related to these additions was largely offset by a reduction in variable compensation

& RQIDI HONFRQUGHIDIRQ

Contingent consideration expense decreased by $23.7 million, or 90%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in the fair value of our earn-out obligation in the
prior year period for which there was no corresponding increase in the current year period.

' HSUHAIDURQ
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was similar to the year ended December 31, 2020 as we did not
add any significant capital assets.

$P RWDIRQR 1QEQIIEGN

Amortization of intangibles for the year ended December 31, 2021 was similar to the year ended December 31, 2020 as we did
not add any significant intangible assets.

, QMUHMH SHOWM

Interest expenses increased by $20.3 million, or 134%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020, primarily due to interest on the higher average balance of our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Facility
which were not outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2020. In addition, $9.6 million in capitalized fees and discount
was written off in 2021 in connection with unscheduled principal payoffs that occurred in February and August of 2021. As of
December 31, 2021, we had $326.8 million outstanding under the Term Loan and no balance outstanding under the Revolving
Senior Facility, as it was paid off in August 2021. The Convertible Notes issued in December of 2021 have a balance of $425.0
million as of December 31, 2021.

GFRP HABL H SHQH EHCHIW

Income tax expense decreased by $29.4 million, or 157% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. Our effective tax rate was 17.5% for year ended December 31, 2021 and 24.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The reduction in the effective tax rate is primarily related to unfavorable non-deductible costs for equity-
based compensation and our 2021 Follow-on Offering for the year ended December 31, 2021, a favorable tax benefit related to
an NOL carryback as a result of the CARES Act in the year ended December 31, 2020, and the level of earnings in each period.

1HAGFRPH ®W

As a result of the factors discussed above, our net income decreased by $109.5 million, or 185%, for the year ended December
31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

&RP SDUVRQRI WH\ HDW HQGHG' HFHP EHU DQG
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A discussion and analysis covering the comparison of the year ended December 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31,
2019 is included in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2021.

5 HABMMP HQAR! 4 XDUMWD ) LQDQFIDO D

The Company has restated its unaudited interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2021, the three and
six months ended June 30, 2021 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. Detailed restatements of the
Company's consolidated quarterly financial statements are provided in Note 22.

The following unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for each of the four quarters in the period ended December 31,
2021 have been prepared on a basis consistent with our audited annual financial statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and include, in our opinion, all normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the financial
information contained in those statements. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected in the future. The following quarterly financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements
and the related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company restated previously issued interim statements for the three months ended March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021,
September 30, 2021 and for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 (the
“Non-Reliance Periods”). See Note 22, “Restatement of Previously Issued Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements,” for the impact of these adjustments on each of the first three quarters of fiscal 2021.

7KUHH O RQMV ( QGHG
0 DUFK - XQH 6 HSWIP EHU ' HFHP EHU

(in thousands) $V 5 HAMIWG $V 5 HAMVIIWG $V 5 HAMIIWG

Revenue $ 248,240 $ 196,516 $ 188,686 $ 219,876
Gross profit 46,166 20,507 5,897 10,289
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit) 6,274 (7,347) (32,922) (27,126)
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,698 (1,830) (5,361) (5,225)
Net income (loss) 4,576 (5,517) (27,561) (21,901)
Dividends and accretion — — (5,479) (10,236)
Net income (loss) to common stockholders $ 4,576 $ (5,517) $ (33,040) $ (32,137)
Earnings (loss) per share basic and diluted $ 0.04 $ (0.04) $ (0.25) $ (0.24)

[ IXIGW DQG & DSV HVRXUFHV
+ MRUFDO& DVK ) ®RZ
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The following table compares the historical cash flow (in thousands):
<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (263,187) $ (122,205) $ 386,073
Net cash used in investing activities (15,332) (1,338) (1,697)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 537,748 (129,273) (63,945)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 259,229 § (252,816) $ 320,431

We have historically financed our operations primarily with the proceeds from capital contributions, operating cash flows and
short and long-term borrowings. Our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations is dependent on the strength of our
gross margins as well as our ability to quickly turn our working capital. In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-
CoV-2, or COVID-19, surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to multiple countries, including the United
States. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. Due to economic conditions our
industry has seen rapid commodity price increases and strained logistics, adversely impacting our business and causing us to
experience decreased margins and thus decreased cash from operations. Due to strained logistics issues, we have experienced
an increase in our unbilled revenues and also in some instances, liquidated damages owed to our customers. Unbilled
receivables, which represent temporary timing differences between shipments made and billing milestones achieved, were
$111.2 million and $18.1 million of the accounts receivable balances as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. These
amounts have not been billed because we are waiting for agreed upon billing stipulations such as billing on a specified date of
the month or upon completion of mega-watt deliveries. The unbilled balance has increased as of December 31, 2021 due to
global challenges with supply chain logistics and labor shortages in some instances causing delays in delivering specific
components to complete a mega-watt delivery. These will be invoiced once the commercial criteria have been met at which point
we will invoice and expect payment within 30 to 60 days.

We have taken mitigating steps to overcome the economic challenges but cannot be certain the timing of when we will achieve
better margins. In response to the recent challenging environment, we continuously evaluate our ability to meet our obligations
over the next 12 months. We have sufficient liquidity as well as financing options available to fund current and future
commitments.

As of December 31, 2021, our cash was $367.7 million. Net working capital as of December 31, 2021 was $606.7 million.

In December of 2021, we issued $425.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, as
further discussed below.

In August of 2021, we issued 350,000 shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and 7,098,765 shares of
common stock, par value $0.001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $346 million, as further described below.

In January 2022, we issued 50,000 of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, and 1,125,000 shares of our Common
Stock, par value $0.001 per share, in an Additional Closing for an aggregate purchase price of $49,376,125.

As of March 31, 2022, we estimate our cash on hand to be $40.4 million and the balance available to be drawn on the Revolving
Credit Facility was $114.8 million, however, we had limited ability to draw on the available balance due to debt covenants.
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As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding borrowings of $326.8 million under the Term Loan Facility and $186.4 available
of our $200.0 million commitment under our Revolving Credit Facility.

2 SHDWQJ $ FRYIMWHY

For the year ended December 31, 2021, cash used by operating activities was $263.2 million primarily due to lower gross profit
on projects delivered due to rapid increases in commodity and logistic costs which we were not able to fully pass on to our
customers. Additionally, the cash used in operating activities reflects $96.6 million in cash used to build inventory due to growth
in demand coupled with longer shipping lead-times leading the Company to carry more safety stock. Finally, the increase in
accounts receivable used $118.4 million in cash during 2021 driven by increased sales coupled with a number of large projects
not reaching billing milestones at the end of the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2020 cash provided by operating activities was $122.2 million, primarily due to payments to
our suppliers for products that were paid for by customers in 2019, but that we did not ship until 2020. In order for our customers
to take advantage of the ITC credit, we received payment on these projects in the fourth quarter of 2019.

,QYHWMQ $ FYTWHY

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $15.3 million primarily attributable to a $12
million investment in equity securities.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was $1.3 million primarily attributable to the
purchase of property and equipment.

) LQDQFIQJ $ PRV

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $537.7 million of which $225.0 million was
proceeds from the offering of our Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and $120.6 million from the proceeds of the
sale of common stock, each of which that closed on August 11, 2021, $413.3 million in proceeds from the issuance of the
Convertible Notes, $126.0 million was from proceeds under the Revolving Facility, offset by a $133.2 million payment on the
Term Loan Facility, a $126.0 million payment of the Revolving Credit Facility, $11.1 million in equity issuance costs associated
with the Series A and $6.6 million in fees paid on the Senior Secured Credit Facility and to increase the limit on the Revolving
Facility by $50.0 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used by financing activities was $129.3 million. Net proceeds from the Term
Loan Facility and IPO were $460.0 million and $139.1 million, respectively. The Company also paid a special distribution to its
members prior to our IPO of $589.0 million (the “Special Distribution”) along with $57.7 million and $45.6 million payments of the
Term Loan and Senior Secured Promissory Note, respectively.

$FTXIMMRQRI 67,

On January 11, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed the previously announced STl Acquisition, pursuant to that
certain definitive agreement (the “Purchase Agreement’), dated as of November 10, 2021, by and among Array Tech, Inc, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Amixa Capital, S.L. and Aurica Trackers, S.L., each a company duly organized under
the laws of the Kingdom of Spain, and Mr. Javier Reclusa Etayo.

In accordance with the Purchase Agreement, the Company paid closing consideration to STI consisting of $410.5 million in cash
(the “Cash Consideration”) and 13,894,800 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Stock Consideration”). The fair value
of the purchase consideration was $610.7 million and resulted in the
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Company owning 100% of the interests in STI. The Company is in the process of performing a valuation of the acquisition
assets and liabilities and the related accounting impact.

The purchase price will be increased by the amount that is four times the audited EBITDA of the target less €47.0 million
($53.5 million at current exchange rates), such that the amount of contingent consideration is subject to a cap of €45.0 million
($52.0 million at current exchange rates). Subsequent to December 31, 2021, it was determined that the targets were not met.

The Company financed the STI Acquisition and related fees and expenses with cash on hand, the sale and proceeds from the
Convertible Notes, and $50.0 million in proceeds from the Delayed Draw.

&RQYHIAE®! 6 HQRUL RWMV GXH

On December 3, 2021 and December 9, 2021, the Company completed a private offering of $375 million and $50 million over
allotment, respectively, in aggregate principal amount of 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028 (the “Convertible Notes”)
resulting in proceeds of $364.7 million and $48.6 million, respectively, after deducting the original issue discount of 2.75%. The
Convertible Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated December 3, 2021 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.

The Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will mature on December 1, 2028, unless earlier
converted redeemed or repurchased. The Convertible Notes will bear interest at a rate of 1.00% per year, payable semiannually
in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on June 1, 2022.

6 HUHV $ 5 HGHHP DE®! 3 HSHMDCOB UH HUHG 6 VRFN

On August 10, 2021, the Company entered into the Securities Purchase Agreement with an investment vehicle of funds affiliated
with Blackstone Inc. (the “Purchaser”) Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, on August 11, 2021, the Company
issued and sold to the Purchaser 350,000 shares of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, having the powers,
designations, preferences, and other rights set forth in the Certificate of Designations, and 7,098,765 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, for an aggregate purchase price of $346.0 million. Further, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, and
subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, including the expiry or termination of the waiting period under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, the Company has agreed to issue and sell to the Purchaser
776,235 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $776. For more information related to the Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, see Note 11 - Redeemable Perpetual Preferred, to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

5 HIMADMRQ5 LIKW $ J UHP HQW

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, on August 10, 2021, the Company and the Purchaser entered into a
Registration Rights Agreement pursuant to which, among other things, the Company granted the Purchaser certain registration
rights with respect to Common Stock purchased pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, including customary shelf
registration rights and “piggyback” registration rights.

Direct costs associated with the issuance of the Securities were $11.1 million, which along with the $4.4 million discount, have
been accounted for as a reduction in the proceeds of the Securities. These net proceeds of $334.6 million have been allocated
on the balance sheet to the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of $229.8 million, common stock of $105.4 million
and additional paid-in capital of $12.4 million for the committed financing put right. The Company has presented the Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock in temporary equity and accreting the carrying, amount to its full redemption amount
from the date of issuance to the earliest redemption date using the effective interest method. Such accretion totaled $7.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The Company accreted the regular cash rate of dividends of 5.75% to the liquidation preference amount of the Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, or $8.2 million in dividends, for the year ended December 31, 2021.

" VFXWIRQRI + MRUFDO&DVK ) ®RZ V

A discussion and analysis covering historical cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 is included in our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2021.

' HEV2 EQ) DARQV
&RQYHME® 6 HJRUL RWV GXH

On December 3, 2021 and December 9, 2021, the Company completed a private offering (the “Convertible Notes Offering”) of
$375 million and $50 million over allotment, respectively, in aggregate principal amount of 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due
2028 resulting in proceeds of $364.7 million and $48.6 million, respectively, after deducting the original issue discount of 2.75%.
The Convertible Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated December 3, 2021 (the “Indenture”), between the Company
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.

The Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will mature on December 1, 2028, unless earlier
converted redeemed or repurchased. The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 1.00% per year, payable semiannually in
arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on June 1, 2022.

The Convertible Notes were not convertible during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 and none have been converted to
date. Also, given the average market price of the common stock has not exceeded the exercise price since inception, there was
no impact to the diluted earnings per share for the quarter ended December 31,2021.

6 HQIRU6 HFXUHG & UHGLW DFLOW

On October 14, 2020, we entered into a senior secured credit facility which was amended on February 23, 2021 by the first
amendment and on February 26, 2021 by the second amendment. The senior secured facility consisted originally of (i) a $575
million senior secured seven-year term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and (ii) a $150 million senior secured 5-year
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Senior Secured Credit
Facility”). On February 23, 2021, we entered into the first amendment (“First Amendment”) to our Senior Secured Credit Facility.
The First Amendment, in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, lowers the London interbank offered rate floor to 50 basis points
from 100 basis points and lowers the applicable margin to 325 basis points from 400 basis points per annum. This results in our
current rate on the Term Loan Facility decreasing to 3.75% down from 5% prior to the First Amendment. On February 26, 2021,
we entered into the incremental facility amendment No. 2 (the “Second Amendment”) to the Senior Secured Credit Facility. The
Second Amendment increases the $150.0 million Revolving Credit Facility from $150.0 million to $200.0 million. The debt
discount and issuance costs are being amortized using the effective interest method and the rate as of December 31, 2021 is
4.9%. The Term Loan Facility has an annual excess cash flow calculation beginning with the year ended December 31, 2021,
which could require the Company to make advance principal payments. The balance of the Term Loan Facility is presented in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net of debt discount and issuance costs of $23.3 million at December 31, 2021.
As of December 31, 2021, the Term Loan Facility had a balance of $326.8 million. We are in compliance with all covenants as of
December 31, 2021.

/ HWY/ Rl & UHAW
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Under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company had no outstanding balance, $13.6 million in standby letters of credit and
availability of $186.4 million under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021; however, we had limited ability to
draw on the available balance due to debt covenants..

, QMHWE DM

The interest rates applicable to the loans under the Term Loan Facility equal, at our option, either, (i) in the case of ABR
borrowings, the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate as of such day plus 50 basis points, (b) the prime rate and (c) the
adjusted London Interbank offered rate (‘LIBOR”) as of such day for a deposit in U.S. dollars with a maturity of one month plus
100 basis points, provided that in no event shall the ABR be less than 150 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable
margin of 300 basis points per annum; or (ii) in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, the greater of (a) the LIBOR for the
relevant currency, adjusted for statutory reserve requirements, and (b) 100 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable
margin of 400 basis points per annum.

The interest rates applicable to the loans under the Revolving Facility equal, at our option, either, (i) in the case of ABR
borrowings, the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate as of such day plus 50 basis points, (b) the prime rate and (c) the
adjusted LIBOR as of such day for a deposit in U.S. dollars with a maturity of one month plus 100 basis points, provided that in
no event shall the ABR be less than 150 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 225 basis points per annum;
or (i) in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, the greater of (a) the LIBOR for the relevant currency, adjusted for statutory
reserve requirements, and (b) 50 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 325 basis points per annum.

The Term Loan Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.00% per annum of the
original principal amount of the loans funded thereunder. There is no scheduled amortization under the Revolving Credit Facility.

* XDUDQWHV DQG 6 HEXUMY

The obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facility are guaranteed by ATI Investment Sub, Inc. and its wholly owned
domestic subsidiaries other than certain immaterial subsidiaries and other excluded subsidiaries. The obligations under the
Senior Secured Credit Facility are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of Array Tech, Inc.’s and the
guarantors’ existing and future property and assets, including accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, general intangibles,
intellectual property, investment property, other personal property, material owned real property, cash and proceeds of the
foregoing.

3UHSD\ P HQW DQG $ P RMY DURQ

Loans under the Revolving Credit Facility may be voluntarily prepaid in whole, or in part, in each case without premium or
penalty. Loans under the Term Loan Facility may be voluntarily prepaid in whole, or in part, in each case without premium or
penalty (other than a 1% premium with respect to prepayments on account of certain “repricing events,” subject to exceptions,
occurring within 12 months of the closing date of the Senior Secured Credit Facility).

The Senior Secured Credit Facility requires mandatory prepayments, but not permanent reductions of commitments thereunder,
for excess cash flow, asset sales, subject to a right of reinvestment, and refinancing facilities.

The Term Loan Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.00% per annum of the
original principal amount of the loans funded thereunder. There is no scheduled amortization under the Revolving Credit Facility.

5 HAME\YH & RYHQDQW DQG 2 \KHUO DIWALY
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The Senior Secured Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants including covenants that restrict our incurrence
of indebtedness, incurrence of liens, dispositions, investments, acquisitions, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, as
well as other negative covenants customary for financings of this type.

The Revolving Credit Facility also includes a springing financial maintenance covenant that is tested on the last day of each
fiscal quarter if the outstanding loans and certain other credit extensions under the Revolving Credit Facility exceed 35% of the
aggregate amount of commitments thereunder, subject to customary exclusions and conditions. If the financial maintenance
covenant is triggered, the first lien net leverage ratio will be tested for compliance not to exceed 7.10 to 1.00.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility also includes customary events of default, including the occurrence of a change of control.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all the required covenants.

6 XUHW %RQGV

As of December 31, 2021, we posted surety bonds in the total amount of approximately $160.4 million. We are required to
provide surety bonds to various parties as required for certain transactions initiated during the ordinary course of business to
guarantee the Company’s performance in accordance with contractual or legal obligations. These off-balance sheet
arrangements do not adversely impact our liquidity or capital resources.

&UMFDCS FFRXQWQJ ( VWP DMV

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been and will continue to be
uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial markets. We have made estimates and assumptions taking into
consideration certain possible impacts due to COVID-19. These estimates may change, as new events occur, and additional
information is obtained. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. The critical accounting estimates
discussed below are estimates made in accordance with U.S. GAAP that we believe involve a significant level of estimation
uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

5 HYHQXH 5 HFRJ QMRQ

Under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606), the Company recognizes revenues from the sale of solar
tracking systems and parts and determines its revenue recognition through the following steps: (i) identification of the contract or
contracts with a customer; (ii) identification of the performance obligations within the contract; (iii) determination of the
transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract; and (v) recognition of
revenue when, or as the performance obligation has been satisfied.

3 HURWP DQFH 2 EQJ DRV

The majority of the Company’s contracts with customers are accounted for as one performance obligation, because the
Company is integrating the solar tracker system components and related services as part of a single project. Certain contracts
associated with customers using the federal investment tax credit (“ITC”) for solar energy projects and other standalone tracker
component sales are accounted for as multiple performance obligations because some of these contracts consist of orders for
tracker system components without certain of the related services.
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For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance
obligation using its best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The Company
uses the expected cost-plus margin approach to estimate the standalone selling price of each performance obligation.

In contracts with one performance obligation, the Company’s performance obligation is satisfied over-time as control is
transferred to the customer by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using an input
(i.e., “cost to cost”’) method. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress towards completion is measured
based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation.

Revenue recognized for the Company’s ITC related contracts and standalone system component sales are recorded at a point
in time and recognized when obligations under the terms of the contract with our customer are satisfied. Generally, this occurs
with the transfer of control of the asset, which is typically upon delivery to the customer in line with shipping terms. In certain
situations, when product is still in our custody, and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer (known as bill-and-hold
arrangement), revenue will be recognized when all the specific requirements for transfer of control under a bill-and-hold
arrangement have been met. In assessing the recognition of revenue, the Company also evaluates whether two or more
contracts should be combined and accounted for as one contract and if the combined or single contract should be accounted for
as multiple performance obligations which could change the amount of revenue and profit (loss) recorded in a period.

Contracts are often modified through change orders to account for changes in specifications or design, manner of performance,
equipment, materials, scope of work, and/or the period of completion of the project. Although the Company evaluates each
change order to determine whether such modification creates a separate performance obligation, the majority of change orders
are not distinct within the context of the original contract and, therefore, not treated as separate performance obligations but
rather as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation.

& RQADFW AP DIV

Accounting for contracts utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress is based on various assumptions to project the outcome
of future events that can exceed a year. These assumptions include the cost and availability of materials. The cost estimation
process for recognizing revenues over time under the cost-to-cost method is based on the professional knowledge and
experience of the Company’s project managers, engineers and finance professionals. The Company reviews and updates its
contract-related estimates on an ongoing basis and recognizes adjustments for any project specific facts and circumstances that
could impact the measurement of the extent of progress, such as the total costs to complete the contracts, under the cumulative
catch-up method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the
adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate.
If at any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company recognizes the total
loss in the period it is identified.

& ROMPW/ODQRHV

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled receivables
(contract assets), and deferred revenue (contract liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheet, recorded on a contract-by-
contract basis at the end of each reporting period. The majority of the Company’s contract amounts are billed as work
progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, which generally coincide with the shipment of one or more
phases of the project. Billing sometimes occurs subsequent to revenue recognition, resulting in contract assets. The changes in
contract assets (i.e. unbilled receivables) and the corresponding amounts recorded in revenue relate to fluctuations in the timing
and
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volume of billings for the Company’s revenue recognized over-time. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, contract
assets consisting of unbilled receivables totaling $111.2 million and $18.1 million, respectively, were recorded within accounts
receivable on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company also receives advances or deposits from its customers, before
revenue is recognized, resulting in contract liabilities. The changes in contract liabilities (i.e. deferred revenue) relate to
advanced orders and payments received by the Company and are the result of customers looking to take advantage of certain
U.S. federal tax incentives set to decrease at the end of 2019. Based on the terms of the tax incentives the customer must pay
for the goods prior to December 31, 2019 which accounts for the increase in the advanced orders and payments and the
resulting deferred revenue. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, contract liabilities consisting of deferred revenue
was presented separately on the consolidated balance sheets.

3URGXFW DUDQW

The Company offers an assurance type warranty for its products against manufacturer defects and does not contain a service
element. For these assurance type warranties, a provision for estimated future costs related to warranty expense is recorded
when they are probable and reasonably estimable, which is typically when products are delivered. This provision is based on
historical information on the nature, frequency and average cost of claims for each product line. When little or no experience
exists for an immature product line, the estimate is based on comparable product lines. These estimates are re-evaluated on an
ongoing basis using best-available information and revisions to estimates are made as necessary.

,QYHQRY 9DXDWRQ

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable
value using the weighted average method. Provisions are made to reduce excess or obsolete inventories to their estimated net
realizable values which require estimates by management.

& RQWQI HOA& RQVIGHIDARQ
70[ 5 HFHYDE®I$ J UHHP HQW

Concurrent with Former Parent’s acquisition of Patent LLC, Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) entered into the TRA
with Ron P. Corio, a former indirect stockholder. The TRA is accounted for as contingent consideration and subsequent changes
in fair value of the contingent liability are recognized in general and administrative in the Company’s consolidated statement of
operations. The TRA obligations were recorded at acquisition-date fair value at inception and is classified as a liability. The TRA
will generally provide for the payment by Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) to Ron P. Corio, our indirect
stockholder, for certain federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax benefits deemed realized in post-closing taxable periods by Array
Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) from the use of certain deductions generated by the increase in the tax value of the
developed technology. Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by nature imprecise. The
significant fair value inputs used to estimate the future expected TRA payments to Ron P. Corio include the timing of tax
payments, a discount rate, book income projections, timing of expected adjustments to calculate taxable income and the
projected rate of use for attributes defined in the TRA. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the estimated fair
value of the TRA is $14.6 million and $19.7 million, respectively, which has been recorded as a liability. Subsequent changes in
fair value of the TRA will be recognized in earnings.

( TXIW Y%DVHG &RP SHOVDMRQ
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The Company granted restricted stock units (RSU’s) to employees and Performance Stock Units (PSUs) to certain executives.
The PSUs contain performance and market conditions. The PSU grants were valued using the Monte Carlo simulation method
and the assigned fair value on grant date will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting term of the awards. The
probability of the awards meeting the performance related vested conditions is not included in the grant date fair value, but
rather will be estimated quarterly and the Company will true-up the expense recognition accordingly upon any probability to vest
revision. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

7HP SRIDY ( TXIW

Equity instruments that are redeemable for cash or other assets are classified as temporary equity if the instrument is
redeemable, at the option of the holder, at a fixed or determinable price on a fixed or determinable date or upon the occurrence
of an event that is not solely within the control of the issuer. Redeemable equity instruments are initially carried at the fair value
of the equity instrument at the issuance date, which is subsequently adjusted at each balance sheet date if the instrument is
currently redeemable, or probable of becoming redeemable. The Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock issued in connection
with the Securities Purchase Agreement, as described in Note 11 - Redeemable Perpetual Preferred in the accompanying notes
to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is classified as temporary equity in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company elected the accreted redemption value method under which is
accretes changes in redemption value over the period from the date of issuance of the Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock to
the earliest costless redemption date (the fifth anniversary) using the effective interest method. Such adjustments are included in
preferred undeclared dividends and accretion on Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock on the Company’s consolidated
statements of changes in equity and treated similarly to a dividend on preferred stock for GAAP purposes.

5 HFHQUS FFRXQUWQJ 3 LIRQRXQFHP HQW

Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

WP $ 4 XDQWEBMWYH DQG 4 XDOMWMYH' LVFARVXUHY $ ERXW) DUINHWS LVN

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our
financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of
fluctuations in steel and aluminum prices and customer concentrations. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes.

& RGAHOAMDMRQY R 0 DRUE XRP HY/

Our customer base consists primarily of solar contractors and utilities. We do not require collateral on our trade receivables. For
the year ended December 31, 2021, our largest customer and five largest customers constituted 12.6% and 46.0% of total
revenues, respectively. Two customers made up 22.7% of revenue and are the only customers greater than 10% of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020, our largest customer and five largest
customers constituted 11.2% and 40.9% of total revenues, respectively. Two customers made up 21.5% of revenue and are the
only customers constituting greater than 10% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020. The loss of any one of our
top five customers could have a materially adverse effect on the revenues and profits of the Company. Further, our trade
accounts receivable are from companies within the solar industry and, as such, the Company is exposed to normal industry
credit risks. As of December 31, 2021, our largest customer and five largest customers constituted 17.6% and 44.6% of trade
accounts receivable, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, our largest customer and five largest customers constituted 0.1%
and 20.9% of trade accounts receivable,
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respectively. We continually evaluate our reserves for potential credit losses and establishes reserves for such losses.

&RP P RAW3UFH5 IWN

We are subject to risk from fluctuating market prices of certain commodity raw materials, including steel and aluminum, that are
used in our products. Prices of these raw materials may be affected by supply restrictions or other market factors from time to
time, and we do not enter into hedging arrangements to mitigate commodity risk. Significant price changes for these raw
materials could reduce our operating margins if we are unable to recover such increases from our customers, and could harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

,QMUHWS DM 5 IWN

As of December 31, 2021, our long-term debt totaled $711.0 million. We have interest rate exposure with respect to the $326.8
million balance due to the variable interest rate. A 50 basis point increase in interest rates would impact our expected annual
interest expense for the next 12 months by approximately $1.6 million.

WP ) LODQFLDOS VWP HQW DQG 6 XSSOP HOWY ' DB

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are included after the Signature page of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

WP &KDQIHV LQDQG' VDI UHHP HOW Z W $ FFRXQEQW RQ $ FFRXQWQJ DQG ) LODQFIDO LVF&RVXH

None.

WP $ &RQWREY DQG 3 IRFHGXUHV
( YDODMRQRI ' LVFRVXH & RQWRY DQG 3 LRFHGXUHV

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
(1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (2)
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021. Based upon the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at a
reasonable assurance level as a result of the material weaknesses that existed in our internal control over financial reporting as
described below.

0 DQDU HP HQAV 5 HSRUARQ , QMUODOS: RQWRCR2 YHU) LODQFLDCE HSRUAQU

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSQO). Based on the results of this evaluation, the Company’s management concluded that
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internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021, due to the material weaknesses listed below.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis.

Management has determined that the Company had the following material weaknesses in its internal control over financial
reporting at December 31, 2021:

&RQAMRO( QYLWRQP HRADQG 0 RQWUQ — We did not maintain appropriately designed entity-level controls impacting the control
environment and effective monitoring controls to prevent or detect material misstatements to the consolidated financial
statements. These deficiencies were attributed to (i) the lack of a sufficient number of qualified resources and inadequate
oversight and accountability over the performance of controls, and (ii) ineffective evaluation and determination as to whether the
components of internal control were present and functioning.

&RQAROS$ PYMHV — These material weaknesses contributed to the following additional material weaknesses within certain
business processes:

* ,QMHQRU — We did not appropriately design and implement controls over the existence, accuracy, and cutoff of inventory.
As previously reported, we identified a material weakness relating to inventory cut-off and in-transit inventory, which
continued to exist at December 31, 2021. In addition, we identified a material weakness relating to ineffective controls
over our year-end inventory reconciliation process, which resulted in adjustments being recorded as of December 31,
2021.

+  S5HYHQXH 5 HHRIQMRQ— We did not design, implement and maintain effective controls over revenue recognized for
certain contracts relating to the proper application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). Specifically, we did not maintain effective controls relating to (1) the identification
and recognition of performance obligations for customer contracts, and (2) evaluation of customer contracts for potential
combination, which resulted in adjustments being recorded as of December 31, 2021, and restatement of the Company’s
interim unaudited consolidated financial statements during 2021.

+  $FFRXQW 5 HFHYDE®I- We did not design, implement and maintain effective controls over the existence of accounts
receivable. Specifically, we did not design controls at an appropriate precision level to identify material misstatements,
which resulted in balance sheet adjustments being recorded as of December 31, 2021.

After giving full consideration to these material weaknesses, and the additional analyses and other procedures that we
performed to ensure that our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, our management has concluded that our consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods disclosed in conformity with U.S.
GAAP.

5 HP HGLIDWRQ 3 @Q |RU( [ MAQJ 0 DIMUDO. HDNQHWHV

We have begun the process of, and we are focused on, designing and implementing effective measures to strengthen our
internal controls over financial reporting and remediate the material weaknesses. Our planned internal control remediation
efforts include the following:

&RQARO( QYILRQP HOADQG 0 RQMRUQY] — Consistent with the COSO 2013 Framework, Principle 4, attracting, developing, and

retaining competent personnel, we have recently hired a Chief Accounting Officer who will provide an additional level of
technical accounting expertise, oversight, and monitoring of the design and
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performance of both existing and newly implemented controls as noted below. We will continue to hire in 2022, additional
accounting and IT personnel in 2022 to bolster our accounting and IT capabilities and capacity, and we will concentrate on
retaining key accounting, IT, and operational personnel. These actions will further serve to remediate the noted material
weakness under the COSO 2013 Framework, Principle 16, by enhancing the efforts towards separate evaluations regarding the
presence and functionality of the components of internal control, specifically in the areas of inventory, revenue recognition, and
accounts receivable, as noted below.

&RQARCH FYIMAHY

+ ,QMHQRY - We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the accounting, processing,
and recording of inventory. Specifically, we have strengthened the design of the management review control over
inventory-in-transit. Additionally, we have implemented processes to ensure timely identification and evaluation of
inventory cut-off and are requiring additional accountability from counterparties on the accuracy of incoming and
outgoing shipment documentation. We also plan to deploy information system enhancements and better use of current
system capabilities in order to improve the accuracy of inventory cut-off, reporting, and reconciliation.

+ 5 HYHQXH 5 HHRIQWRQ- We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the review of
the application and recording of revenue for customer contracts under the guidance outlined in ASC 606. We will also
design and implement more precise reviews regarding evaluation of contract terms and whether contracts should be
combined. These reviews will include increased contract analysis from our legal team as well as ensuring qualified
resources are involved and adequate oversight is performed during the internal technical accounting review process.

+  $FFRXQW 5 HFHYDE®H- We will enhance the design of existing controls and implement new controls over the processing
and review of accounts receivable billings. We also plan to supplement our accounting staff with more experienced
personnel. Additionally, we will evaluate information system capabilities in order to reduce the manual calculations within
this business process.

While these actions and planned actions are subject to ongoing management evaluation and will require validation and testing of
the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, we are
committed to the continuous improvement of our internal control over financial reporting and will continue to diligently review our
internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, has been audited by BDO
USA, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report included herein.

&KDQIHV 1Q , QMDD RQWRCRYHU) LQDQFLDCE HSRUAQJ

During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, except for the changes discussed above, there have been no other no changes
in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

WP % 2 WHU,QRWP DARQ
We maintain a website at www.arraytechinc.com. The contents of our website are not incorporated in, or otherwise to be
regarded as part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available, free of charge on our website, access to our Annual

Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
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the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act’), as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or
furnish them electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

WP & ' WVFRVXH5 HIDUWGEQ ) RUH Q - XUVGIFWRQV WDWB LHYHQWQVSHPARQY
1 RQH
3$57 ,,,

WP " WHRARY/ ([ HREXWYH 2 1TLFHYY DQG & RUSRUIDWM * RYHWDOQFH

The information required by this item and not set forth below will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement,
which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a written Code of Business Conduct that applies to all officers, directors and employees, including our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions. The Code of Business Conduct is available on our website at www.arraytechinc.com. If we make any substantive
amendments to the Code of Business Conduct or grant any waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct to any
executive officer or director, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website or in a Current
Report on Form 8-K.

WP ([ HEXWYH &RP SHOVDARQ

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

WP 6 HFXUW 2 Z QHYKIS Rl & HIBLQ %HQH LFLDCR Z QHY DQG 0 DQDI HP HQWDQG 5 HIWAG 6 VRFNKRGHUO DAY/
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

WP &HUIBIQ 5 HOMRQVKLSVY DQG 5 HIWG 7WDQVDFWRQY DG LLHAVRU, QGHSHQGHQFH

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

WP 3UQFLSDOS FFRXQWQW HHV DQG 6 HYEHV

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
3$57 .9

WP ([ KEEMDQG ) LODQFLDCE VAMP HQWG FKHGX®N

(a)(1) Financial Statements.
The financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are included after the Signature page of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
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All schedules have been omitted because they are not required or because the required information is given in the
Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index below are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report.

1XP EHU
2.1+

3.1
3.2

3.3
41

4.2
4.3

10.1
10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

([ KIEEWQGH
" HVFUSWRQRI ' RFXP HQW ) RWP ' DM 1R

Purchase Agreement, dated November 10, 2021, by and among 8-K 11/12/2021 2.1
Array Technologies, Inc., Array Tech, Inc., Amixa Capital, S.L.,

Aurica Trackers, S.L.,_.and Mr. Javier Reclusa

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Array 8-K 10/19/2020 3.1
Technologies, Inc., dated October 19, 2020

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Array Technologies,_Inc., dated 8-K 10/19/2020 3.2
October 19, 2020

Certificate of Designations of Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock 8-K 08/11/2021 3.1
Description of securities registered under Section 12 of the 10-K 03/10/2021 4.1
Exchange Act

ndenture, dated December 3, 2021, among_Array Technologies, 8-K 12/07/2021 4.1
nc. and U.S. Bank National Association

Form of 1.00% Convertible Senior Note due 2028 (included 8-K 12/07/2021 4.2
in Exhibit 4.1)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 19 by and among 8-K 10/19/2020 10.1
Array Technologies, Inc. and certain holders identified therein

Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 10, 2021, by and 8-K 08/11/2021 10.2
between Array Technologies, Inc. and BCP Helios Aggregator

L.P.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 11, 2022, by and 8-K 01/11/2022 10.1
among_ Array Technologies, Inc. and the holders identified therein

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated August 10, 2021, by and 8-K 08/11/2021 10.1
between the Company and BCP Helios Aggregator L.P.

Credit Agreement, dated October 14, 2020, by and among_ Array, 8-K 10/19/2020 10.2
Technologies, Inc., as borrower, ATl Investment Sub, Inc., as

guarantor, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent

and collateral agent, and the Lenders (as defined therein)_from

time to time party thereto

Amended and Restated ABL Credit and Guarantee Agreement, S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.1
dated March 23, 2020, by and among_ATI Investment Holdings,
Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative
agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated July 8, 2016, between Array S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.3

Technologies, Inc. and Ron P. Corio
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520272092/d50569dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520272092/d50569dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000057/helios-certificateofdesign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000009/exhibit41active_1xdescript.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000119312521349713/d271049dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000119312521349713/d271049dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520272092/d50569dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520272092/d50569dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000057/helios-bxregistrationright.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000119312522007674/d276474dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000057/array-securitiespurchaseag.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000119312520272092/d50569dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex103.htm
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1XPEHU
10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18
10.19
10.20

10.21

10.22
21.1*
23.1%
31.1%

31.2¢

32.1**

" HVFUSWRQRI ' RFXP HQW ) RWP ' DM 1R
Form of Array Technologies,_Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.7
Earnout Agreement, dated June 23, 2016, by and among ATl S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.8
Investment Parent, LLC, ATl Investment Sub, Inc., Array
Technologies, Inc., and the seller parties thereto
Employment Offer Letter, dated August 7, 2018, between Array. S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.9
Technologies, Inc. and Stuart Bolland
Amendment to Employment Offer Letter, dated May 25, 2019, S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.7
between Array Technologies, Inc. and Stuart Bolland
Employment Offer Letter, dated April 25, 2018, between Array S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.8
Technologies,_Inc. and Jim Fusaro
Employment Offer Letter, dated December 19, 2016, between S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.9
Array Technologies, Inc. and Jeff Krantz
Amendment to Employment Offer Letter, dated May 23, 2019, S-1/A 10/14/2020 101
between Array Technologies, Inc. and Jeff Krantz
Offer Letter, dated as of April 3, 2022, by and between Array, 8-K 04/05/2022 10.1
Technologies, Inc. and Kevin Hostetler
Array Technologies, Inc. Executive Severance and Change in 8-K 04/05/2022 10.2
Control Plan
Separation Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2022, by and 8-K 04/05/2022 10.3
between Array Technologies, Inc. and Jim Fusaro
Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement S-1/A 10/14/2020 10.11
Employment Agreement Terms 10-K 03/10/2021 10.13
Amendment No. 1, dated February 23, 2021, to the credit 10-K 03/10/2021 10.14
agreement by and among_Array Tech, Inc., as borrower, ATI
Investment Sub,_Inc., as guarantor, Goldman Sachs Bank USA,
as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders from
time to time party thereto
Amendment No. 2, dated February 26, 2021, to the credit 8-K 03/02/2021 10.1
agreement by and among_Array Tech, Inc., as borrower, AT
Investment Sub,_Inc., as guarantor, Goldman Sachs Bank USA,
as administrative agent and collateral agent,_and the lenders from
time to time party thereto
Form of Capped Call Confirmation 8-K 12/07/21 10.1

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, as required by Section
302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, as required by Section
302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, as required by Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520251336/d82970dex106.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312520266257/d82970dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000009/exhibit1013arrayemployment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000182072121000009/exhibit1014-amendmentno1to.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001820721/000119312521064067/d328425d8k.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820721/000119312521349713/d271049dex101.htm
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32.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, as required by Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)
101* Interactive Data Files
104* Cover Page Interactive Data Files
03/10/2021

* Filed herewith

** Furnished herewith

+ Exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5) and will be furnished on a supplemental
basis to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

WP JRPP  + 6XPPDUY

None
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6, 1$785(6

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on April 6, 2022.
$UD 7THFKQR®RILHV ,QF
By: /s/ Jim Fusaro
- P ) XVDIR
&KIH ( [ HFXWYH 2 [1LFHU
3UQFLSDQ( [ HEXWYH 2 I IFHU

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

6 LJ QDMIH 71V® ' DM

/s/ Jim Fusaro Chief Executive Officer April 6, 2022
Jim Fusaro 3 UWQFISD [ HRXAWH 2 1IFHU

/s/ Nipul Patel Chief Financial Officer April 6, 2022
Nipul Patel 3 UCHSDO IQDCQADDQG $ FFRXQUY 2 [11IFHU

/s/ Brad Forth Chairman of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022
Brad Forth

/s/ Paulo Almirante Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022

Paulo Almirante

/sl Troy Alstead Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022
Troy Alstead
/s/ Orlando D. Ashford Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022

Orlando D. Ashford

/s/ Ron P. Corio Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022
Ron P. Corio
/sl Jayanthi lyengar Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022

Jayanthi lyengar

/s/ Bilal Kahn Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022
Bilal Kahn
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6 LJ QDWH 71MB " DM

/s/ Gerrard Schmid Member of the Board of Directors April 6, 2022
Gerrard Schmid
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEMIGIDUHY

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm (BDO USA, LLP;_Austin, Texas;_ PCAOB ID#243)

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Member’s Equity/Stockholders’ Deficit
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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5 HSRUARI , QGHSHQGHOWE HI IMMUHG 3 XEQF $ FFRXQWMJ ) LLP

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Array Technologies, Inc.
Albuquerque, New Mexico

2 SIQIRQ RQ WH & RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDO6 VWP HQW

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Array Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in member’s equity/stockholders’ deficit, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (‘PCAOB”), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in ,QMIDCO8 RQNROE UDWG
) P HZRW issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated April
6, 2022 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

&KDQIHLQ$ FFRXQWJ 0 HWRG 5 HIMG VR / HDVHV

As discussed in Notes 2 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases during
the year ended December 31, 2021 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842, Leases.

%DVLV IRU2 SIQRQ

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

&UWFDCH XGW) DIMAY

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to
the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matters below,
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providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
$ FFRXQWQJ |RU,WXDQFH Rl WH 6 HFXUW 3 XUFKDVH $ J UHHP HQW

As described in Notes 2 and 11 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company entered into a Security Purchase
Agreement, issuing shares of a newly designated Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of the Company and shares of the
Company’s common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $346.0 million. The Company has the option to require the Purchaser to
purchase, in one or more additional closings, additional shares of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and Common Stock.
The Company evaluated the accounting for the instruments issued in the Securities Purchase Agreement and accounted for the Series A
preferred stock as temporary equity on the consolidated balance sheets.

We identified the accounting evaluation of the Securities Purchase Agreement to be a critical audit matter. Significant judgments and highly
complex technical accounting guidance are required in the determination of the scope of the applicable accounting guidance and appropriate
balance sheet classification, including the identification and evaluation of embedded features potentially requiring bifurcation as derivatives
as well as the determination of initial and subsequent recognition and measurement. Auditing these elements involved especially challenging
and complex auditor judgment due to extent of audit effort required to address these matters, including the extent of specialized skills or
knowledge needed.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:
¢ Reading and analyzing the contract terms related to the Securities Purchase Agreement.

¢ Evaluating the reasonableness of the conclusions made by the Company related to the accounting treatment for issuance of the
Security Purchase Agreement, including the Company’s consideration of relevant accounting standards to analyze the proper
balance sheet classification, the embedded features, and the initial and subsequent recognition and measurement.

¢ Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in the relevant technical accounting guidance to assist in evaluating the
appropriateness of Management’s application of relevant accounting guidance for the issuance of the Security Purchase Agreement.

$ FFRXQWQ) IRU&RQYHME®!' HEW

As described in Note 10 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, on December 3, 2021 and December 9, 2021, the Company
completed a private offering of $375 million and $50 million over allotment, respectively, in aggregate principal amount of 1.00% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2028 (the “Notes”). The Notes contain certain redemption, conversion, and other features that require the Company to
assess if such features are embedded derivatives that require bifurcation from the Notes and receive separate accounting treatment. The
Company determined the embedded features did not require bifurcation from the Notes, and therefore were not accounted for separately.

We identified the accounting evaluation of embedded features in the Convertible Debt to be a critical audit matter because the evaluation of
the appropriate accounting treatment for potential derivatives involved a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort,
including the extent of specialized skill or knowledge needed to evaluate the Company’s conclusions.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

» Reading and analyzing the contract terms included in various agreements related to the issuance of the Convertible Debt, including
the indenture agreement and other agreements entered into on or around the issuance date to identify and assess the
reasonableness of management's accounting treatment for the different embedded features as they impacted bifurcation
conclusions.

F-3
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» Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in the relevant technical accounting guidance to assist in evaluating the
appropriateness of Management’s application of relevant accounting guidance for the issuance of the Convertible Debt.

5 HYHQXH 5 HFRJ QURQ Rl & HIBLQ & XWWRP HU& RQADFW

As described in Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, certain of the Company’s contracts are accounted for as multiple
performance obligations because the delivery of the components and other services specified in the contract do not represent a single
integrated project.

We identified the determination of multiple performance obligations in certain customer contracts and the timing of associated revenue
recognition to be a critical audit matter because there was a significant amount of judgment exercised by management in identifying and
evaluating terms and conditions of these customer contracts that impact the timing of revenue recognition. In addition, a material weakness
was identified over the accounting associated with certain contracts. Auditing these elements involved especially challenging auditor
judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required to address these matters, including the extent of specialized skill and
knowledge needed.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

» Evaluating management’s accounting policies and practices, including the reasonableness of management’s judgments and
assumptions related to the identification of each distinct performance obligation and its pattern of delivery related to certain customer
contracts.

» Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in the relevant technical accounting guidance to assist in evaluating the
appropriateness of Management’s application of relevant accounting guidance for revenue recognition.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
Austin, Texas

April 6, 2022
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5 HSRUARI , QGHSHQGHOWE HI IMMUHG 3 XEQF $ FFRXQWQJ ) LLP

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Array Technologies, Inc.
Albuquerque, New Mexico

2 SIQRQ RQ , QWLLDAE: RQWRCRYHU) LQDQFLDCE HSRUAMY

We have audited Array Technologies, Inc.’s and Subsidiaries (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2021, based on criteria established in ,QMEDCR ROARCE ,QMIUDWMG ) WDP HZ RN issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management’s statements referring to any corrective actions taken by the
Company after the date of management’s assessment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in member’s equity/stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as “the financial statements”) and our report dated April 6, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

%DVLV IRU2 SIQIRQ

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “ltem 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Material weakness have been identified and described in management’s assessment. These material weaknesses related
to managements’ failure to design and maintain effective controls over financial reporting, specifically related to the following: (1) entity-level
controls impacting the control environment and effective monitoring controls to prevent or detect material misstatements to the consolidated
financial statements; (2) the design and implementation of controls over the existence, accuracy, and cutoff of inventory; (3) the design,
implementation and maintenance of effective controls over revenue recognized for certain contracts relating to the proper application of
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”); and (4) the design, implementation and
maintenance of effective controls over the existence of accounts receivable.

The material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2021
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated April 6, 2022, on those financial statements.

F-5
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" HIQWRQ DQG/ P MMRQV Rl , QMDD ROWRORYHU) LODQFLDCE HSRUAMJ

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Austin, Texas

April 6, 2022
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& RQVROGDWIG %DOQFH 6 KHHW
1QWRX\VDQGV
' HFHP EHU
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 367,670 $ 108,441
Accounts receivable, net 236,009 118,694
Inventories, net 205,653 118,459
Income tax receivables 9,052 17,158
Prepaid expenses and other 33,649 12,423
Total current assets 852,033 375,175
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,692 9,774
Goodwill 69,727 69,727
Other intangible assets, net 174,753 198,260
Deferred tax assets 9,345 —
Other assets 26,429 3,088
Total assets $ 1,142,979 $ 656,024
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 91,392 $ 82,755
Accounts payable - related party 610 2,232
Accrued expenses and other 38,494 29,164
Accrued warranty reserve 3,192 3,049
Income tax payable 60 8,814
Deferred revenue 99,575 149,821
Current portion of contingent consideration 1,773 8,955
Current portion of term loan 4,300 4,313
Other current liabilities 5,909 —
Total current liabilities 245,305 289,103
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability — 13,114
Contingent consideration, net of current portion 12,804 10,736
Other long-term liabilities 5,557 —
Long-term debt, net of current portion, debt discount and issuance costs 711,056 423,970
Total long-term liabilities 729,417 447,820
Total liabilities 974,722 736,923
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of $0.001 par value - 500,000
authorized; 350,000 and none issued as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively; liquidation preference of $350.0 million and none as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively 237,462 —

Stockholders’ deficit

Preferred stock of $0.001 par value - 4,500,000 authorized; none issued as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively
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1Q WRXVDQGV
' HFHP EHU

Common stock of $0.001 par value - 1,000,000,000 authorized; 135,026,940 and

126,994,467 issued as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively 135 127

Additional paid-in capital 202,562 140,473

Accumulated deficit (271,902) (221,499)
Total stockholders’ deficit (69,205) (80,899)
Total liabilities, redeemable perpetual preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) $ 1,142,979 $ 656,024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LQWRXVDQGV H FHSWSHUMKDUH DP RXQN

<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Revenue $ 853,318 $ 872,662 647,899
Cost of revenue 770,459 669,861 497,138
Gross profit 82,859 202,801 150,761
Operating expenses
General and administrative 80,974 55,634 41,212
Contingent consideration 2,696 26,441 640
Depreciation and amortization 23,930 25,514 25,500
Total operating expenses 107,600 107,589 67,352
Income (loss) from operations (24,741) 95,212 83,409
Other expense
Other expense, net (905) (2,305) (33)
Interest expense (35,475) (15,129) (18,797)
Total other expense (36,380) (17,434) (18,830)
Income before income tax expense (benefit) (61,121) 77,778 64,579
Income tax expense (benefit) (10,718) 18,705 24,834
Net income (loss) (50,403) 59,073 39,745
Preferred dividends and accretion (15,715) — —
Net income (loss) to common shareholders $ (66,118) $ 59,073 § 39,745
Earnings (loss) per share
Basic $ (0.51) $ 049 § 0.33
Diluted $ (0.51) $ 049 $ 0.33
Weighted average number of shares
Basic 129,984 121,467 119,994
Diluted 129,984 121,514 119,994

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1O WRXVDQGV
) RUWH\ HDW HQGHG ' HFHP EHU DQG
7RWQ0 HP EHUWV
&RP P RQGWFN $GEMRQDO  SHEIQHG  ( TXIW 6\RFNKRGHWA
8 QW $P RXQW 6 KDUHV $PRXQW SDGIQFDSMIO  ( DWQIV " HIFIW
Y%DOOQFH ' HFHP EHU
1 $ 264,474 — 5 — $ — 3 — 9 264,474
Capital contribution — 133 — — — — 133
Equity-based compensation — 799 — — — — 799
Net income — 39,745 — — — — 39,745
%DDMQFH ' HFHP EHU
1 305,151 — — — — 305,151

Special distribution — (589,000) — — — — (589,000)
Initial public offering of
common stock, net of
underwriting discounts and
commissions — — 7,000 7 145,525 — 145,532
Deferred offering costs — — — (6,464) — (6,464)
Stock compensation expense — 3,397 — — 1,412 — 4,809
Net income (loss) — 71,394 — — — (12,321) 59,073
Corporate conversion and
stock split (1) 209,058 119,994 120 — (209,178) —
YDOMQFH ' HFHP EHU

— 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)
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LQWRXVDQGV
) RUWH\ HDUHQGHG ' HFHP EHU
7HP SRIDY ( TXIW 3 HUP DOHQW TXIW
6 HUHV $
5 HGHHP DE®A
3 HSEHXYDB IHHUIHG
6\REN 3IHHUHG6WRFN  &RP P RQ6RFN $(§S£RLSDO % FEXP XOWG GWF%M
6KDIHV  $ P RXQW 6KDIHV $P RXQW 6KDIHV $P RXQW FDSIMEO GHIIFIW (TXIW ' HIFIW
YDOQFH
' HFHP EHU
— 3 — — 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)

Equity-based
compensation — — — — 157 — 13,562 — 13,562
Issuance of
common stock, net — — — — 7,875 8 104,756 — 104,764
Issuance of Series
A Preferred, net of
fees 350 229,799 — — — — — — —
Premium on
capped call, net of
deferred tax — — — — — — (40,514) — (40,514)
Preferred
cumulative
dividends — 8,226 — — — — (8,226) — (8,226)
Payment of
dividends — (8,052) — — — — — — — —
Preferred accretion — 7,489 — — — — (7,489) — (7,489)
Net (loss) — — (8,052) — — — — — (50,403) (50,403)
YDOQFH
' HFHP EHU

350 $237,462 7489 — $ — 135,026 $ 135 $ 202,562 $ (271,902) $ (69,205)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows used in (provided by) operating activities
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

used in (provided by) operating activities:
Provision for (recovery of) bad debts
Deferred tax (benefit) expense
Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs

Interest paid-in-kind

Equity-based compensation

Contingent consideration

Warranty provision

Provision for inventory obsolescence
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Income tax receivables

Prepaid expenses and other

Accounts payable

Accounts payable - related party

Accrued expenses and other

Income tax payable

Lease liabilities

Contingent consideration

Deferred revenue

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investment in equity security

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Premium paid on capped call
Fees paid on issuance of convertible notes
Dividends paid on Series A Preferred
Proceeds from Series A issuance
Proceeds from common stock issuance
Series A equity issuance costs
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<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU
$ (50,403) $ 59,073 $ 39,745
(467) 595 (3,986)
(10,102) (2,739) 22,322
25,946 27,474 27,316
15,036 3,366 3,968
— 3,421 2,832
13,757 4,809 799
2,696 26,441 640
516 953 1,387
990 1,225 1,742
(116,848) (23,038) (40,708)
(88,184) 28,340 (94,594)
8,106 (16,530) 9,941
(21,226) 1,101 2,228
8,637 (50,519) 105,481
(1,622) — —
9,133 10,913 (1,978)
(8,754) 6,870 1,044
221 — —
— (25,000) —
(50,619) (178,960) 306,994
(263,187) (122,205) 386,073
(3,357) (1,338) (1,697)
(11,975) — —
(15,332) (1,338) (1,697)
413,321 — —
(52,870) — —
(1,591) — —
(8,051) — —
224,987 — —
120,645 — —
(7,195) — —
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Common stock issuance costs

Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Payments on revolving credit facility
Principal payments on term loan

Proceeds from term loan facility

Principal payments on term loan facility
Proceeds from (Payments on) revolving loan
Payments on related party loans

Payment of special distribution

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of
underwriting discount and commissions

Contingent consideration
Deferred offering costs
Debt issuance costs
Capital contribution
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

6 XSSP HOECLDVK ) ®RZ ,QIRWP DWRQ
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1Q \WRXVDQGV
<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU
(3,873) — —
126,033 — —
(126,033) — —
— (57,702) (25,000)
— 575,000 —
(133,225) (115,000) —
— (70) (39,078)
— (45,558) —
— (589,000) —
— 145,532 —
(7,810) — —
— (6,464) —
(6,590) (36,011) —
— — 133
537,748 (129,273) (63,945)
259,229 (252,816) 320,431
108,441 361,257 40,826
$ 367,670 $ 108,441 $ 361,257
$ 24306 $ 6,935 $ 11,343
$ 13,318 $ 31,103 $ 443
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2 U DQL} DARQ DQG 96XVIQHW

Array Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) formerly ATl Intermediate Holdings, LLC, is a Delaware corporation formed in
December 2018 as a wholly owned subsidiary of ATl Investment Parent, LLC (“Former Parent”). On October 14, 2020, the
Company converted from a Delaware limited liability company to a Delaware corporation and changed the Company’s name to
Array Technologies, Inc. The Company is headquartered in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and manufactures and supplies solar
tracking systems and related products for customers across the United States and internationally. The Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, ATl Investment Sub, Inc. (“ATl Investment’) owns one subsidiary through which it conducts
substantially all operations; Array Tech, Inc. (collectively “AT”).

6XP P DY RI 6L QUIFDQWS FFRXQWQ) 3 ROFIHV

Y%DVIV Rl $ FFRXQAQ DQG 3 UHVHQEMRQ

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“‘U.S. GAAP”).

5 HEF@WWL LFDWRQV

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

5 HFHQW $ GRSWG $ FFRXQWQJ 3 LRQRXQFHP HQW

On January 1, 2021, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02 (Topic 842) “Leases” which
supersedes the lease recognition requirements in ASC Topic 840, 3/ HDVHV. Under ASU No. 2016-02, lessees are required to
recognize assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets for most leases and provide enhanced disclosures. For
companies that are not emerging growth companies (“EGCs”), the ASU was effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2018. For EGCs, the ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company early adopted the
new standard using the modified retrospective method by recording a right-of-use asset of $13.2 million, short-term portion of
lease liabilities of $6.3 million and long-term portion of lease liabilities of $7.2 million as of the effective date. Prior periods will
not be restated and will continue to be reported under Topic 840 guidance in effect during those periods. The Company applied
the package of practical expedients to leases that commenced before the effective date whereby the Company elected to not
reassess the following: (i) whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases; (ii) the lease classification for any expired or
existing leases; and (iii) initial direct costs for any existing leases. The adoption did not have a material impact on its
consolidated statements of operations or its consolidated statements of cash flows. See Note 15, Leases, for further information
and disclosures related to the adoption of this standard.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, (FRPH700 HV 7RSIF 6 IP SO\ 1QJ WH $ FFRXQUQY IRU,QFRP H 70 HV
(“ASU No. 2019-12”), which is intended to simplify various aspects of the accounting for income taxes. ASU No. 2019-12

removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve

consistent application. This standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after

December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company has adopted the pronouncement and it did not have a material

impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, ' HEWt+ ' HEWZ W &RQYHWRQ DQG 2 \WWHU 2 SWRQVY 6 XEWRSIF DQG
" HIYDIWHV DQG + HGEJIQ) + &RQADFW 1Q ( QMY 2 ZQ ( TXIW 6 XEWRSIE . The amendments in this update simplifies
accounting for certain convertible debt instruments by removing the separation models for convertible debt with a cash
conversion feature or convertible instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, convertible debt instruments will
be reported as a single liability instrument with no separate accounting for embedded conversion features. Additionally, ASU
2020-06 requires the application of the if-converted method for calculating diluted earnings per share and the treasury stock
method will be no longer be available for convertible debt instruments. The provisions of ASU 2020-06 are applicable for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2020. The Company early adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2021 using the modified retrospective method.
There was no impact on the Company's financial statements as of the adoption date. As further discussed in Note 10,
"Convertible Debt," the Company issued $425 million principal amount of convertible senior notes on December 3, 2021, which
have been accounted for in accordance with the provisions of ASU 2020-06.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, ) ILQDQFIDOQAKP HQW & UHAW RWHV which was subsequently amended by
ASU No. 2018-19 and ASU No. 2019-10, requires the measurement of expected credit losses for financial instruments carried at
amortized cost held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable forecasts. The
updated guidance also amends the current other-than-temporary impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities by
requiring the recognition of impairments relating to credit losses through an allowance account and limits the amount of credit
loss to the difference between a security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value. In addition, the length of time a security has
been in an unrealized loss position will no longer impact the determination of whether a credit loss exists. The main objective of
this ASU is to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on
financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The standard was
adopted on January 1, 2021 as the Company lost it's status as an Emerging Growth Company effective December 31, 2021 and
therefore was required to adopt the standard for the year ending December 31, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not have
an impact on consolidated financial statements.

&RSRWDWM & RQYHWIRQ DQG 6 VRFN 6 SOV

On October 14, 2020, prior to the issuance of any of our shares of common stock in our initial public offering (the “IPO”), we
converted from a Delaware limited liability company to a Delaware corporation. In connection with the corporate conversion we
converted all 1,000 of our outstanding member units into 100,000,000 shares of common stock and then completed a stock split
of 1.19994-for-1. The corporate conversion and stock split representing 119,994,467 shares of common stock have been
adjusted retroactively for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share.

3UQFISBV Rl & RQVRIGDARQ

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Array Technologies, Inc. and its Subsidiaries. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

8 VHRI ( VWP DV

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
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contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include impairment of goodwill, impairment of long-lived assets, fair
value of contingent consideration, Series A Redeemable Preferred Stock and the related future tranche, allowance for credit
losses, reserve for excess or obsolete inventories, valuation of deferred tax assets and warranty reserve. Due to the COVID-19
pandemic, there has been and will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial markets.
Management has made estimates and assumptions taking into consideration certain possible impacts due to COVID-19. These
estimates may change, as new events occur, and additional information is obtained. Actual results may differ from previously
estimated amounts, and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements; however, management
believes that these estimates and assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period they
occur.

,P SDFVRI &2 9’ 3DQGHP LF

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019, or COVID-19, surfaced
in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to multiple countries, including the United States. On March 11, 2020, the
World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. Due to economic conditions our industry has seen rapid commodity
price increases and strained logistics, causing us to experience temporary decreased margins and thus decreased cash from
operations which has adversely impacted our business. In addition, due to global tightening of supply chain and strained
logistics issues we have experienced an increase in our unbilled revenues and also in some instances incurred liquidated
damages. We have taken, and continue to take, mitigating steps to overcome the economic challenges and, therefore, believe
the impact to be temporary, but cannot be certain the timing of when we will achieve better margins.

The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity and financing options available and expects to have sufficient liquidity to operate
for the next 12 months. The Company expects to use cash generated from operations and if needed, can access funds from the
Revolving Credit Facility. The Company also has $100 million in delayed draw ability under the Series A Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock future draw commitment, however this would increase the Company’s dividend obligations and outstanding
common stock. The Revolving Credit Facility has $186.4 million of availability; however the Company may have limited ability to
draw on the funds due to debt covenants. The Company has implemented adjustments to its operations designed to keep
employees safe and comply with federal, state and local guidelines, including those regarding social distancing. The extent to
which COVID-19 may further impact the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows will
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. In response to COVID-19,
the United States government has passed legislation and taken other actions to provide financial relief to companies and other
organizations affected by the pandemic.

&DVK DQG &DVK ( TXLYDBIQW

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

$ FFRXQW 5 HFHYDE®

The Company’s accounts receivable are due primarily from solar contractors across the United States and internationally. Credit
is extended in the normal course of business based on evaluation of a customer’s
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financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. Trade receivables consist of uncollateralized customer obligations
due under normal trade terms requiring payment within 30-60 days of the invoice date. Management regularly reviews
outstanding accounts receivable and provides for estimated credit losses through an estimate of expected credit losses
valuation account. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from a financial asset’'s amortized cost
to present the net amount we expect to collect from the asset. We estimate allowances for credit losses using relevant available
information from both internal and external sources. We monitor the estimated credit losses associated with our trade accounts
receivable and unbilled accounts receivable based primarily on our collection history and the delinquency status of amounts
owed to us, which we determine based on the aging of such receivables. In evaluating the level of established reserves,
management makes judgments regarding the customers’ ability to make required payments, economic events, and other
factors. As the financial conditions of these customers change, circumstances develop, or additional information becomes
available, adjustments to the valuation account may be required. When deemed uncollectible, the receivable is charged against
the valuation account for credit losses or directly written off. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the valuation account was $0.1
million and $0.7 million, respectively.

Unbilled receivables, which represent temporary timing differences between shipments made and billing milestones achieved,
were $111.2 million and $18.1 million of the accounts receivable balances as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
These amounts have not been billed because we are waiting for agreed upon billing stipulations such as billing on a specified
date of the month or upon completion of mega-watt deliveries. The unbilled balance has increased as of December 31, 2021
due to global challenges with supply chain logistics and labor shortages in some instances causing delays in delivering specific
components to complete a mega-watt delivery. These will be invoiced once the commercial criteria have been met at which point
we will invoice and expect payment within 30 to 60 days.

Amounts retained by project owners under contracts and included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were
$13.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively. Such retention amounts represent funds withheld by our customers until the
products are installed by a third-party, arranged by the customer, and the project is declared operational. Retention amounts and
length of retention periods may vary. All retention amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2021 are collectible within the next
12 months.

The following is the activity of the reserve for credit losses on accounts receivable which includes trade accounts receivable and
unbilled accounts receivable (in thousands):

" HFHP EHU
Beginning balance $ 663
Provision for credit losses (303)
Collected (130)
Written-off (90)
Ending balance $ 140

The following is the activity of the allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):
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' HFHP EHU
Beginning balance $ 162
Provision for bad debts 847
Collected (242)
Written-off (104)
Ending balance $ 663

,QYHARUHV

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable
value using the weighted average method. Provisions are made to reduce excess or obsolete inventories to their estimated net
realizable values. See Note 3 for a detail of the components that comprise the inventory balance presented on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

3WRSHW 3 @QAADQG (| TXISP HQW

Property, plant and equipment acquired in the acquisition of Array are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition net of
accumulated depreciation and amortization; all other property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Improvements, betterments and replacements which significantly extend the life of an asset are
capitalized. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

A gain or loss on the sale of property, plant and equipment is calculated as the difference between the cost of the asset
disposed of, net of depreciation, and the sales proceeds received. A gain or loss on an asset disposal is recognized in the
period that the sale occurs.

,P SDILP HOWR! / RQJ / LYHG $ WHW

When events, circumstances or operating results indicate that the carrying values of long-lived assets might not be recoverable
through future operations, the Company prepares projections of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the
use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If the projections indicate that the recorded amounts are not expected to be
recoverable, such amounts are reduced to estimated fair value. Fair value is estimated based upon internal evaluation of each
asset that includes quantitative analyses of net revenue and cash flows, review of recent sales of similar assets and market
responses based upon discussions in connection with offers received from potential buyers. Management determined there was
no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

* RRG&Z LD

Goodwill reflects the excess of the consideration transferred, including the fair value of any contingent consideration over the
assigned fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, and is assigned to the reporting unit and
tested for impairment at least on an annual basis. Goodwill is assessed using either a qualitative assessment or quantitative
approach to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount.
The qualitative assessment evaluates factors including macroeconomic conditions, industry-specific and company-specific
considerations,
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legal and regulatory environments, and historical performance. If the Company determines that is more likely than not that the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a quantitative assessment is performed. Otherwise, no further
assessment is required. The quantitative approach compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. Impairment is indicated if the estimated fair value or the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount of the
reporting unit, and an impairment charge is recognized for the differential.

The Company completes its annual goodwill impairment test as of year-end. At December 31, 2021, the Company performed
both a qualitative and quantitative test for impairment of goodwill and no impairment was recorded. At December 31, 2020, the
Company performed a qualitative assessment of its goodwill and no impairment was recorded. At December 31, 2019, the
Company performed a quantitative assessment of its goodwill and no impairment was recorded.

$ P RUA] DE®! DQG 2 WHU, QEIQI LEBI $ WHW

The Company amortizes identifiable intangible assets consisting of developed technology, customer relationships, contractual
backlog and internal-use software modifications because these assets have finite lives. The Company’s intangible assets with
finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. The basis of amortization approximates the
pattern in which the assets are utilized, over their estimated useful lives.

The Array Technologies trade name has been determined to have an indefinite life and, therefore, is not amortized but is subject
to an annual impairment test or at any other time when impairment indicators exist. The Company completed its annual
impairment test for its non-amortizable asset (Trade Name) by comparing the estimated fair value to the carrying value of such
asset. Based on the results of the tests, the Company did not recognize any impairment charges for the years ended December
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

" HHUHG 2 [1HUQJ) &RW

Deferred offering costs consist primarily of registration fees, filing fees, listing fees, specific legal and accounting costs, and
transfer agent fees, which are direct and incremental fees related to the offerings. Deferred offering costs were offset against the
proceeds.

' HEW LVFRXQADQG ) LODQFIQ) &RW

Debt discount and financing costs incurred to issue debt are deferred and amortized using the effective interest method as a
component of interest expense over the life of the related debt agreement. Amortization expense and write-off of debt discount
and deferred financing costs was $15.0 million, (including $9.6 million in write-offs in connection with unscheduled principal
payoffs that occurred in February and August of 2021 — see Notes 9 and 10), $3.4 million and $4.0 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

5 HYHQXH 5 HFRJ QMRQ

Under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), the Company recognizes revenues from the sale of
solar tracking systems and parts and determines its revenue recognition through the following steps (i) identification of the
contract or contracts with a customer, (ii) identification of the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determination of
the transaction price, (iv) allocation of the transaction price
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to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognition of revenue when, or as the performance obligation has
been satisfied.

3 HURWP DQFH 2 EQ DIRQY

The majority of the Company’s contracts with customers are accounted for as one performance obligation, because the
Company is integrating the solar tracking system components and related services as part of a single project. Certain contracts
associated with customers using the federal investment tax credit (“ITC”) for solar energy projects and other standalone tracker
component sales are accounted for as multiple performance obligations because the delivery of the components and other
services specified in the contract do not represent a single integrated project.

For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance
obligation using its best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The Company
uses the expected cost-plus margin approach to estimate the standalone selling price of each performance obligation.

In contracts with one performance obligation, the Company’s performance obligation is satisfied over-time as control is
transferred to the customer by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using an input
(i.e., “cost to cost”) method. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress towards completion is measured
based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation.

Revenue recognized for the Company’s ITC related contracts and standalone system component sales are recorded at a point
in time and recognized when obligations under the terms of the contract with our customer are satisfied. Generally, this occurs
with the transfer of control of the asset, which is typically upon delivery to the customer in line with shipping terms. In certain
situations, when product is still in our custody, and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer (known as bill-and-hold
arrangement), revenue will be recognized when all the specific requirements for transfer of control under a bill-and-hold
arrangement have been met. The Company had $168.9 million in contracts with customers for the sale of goods and services
that contained bill-and-hold obligations such as storage, handling and other custodial duties. Any losses incurred on point-in-
time projects are recognized as the goods are delivered.

In assessing the recognition of revenue, the Company also evaluates whether two or more contracts should be combined and
accounted for as one contract and if the combined or single contract should be accounted for as multiple performance
obligations which could change the amount of revenue and profit (loss) recorded in a period.

Contracts are often modified through change orders to account for changes in specifications or design, manner of performance,
equipment, materials, scope of work, and/or the period of completion of the project. Although the Company evaluates each
change order to determine whether such modification creates a separate performance obligation, the majority of change orders
are for goods or services that are not distinct within the context of the original contract and, therefore, not treated as separate
performance obligations but rather as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation.

We account for shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as costs to fulfill our promise to transfer the
associated products. Accordingly, we record amounts billed for shipping and handling costs as a component of revenue, and
classify such costs as a component of cost of revenue.
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& RQADAW WP DIV

Accounting for contracts utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress is based on various assumptions to project the outcome
of future events that can exceed a year. These assumptions include the cost and availability of materials. The Company reviews
and updates its contract-related estimates on an ongoing basis and recognizes adjustments for any project specific facts and
circumstances that could impact the measurement of the extent of progress, such as the total costs to complete the contracts,
under the cumulative catch-up method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized
in the period the adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the
adjusted estimate. If at any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company
recognizes the total loss in the period it is identified. At contract inception, any variable consideration such as liquidated
damages are estimated based on probability of occurrence and then re-evaluated for probability at the end of the quarterly
period.

& ROMDPVEDDFHV

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled accounts
receivable for goods delivered but not invoiced, and deferred revenue (contract liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheets.
The maijority of the Company’s contract amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual
terms, which generally coincide with the shipment of one or more phases of the project. Billing sometimes occurs subsequent to
revenue recognition, resulting in unbilled accounts receivable. The changes in unbilled accounts receivable and the
corresponding amounts recorded in revenue relate to fluctuations in the timing and volume of billings for the Company’s revenue
recognized over-time. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, unbilled accounts receivable totaled $111.2 million
and $18.1 million, respectively, are included within accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets on a contract-by-
contract basis at the end of the reporting period. The Company also receives advances or deposits from its customers, before
revenue is recognized, resulting in contract liabilities. The changes in contract liabilities (i.e. deferred revenue) relate to
advanced orders and payments received by the Company and are the result of customers looking to take advantage of certain
U.S. federal tax incentives set to decrease at the end of 2019 and 2020. Based on the terms of the tax incentives the customer
must pay for the goods prior to December 31, 2019 and 2020, which accounts for the increase in the advanced orders and
payments and the resulting deferred revenue at December 31, 2019 and 2020 and subsequent reduction for deliveries which
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2021. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, contract
liabilities consisting of deferred revenue were $99.6 million and $149.8 million, respectively and were recorded on a contract-by-
contract basis at the end of each reporting period. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company
converted $149.8 million and $328.8 million deferred revenue to revenue, respectively, which represented 100% of the prior
years deferred revenue balance.

5 HP DIQQY 3 HURWP DQFH 2 EQI DIRQYY

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $301.5 million of remaining performance obligations. The Company expects to
recognize revenue on 100% of these performance obligations in the next twelve months.

: DUDQW 2 EQ) DARQV

The Company offers an assurance type warranty for its products against manufacturer defects and does not contain service
elements. For these assurance type warranties, a provision for estimated future costs related to warranty expense is recorded
when they are probable and reasonably estimable, which is typically when
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products are delivered. This provision is based on historical information on the nature, frequency and average cost of claims for
each product line. When little or no experience exists for an immature product line, the estimate is based on comparable product
lines. These estimates are re-evaluated on an ongoing basis using best-available information and revisions to estimates are
made as necessary.

QFRP H7D HV

The Company provides for income taxes based on the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, which, among other
things, requires that recognition of deferred income taxes be measured by the provisions of enacted tax rates in effect at the
date of the consolidated financial statements. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce deferred income tax assets if it is
more likely than not that all, or some portion, of such deferred tax assets will not be recognized. Provision for estimated income
taxes is based upon elements of income and expense reported in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company also
files certain corporate state income tax returns. Generally, the Company is subject to examination by U.S. federal (or state or
local) income tax authorities for three years from the filing of a tax return. The current provision for income taxes represents
actual or estimated amounts payable on tax return filings each year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the
estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The change in deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the period measures the deferred tax provision or benefit for the period. Effects of changes in enacted
tax laws on deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected as adjustments to the tax provision or benefit in the period of
enactment. Adjustments for penalties and interest, if any, are also reflected in the current year tax provision or benefit.

The Company determines whether uncertain tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the interest expense line and other
expense line, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the
related liability lines in the consolidated balance sheets.

( TXIW %DVHG &RP SHOVDARQ

The Company recognizes equity-based compensation expense based on the equity award’s grant date fair value. The
determination of the fair value of equity awards issued to employees of the Company is based upon the underlying share price
and a number of assumptions, including volatility, performance period, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The
Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The grant date fair value of each unit is amortized on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period.

7HP SRIDY ( TXIW

Equity instruments that are redeemable for cash or other assets are classified as temporary equity if the instrument is
redeemable, at the option of the holder, at a fixed or determinable price on a fixed or determinable date or upon the occurrence
of an event that is not solely within the control of the issuer. Redeemable equity instruments are initially carried at the fair value
of the equity instrument at the issuance date, which is subsequently adjusted at each balance sheet date if the instrument is
currently redeemable, or probable of becoming redeemable. The Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock issued in
connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement as described in Note 11 is classified as temporary equity in the
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accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company elected the accreted redemption value method under which it
accretes changes in redemption value over the period from the date of issuance of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock to the earliest costless redemption date (the fifth anniversary) using the effective interest method. Such
adjustments are included in preferred undeclared dividends and accretion on Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock
on the Company’s consolidated statements of changes in equity and treated similarly to a dividend on preferred stock for GAAP
purposes.

( DIV SHUGKDWH 3( 36°

Basic earnings per share, or EPS, is computed by dividing net income available to shareholders by the weighted average shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS takes into account the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue shares, such as stock options, unvested restricted stock, or convertible debt, were exercised and converted
into shares. The convertible debt is not currently convertible. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income available to
shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period, increased by the number of additional shares that
would have been outstanding if the potential shares had been issued and were dilutive.

& UHGIV& ROFHOWDARQ

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash,
and accounts receivable. The Company has no significant off balance sheet concentrations of credit risk. The Company
maintains its cash with financial institutions that are believed to be of high credit quality and has not experienced any material
losses relating to any cash. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $367.2 million and $108.2 million, respectively,
of the Company’s bank balances were uninsured and uncollateralized and exposed to custodial credit risk.

The Company’s customer base consists primarily of solar contractors and utilities. The Company does not require collateral on
its trade receivables. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers
constituted 12.6% and 46.0% of total revenues, respectively. Two customers made up 22.7% of revenue and are the only
customers greater than 10% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers constituted 11.2% and 40.9% of total revenues, respectively. Two
customers made up 21.5% of revenue and are the only customers constituting greater than 10% of total revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers
constituted 17.2% and 50.1% of total revenues, respectively. Two customers make up 28.7% of revenue and are the only
customers constituting greater than 10% of total revenue. The loss of any one of the Company’s top five customers could have a
materially adverse effect on the revenues and profits of the Company. Further, the Company’s trade accounts receivable are
from companies within the solar industry and, as such, the Company is exposed to normal industry credit risks. As of December
31, 2021, the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers constituted 17.6% and 44.6% of trade accounts
receivable, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s largest customer and five largest customers constituted 0.1%
and 20.9% of trade accounts receivable, respectively. The Company continually evaluates its reserves for potential credit losses
and establishes reserves for such losses.

) DIU9DOXH

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The Company follows a fair value
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hierarchy which requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs
when measuring fair value.

Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value, as follows:

* / HYHO - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

* / HYHO - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

+ |/ HYHO - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

Assets valued using Level 1 inputs are determined by quoted market prices derived from an active market and Level 2 inputs
are based primarily on quoted prices for similar assets in active or inactive markets. Level 3 inputs are valued by management’s
assumptions about the assumptions the market participants would utilize in pricing the asset.

The fair values of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate their carrying values due to
their short maturities. The carrying value of the Company’s notes payable, capped call, and related party loans approximates
their fair values, as they are based on current market rates at which the Company could borrow funds with similar terms.

The Company follows the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 820-10 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on
a non-recurring basis. As it relates to the Company, this applies to certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities acquired in business
combinations and measurement of goodwill impairment and non-amortizable intangibles and is thereby measured at fair value.
The Company has determined such fair value primarily by third-party valuations.

1HZ $ FFRXQWY 6\BQGDLGY
7R EH DGRSWG

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, %MCHW &RP EICDUWRQY 7RSIF $HRXQIY) 1RU&RQRDPAS WHW DQG
&RQADFW IDEIONAYV 1URP & RQADRW Z W & XWIRP HY which requires an acquirer in a business combination to recognize and
measure contract assets and contract liabilities in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606. ASU 2021-08
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 and early adoption is permitted. While the Company is continuing
to assess the timing of adoption and the potential impacts of ASU 2021-08, and continue to evaluate the impact that ASU 2021-
08 will have, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.
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, QYHORUHV

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

' HFHP EHU
Raw materials $ 85,470 $ 39,051
Finished goods 127,598 85,833
Reserve for excess or obsolete inventory (7,415) (6,425)
Total $ 205,653 $ 118,459
The following is the activity of the inventory reserve (in thousands):
' HFHP EHU
Beginning balance $ (6,425) $ (5,200)
Increases (1,766) (2,518)
Decreases 776 1,293
Ending balance $ (7,415) $ (6,425)
3WRSHW 3 @QNDQG ( TXLSP HQW
Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
( VWP DIMG
8 VHXQ UH " HFHP EHU
<HDW/

Land N/A $ 1,340 $ 1,340
Buildings and land improvements 15-39 2,451 2,486
Manufacturing equipment 7 13,924 13,261
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-7 476 443
Vehicles 5 161 140
Hardware and software 3-5 1,683 887
Assets in progress NA 1,880 —

Total 21,915 18,557
Less: accumulated depreciation (11,223) (8,783)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 10,692 $ 9,774

Depreciation expense was $2.4 million, $2.2 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, of which $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $1.8 million, respectively, was allocated to cost of revenues and $0.4 million,
$0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively, is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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* RRGZ L@DQG 2 WHU, QEIQI LEGI $ \WHW

* RRGZ L@

Goodwill relates to Former Parent’s acquisition of Array. At the acquisition date, July 8, 2016, goodwill was $121.6 million. At
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 goodwill totaled $69.7 million, net of accumulated impairment of $51.9 million and
is not deductible for tax purposes.

2 \WHU,QBQJ LE®! $ WHW
Other intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
( VWP DWMG
8 VHXQ UH - HFHPEHU
<HDW/
Amortizable:
Costs:
Developed technology 14 $ 203,800 $ 203,800
Customer relationship 10 89,500 89,500
Internal-use software modification 2.5 4,356 4,356
Total Amortizable Intangibles 297,656 297,656
Accumulated amortization:
Developed technology 79,790 65,233
Customer relationship 49,057 40,107
Internal-use software modification costs 4,356 4,356
Total Accumulated Amortization 133,203 109,696
Total Amortizable Intangibles, Net 164,453 187,960
Non-amortizable costs:
Trade name 10,300 10,300
Total Other Intangible Assets, Net $ 174,753  $ 198,260

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $23.5 million, $25.3 million and $25.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Estimated future annual amortization expense for the above amortizable intangible assets for the remaining periods through
December 31, as follows (in thousands):

$P RXQW

2022 $ 23,507
2023 23,507
2024 23,507
2025 23,507
2026 23,507
Thereafter 46,918

$ 164,453
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6 ,QYHWR HONQ ( TXIW 6 HFEXUMHYV

The Company made a $10.0 million and $2.0 million investment in preferred stock of a private company in February 2021 and
April 2021, respectively. The investment is accounted for in accordance with ASC 321 at its cost less any impairment. The
investment balance as of December 31, 2021 is $12.0 million and is recorded in other assets on the condensed consolidated
balance sheet. There is no impairment recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021.

JQFRP H7D HV

The provision for income taxes charged to operations consists of the following (in thousands):
<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Current Expense:

Federal $ 8) % 17,248 $ 1,709
State (668) 4,196 803
Foreign 60 — —
(616) 21,444 2,512

Deferred Expense (Benefit):
Federal (9,085) (2,799) 20,576
State (1,017) 60 1,746
(10,102) (2,739) 22,322
Total Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $ (10,718) $ 18,705 $ 24,834
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred Tax Assets:
Bad debts
Inventories
Accrued warranties
Accrued compensation
Accrued settlement
Net operating loss
Equity-based compensation
Lease liabilities
Premium on capped call
Interest expense carryforward
Other
Deferred Tax Assets
Valuation allowance
Deferred Tax Assets, net
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Property, plant, and equipment
Intangible assets
ROU assets
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Deferred Tax Asset (Liability), net

' HFHP EHU
$ 32 $ 156
2,411 2,050

1,242 841

315 271

— 524

1,044 506

948 154

2,661 —

12,356 —

5,301 —

275 239

27,485 4,741
(222) (208)

27,263 4,533

(1,083) (1,043)

(14,165) (16,604)

(2,670) —

(17,918) (17,647)

$ 9,345 § (13,114)
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A reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the federal statutory rate of 21% to actual income tax expense at the
Company’s effective rate is as follows (in thousands):
<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Income tax rate reconciliation

Income tax expense (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $ (12,835) $ 16,333 $ 13,562
State income taxes (1,545) 3,375 2,049
Permanent differences:
Derecognition of tax assets from IRS examination — — 9,284
Equity-based compensation 1,542 852 168
Contingent consideration 567 5,553 134
Credits (620) (79) (284)
Other nondeductible expenses 69 437 40
Effect of CARES Act — (6,608) —
Foreign income benefit — (1,201) (155)
Officer’'s compensation 435 — —
Transaction costs 950 — —
Change in valuation allowance 14 — (45)
Other 705 43 81
Total Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $ (10,718) $ 18,705 § 24,834

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in multiple states. The Company is no longer subject to
U.S. federal and state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2015.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had federal income tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately
$5.1 million. The Company has state income tax NOL carryforwards of approximately $9.7 million that will expire in future years
beginning in 2029.

Realization of deferred tax assets associated with federal and state net operating loss and federal tax credit carryforwards is
dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income of the appropriate type, and in the appropriate jurisdictions, to utilize them
prior to their expiration, if any. It is not more likely than not that deferred tax assets from certain state net operating loss and
federal tax credit carryforwards would be realized due to type and location of future earnings and as such the Company
increased the valuation allowance $14 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2021 and none for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

ASC 740, Income Taxes, addresses the determination of how tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return
should be recorded in the financial statements. In accordance with ASC 740, the Company must recognize the tax benefit from
an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by taxing
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company’s assessments of its tax positions in accordance with
ASC 740 did not result in changes that had a material impact on results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. The
Company had no unrecognized income tax benefits at either December 31, 2021 or 2020.
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On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act’) was enacted in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Among other things, the CARES Act provided the ability for taxpayers to carryback a net operating loss
(“NOL”) arising in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 to each of the five years
preceding the year of the loss. The Company generated a significant NOL during its tax year ended March 31, 2019 and filed a
carryback claim in June 2020 for this NOL. As a result of the carryback claim, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of
$10.7 million on its consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, resulting from the difference in
the current U.S. federal tax rate of 21% and the tax rate of 35% applicable in the carryback year.

The Company’s 2017 federal income tax return was selected for examination by the IRS in 2018. As a result of the examination,
an adjustment related to the value allocated to the developed technology for tax purposes was potentially required. During 2019,
the Company settled the 2017 examination and agreed to a reduction in the developed technology value from $210 million to
$188 million for federal income tax purposes. As a result of this change in the value of the acquired developed technology, the
Company reduced its NOL carryforwards by approximately $2.8 million for previously taken amortization and increased the
deferred tax liability related to the revised developed technology tax basis by approximately $4.6 million. In addition, the
Company will no longer receive tax basis upon payment of the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) liability, as such the related
deferred tax asset of $4.7 million for the TRA was also written off during 2019. The adjustments resulting from the change in
developed technology value have been recorded as an income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2020. Refer to
Note 16 - Commitments and Contingencies, for detail on the TRA, which was contingent consideration at the time of the Array
acquisition.

$FFXHG : DUDQW 5 HVHYH

The following table summarizes the activity related to the estimated accrued warranty reserve (in thousands):

' HFHP EHU
Beginning balance $ 3,049 $ 2,592
Provision for warranties issued 1,064 1,054
Payments (373) (496)
Warranty expirations (548) (101)
Ending balance $ 3,192 $ 3,049

6 HQIRU6 HFXUHG & UHGW DFLOW

Long term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
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" HFHP EHU

Term loan facility $ 326,775 $ 460,000
Revolving credit facility — —

326,775 460,000
Less discount and issuance costs (23,291) (31,717)
Long term debt, net of debt discount and financing costs 303,484 428,283
Less current portion of long-term debt (4,300) (4,313)
Long-term Senior Secured Credit Facility debt, net of current portion, debt
discount and financing costs $ 299,184 § 423,970

6 HOIRU6 HFXUHG & UHAW DFLOW

On October 14, 2020, the Company entered into a senior secured credit facility which was amended on February 23, 2021 by
the first amendment and on February 26, 2021 by the second amendment. The senior secured facility consisted originally of (i) a
$575 million senior secured seven-year term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and (ii) a $150 million senior secured 5-year
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Senior Secured Credit
Facility”). On February 23, 2021, the Company entered into the first amendment (“First Amendment”) to our Senior Secured
Credit Facility. The First Amendment, in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, lowers the London interbank offered rate floor to
50 basis points from 100 basis points and lowers the applicable margin to 325 basis points from 400 basis points per annum.
This results in our current rate on the Term Loan Facility decreasing to 3.75% down from 5% prior to the First Amendment. On
February 26, 2021, the Company entered into the incremental facility amendment No. 2 (the “Second Amendment”) to the
Senior Secured Credit Facility. The Second Amendment increases the $150.0 million Revolving Credit Facility from
$150.0 million to $200.0 million.

5 HYRO1QJ &WHAW DFLON

Under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company had a zero outstanding balance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
$13.6 million and $46.6 million in standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and availability of $186.4 and
$103.4 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

7HP / RDQ) DFLOW

The Term Loan Facility had a balance of $326.8 million and $460.0 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
Company made unscheduled payoffs of the Term Loan Facility during the year in the aggregate of $130.0 million which resulted
in the write-off of capitalized fees in the aggregate of $9.6 million. The Term Loan Facility accrued interest equal to applicable
margin of 1% plus base rate (2.75% and 4.00% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively). The balance of the Term Loan
Facility is presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net of debt discount and issuance costs of $23.3 million
and $31.7 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The debt discount and issuance costs are being amortized
using the effective interest method. The rate was 4.9% and 6.08% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Term
Loan Facility has an annual excess cash flow calculation, for which the prescribed formula did not result in requiring the
Company to make any advance principal payments for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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, QMU DWW

The interest rates applicable to the loans under the Term Loan Facility equal, at our option, either, (i) in the case of ABR
borrowings, the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate as of such day plus 50 basis points, (b) the prime rate and (c) the
adjusted LIBOR rate as of such day for a deposit in U.S. dollars with a maturity of one month plus 100 basis points, provided
that in no event shall the ABR be less than 150 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 300 basis points per
annum; or (ii) in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, the greater of (a) the London interbank offered rate for the relevant
currency, adjusted for statutory reserve requirements, and (b) 100 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 400
basis points per annum.

The interest rates applicable to the loans under the Revolving Facility equal, at our option, either, (i) in the case of ABR
borrowings, the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate as of such day plus 50 basis points, (b) the prime rate and (c) the
adjusted LIBOR rate as of such day for a deposit in U.S. dollars with a maturity of one month plus 100 basis points, provided
that in no event shall the ABR be less than 150 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 225 basis points per
annum; or (ii) in the case of Eurocurrency borrowings, the greater of (a) the London interbank offered rate for the relevant
currency, adjusted for statutory reserve requirements, and (b) 50 basis points, plus, in each case, the applicable margin of 325
basis points per annum.

The Term Loan Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.00% per annum of the
original principal amount of the loans funded thereunder. There is no scheduled amortization under the Revolving Credit Facility.

* XDUDQMHV DQG 6 HEXUMWY

The obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facility are guaranteed by ATI Investment Sub, Inc. and its wholly owned
domestic subsidiaries other than certain immaterial subsidiaries and other excluded subsidiaries. The obligations under the
Senior Secured Credit Facility are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of Array Tech, Inc.’s and the
guarantors’ existing and future property and assets, including accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, general intangibles,
intellectual property, investment property, other personal property, material owned real property, cash and proceeds of the
foregoing.

3 UHSD\ P HQW DQG $ P RWY DIRQ

Loans under the Revolving Credit Facility may be voluntarily prepaid in whole, or in part, in each case without premium or
penalty. Loans under the Term Loan Facility may be voluntarily prepaid in whole, or in part, in each case without premium or
penalty (other than a 1% premium with respect to prepayments on account of certain “repricing events,” subject to exceptions,
occurring within 12 months of the closing date of the Senior Secured Credit Facility).

The Senior Secured Credit Facility requires mandatory prepayments, but not permanent reductions of commitments thereunder,
for excess cash flow, asset sales, subject to a right of reinvestment, and refinancing facilities.

The Term Loan Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.00% per annum of the
original principal amount of the loans funded thereunder. There is no scheduled amortization under the Revolving Credit Facility.

5 HVMEYH & RYHQDQN DQG 2 \KHUO DAY/
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The Senior Secured Credit Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants including covenants that restrict our incurrence
of indebtedness, incurrence of liens, dispositions, investments, acquisitions, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, as
well as other negative covenants customary for financings of this type.

The Revolving Credit Facility also includes a springing financial maintenance covenant that is tested on the last day of each
fiscal quarter if the outstanding loans and certain other credit extensions under the Revolving Credit Facility exceed 35% of the
aggregate amount of commitments thereunder, subject to customary exclusions and conditions. If the financial maintenance
covenant is triggered, the first lien net leverage ratio will be tested for compliance not to exceed 7.10 to 1.00.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility also includes customary events of default, including the occurrence of a change of control.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all the required covenants.

Future maturities of the Senior Secured Credit Facility (in thousands):

$P RXQW

2022 $ 4,300
2023 4,300
2024 4,300
2025 4,300
2026 4,300
Thereafter 305,275

$ 326,775

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, interest expense related to all long-term debt totaled $35.7 million,
$11.3 million and $11.5 million, respectively, which consisted of cash interest, and amortization of the debt discount and
financing costs.

&RQYHME®!' HEW

' HFHP EHU
1% Senior unsecured convertible notes $ 425,000 $ —
Less: unamortized discount and issuance costs (13,137) —
1% Senior unsecured convertible notes, net () $ 411,863 $ —

() Effective interest rate for the Notes for the year ended December 31, 2021 was 1.5%.

On December 3, 2021 and December 9, 2021, the Company completed a private offering of $375 million and $50 million over
allotment, respectively, in aggregate principal amount of 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028 (the “Notes”) resulting in
proceeds of $364.7 million and $48.6 million, respectively, after deducting the original issue discount of 2.75%. The Notes were
issued pursuant to an indenture, dated December 3, 2021 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee.
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The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will mature on December 1, 2028, unless earlier converted
redeemed or repurchased. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 1.00% per year, payable semiannually in arrears on June 1 and
December 1 of each year, beginning on June 1, 2022.

The Notes were not convertible during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 and none have been converted to date. Also given
the average market price of the common stock has not exceeded the exercise price since inception, there was no dilutive impact
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

5 HGHP SWRQ

At any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding June 1, 2028, the Notes are convertible at
the option of the holders only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar
quarter ending on March 31, 2022 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of our common stock
for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and
including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion
price then in effect on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day
period (the “measurement period”) in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the
measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the
conversion rate for the Notes on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls such Notes for redemption, at any time prior to
the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date, but only with respect to
the Notes called (or deemed called) for redemption; or (4) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events as described in the
Indenture. On or after June 1, 2028 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the
maturity date, holders of the Notes may convert all or any portion of their Notes at any time regardless of the foregoing
circumstances. Upon conversion of the Notes, the Company will pay cash up to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to
be converted and pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash
and shares of the Company’s common stock, at the Company’s election, in respect of the remainder, if any, of the Company’s
conversion obligation in excess of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes being converted.

The Company may redeem (an “Optional Redemption”) for cash all or any portion of the Notes, at its option, on or after
December 6, 2025, if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion
price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period
(including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which
the Company provides notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. If the Company redeems less than all the
outstanding Notes, at least $100 million aggregate principal amount of Notes must be outstanding and not subject to redemption
as of the date of the relevant notice of redemption. No sinking fund is provided for the Notes.

The conversion rate for the Notes was initially 41.9054 shares of the Company’s common stock per $1,000 principal amount of
Notes, which was equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $23.86 per share of common stock or 10.1 million
shares of common stock. The initial conversion price of the Notes represented a premium of approximately 32.5% to the last
reported sale price of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on November 30, 2021. The conversion rate
for the Notes is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. In addition,
following
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certain corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date of the Notes or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption in
respect of the Notes, the Company will, under certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate of the Notes for a holder who
elects to convert its Notes (or any portion thereof) in connection with such a corporate event or convert its Notes called (or
deemed called) for redemption during the related Redemption Period (as defined in the Indenture), as the case may be.

If the Company undergoes a Fundamental Change (as defined in the Indenture), holders may require, subject to certain
conditions and exceptions, the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their Notes at a Fundamental Change
Repurchase Price (as defined in the Indenture) equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date (as defined in the Indenture).

The Indenture includes customary covenants and sets forth certain events of default after which the Notes may be declared
immediately due and payable and sets forth certain types of bankruptcy or insolvency events of default involving the Company
or its Significant Subsidiaries after which the Notes become automatically due and payable.

The Convertible Notes were evaluated for embedded derivatives noting there were none that needed to be bifurcated and
accounted for separately.

Interest expense on the convertible debt of $0.4 million was recognized for the Notes included contractual interest expense of
$0.3 million and the amortization of debt discount and issuance cost of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The
discount and issuance costs will be amortized over the life of the debt using the effective interest rate of 1.5%.

&DSSHG & DO

On November 30, 2021, concurrently with the pricing of the Notes, the Company also entered into privately negotiated capped
call transactions (the “Capped Calls”) with Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Credit Suisse Capital LLC, through its agent, Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., New York Branch (collectively, the “Counterparties”). The
Capped Calls each have an initial strike price of $23.8633 per share, subject to certain adjustments, which corresponds to the
initial conversion price of the Notes. The Capped Calls have initial cap prices of $36.0200 per share, subject to certain
adjustments. The Capped Calls cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, approximately 17.8 million shares of the Company’s
common stock. The Capped Calls are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to the common stock upon conversion of
any Notes and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted
Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap based on the cap price. The Company paid $52.9
million from the net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Notes to purchase the Capped Calls. The Capped Calls are
subject to either adjustment or termination upon the occurrence of specified extraordinary events affecting the Company,
including a merger event; a tender offer; and a nationalization, insolvency or delisting involving the Company. In addition, the
Capped Calls are subject to certain specified additional disruption events that may give rise to terminations of the Capped Calls,
including changes in law; failures to deliver; and hedging disruptions.

Certain Initial Purchasers under the Array Technologies, Inc. 1.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028 Purchase Agreement

and Counterparties under the confirmations entered into in connection with the Capped Calls, or their affiliates, have engaged
in, and may in the future engage in, other commercial dealings with the
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Company or its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. They have received, or may in the future receive, customary fees
and commissions for those transactions.

The Capped Calls meet the criteria in ASC 815-40 to be classified within Stockholders' Equity, and therefore was recorded to
additional paid in capital at the fair value on issuance which was equal to the premium paid. Due to the instrument being
classified in equity, it is not remeasured after issuance.

The Company made a tax election to integrate the Notes and the Capped Calls. The accounting impact of this tax election
makes the Capped Calls deductible as original issue discount interest for tax purposes over the term of the note, and results in a
$12.4 million deferred tax asset recorded as an adjustment to Additional paid-in capital on our Balance Sheet as of December
31, 2021.

5 HGHHP DE®! 3 HLSHWDOS IH HUHG

6 HUHV $ 5 HGHHP DE®I 3 HEHWDO3 LH HUHG

On August 10, 2021, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”)
pursuant to which on August 11, 2021, the Company issued and sold to certain investors (the “Purchasers”) 350,000 shares of a
newly designated Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of the Company, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series A
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock”), and 7,098,765 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(“Common Stock”), for an aggregate purchase price of $346.0 million (the “Initial Closing”). Further, pursuant to the Securities
Purchase Agreement, on September 27, 2021, the Company issued and sold to the Purchaser 776,235 shares of Common
Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $776 (the “Prepaid Forward Contract’). The Company used net proceeds from the
Initial Closing to repay $102.0 million, which was the amount outstanding under the Company’s existing revolving credit facility
and prepaid $100 million under the Company’s term loan. The Purchaser is entitled to designate one representative to be
appointed to the Company’s board of directors, and to appoint three non-voting observers to the Board, in each case until such
time as the Purchaser no longer beneficially own shares of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock with at least
$100 million aggregate Liquidation Preference (as defined below). The Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock has no
maturity date.

$ CAMRQDGE. BVIQIV

The Securities Purchase Agreement gives the Company the option to require the Purchaser to purchase, in one or more
additional closings, up to 150,000 shares, until June 30, 2023, of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and up to
3,375,000 shares of Common Stock (or up to 6,100,000 shares of Common Stock in the event of certain price-related
adjustments) (subject to certain equitable adjustments pursuant to any stock dividend, stock split, stock combination,
reclassification or similar transaction) for an aggregate purchase price up to $148 million (the “Delayed Draw Commitment”).

The Company evaluated the accounting for the instruments issued in the Securities Purchase Agreement and determined the
Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and Common Stock issued in the Initial Closing, as well as the Prepaid
Forward Contract, and Delayed Draw Commitment are freestanding instruments accounted for in equity.

The Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock is recorded in temporary equity on the consolidated balance sheets as it

has redemption features upon certain triggering events that are outside the Company’s
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control, such as a fundamental change. The proceeds of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, and transactions
costs and discount of $15.4 million have been allocated to each instrument based on its relative fair value. At the Initial Closing
date, $229.8 million was allocated to the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, $105.4 million to Common Stock,
$12.4 million to the Delayed Draw Commitment which was recorded as a debit to additional paid-in-capital, and $11.7 million for
a Prepaid Forward Contract.

" MEHQGV

On or prior to the fifth anniversary of the Initial Closing, the Company may pay dividends on the Series A Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock either in cash at the then-applicable Cash Regular Dividend Rate (as defined below), through accrual to the
Liquidation Preference at the Accrued Regular Dividend Rate of 6.25% (the “Permitted Accrued Dividends”), or a combination
thereof. Following the fifth anniversary of the Initial Closing, dividends shall be payable only in cash. To the extent the Company
does not declare such dividends and pay in cash following the fifth anniversary of the Initial Closing, the dividends accrue to the
Liquidation Preference (“Default Accrued Dividends”) at the then-applicable Cash Regular Dividend Rate plus 200 basis points.
In the event there are Default Accrued Dividends outstanding for six consecutive quarters, the Company, at the option of the
holder of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock (each a “Holder”), will pay 100% of the amount of Default Accrued
Dividends by delivering to the Holder a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient of (i) the amount of Default
Accrued Dividends) divided by (ii) 95% of the 30-day VWAP of the Common Stock (“Non-Cash Dividend”).

The “Cash Regular Dividend Rate” of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock means (i) initially, 5.75% per annum
on the Liquidation Preference and (ii) increased by (a) 50 basis points on each of the fifth, sixth and seventh anniversaries of the
Initial Closing and (b) 100 basis points on each of the eighth, ninth and tenth anniversaries of the Initial Closing. The “Accrued
Regular Dividend Rate” on the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock means 6.25% per annum on the Liquidation
Preference.

Dividends declared as of December 31, 2021 were $8.2 million and $8.1 million were paid.

The Series A preferred stock have similar characteristics of an “Increasing Rate Security” as described by SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin Topic 5Q, Increasing Rate Preferred Stock. As a result, the discount on Series A preferred stock is considered an
unstated dividend cost that is amortized over the period preceding commencement of the perpetual dividend using the effective
interest method, by charging imputed dividend cost against retained earnings, or additional paid in capital in the absence of
retained earnings, and increasing the carrying amount of the Series A preferred stock by a corresponding amount. The discount
of $120.2 million is therefore being amortized over five years using the effective yield method. The amortization in each period is
the amount which, together with the stated dividend in the period, results in a constant rate of effective cost with regard to the
carrying amount of the Series A preferred stock.

The Company has presented the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock in temporary equity and is accreting the
discount on the increasing rate dividends using the effective interest method. Such accretion totaled $7.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

The Company had no dividends accreted to the carrying value of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock the
regular cash rate of dividends of 5.75%, as they were paid as of the year ended December 31, 2021.

) HV
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Until June 30, 2023, the Company will pay the Purchaser a cash commitment premium on the unpurchased portion of Delayed
Draw Commitment as follows:

a. —% through the six-month anniversary of the Initial Closing;

b. 1.5% from the six-month anniversary of the Initial Closing through the 12-month anniversary of the Initial Closing; and

c. 3.0% from the 12-month anniversary of the Initial Closing through June 30, 2023.

The Company may terminate some or all of the Delayed Draw Commitment, from time to time, at its sole discretion.

5 DQNQJ DQG/ [TXIGDMRQ 3 UHHUHQRH

The Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock with respect to dividend rights and
rights upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company (a “Liquidation”).
Upon a Liquidation, each share of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock would be entitled to receive an amount per
share (the “Liquidation, Redemption or Repurchase Amount”) equal to the greater of (i) the Liquidation Preference of such
share, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends (including any Accrued Dividends) thereon and (ii) an amount in cash equal to the
sum of (a) 130.0% of the Initial Liquidation Preference (as defined below) of such share, minus (b) the cumulative amount of
cash dividends paid in respect of such share prior to such payment. As used herein, “Liquidation Preference” means, with
respect to any share of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, the initial liquidation preference of $1,000 per
share (the “Initial Liquidation Preference”) plus any Accrued Dividends of such share as of the time of determination.

5 HGHP SMRQS UKW

The Company may redeem all or any portion of the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock (in increments of not less
than $200 million based on the Liquidation Preference of such shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock to be
redeemed at such time (or such lesser amount to the extent the Company chooses to redeem all of the outstanding shares of
Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock)) for an amount in cash equal to the Liquidation, Redemption or Repurchase
Amount. Upon a “Fundamental Change” (involving a change of control, bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation of the Company as
further described in the Certificate of Designations), each Holder shall have the right to require the Company to redeem all or
any part of the Holder's Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock for an amount in cash equal to the Liquidation,
Redemption or Repurchase Amount.

9RWQY DQG & RQMHONG LIKW

Each Holder of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock will have one vote per share on any matter on which Holders of
Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class (as described below), whether at a
meeting or by written consent. The Holders of shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock do not otherwise have
any voting rights. The consent of the Holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Stock will be required for so long as the Threshold Amount remains outstanding for (i) amendments to the Company’s
organizational documents that have an adverse effect on the Holders, (ii) issuances by the Company of securities that are senior
to, or equal in priority with, the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, (iii) entrance into, or amendments to,
transactions with affiliates of the Company, (iv) incurrence by the Company of indebtedness, unless the Consolidated Total
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Certificate of Designations) would not exceed 8.5-to-1 after giving effect to such incurrence
(other than drawdowns by the Company under the Company’s current
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Revolving Credit Facility) or (v) any payment of dividends or making of distributions on equity securities of the Company ranking
junior to the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock or redemptions, purchases or direct or indirect acquisitions of such
equity securities ranking junior to or parity with the Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock by the Company, unless the
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Certificate of Designations) would not exceed 8.5-to-1 after giving effect to
such dividends, distributions, redemptions, purchases or acquisitions.

5 HODWG 3 DUV / RDQ

The Company had a senior secured promissory note, as amended, with a unit holder of Former Parent that had a balance, net
of debt discount and issuance costs, as of December 31, 2019 of $41.8 million for which the Company paid off the balance on
July 31, 2020 to settle the obligation with respect to the Senior Secured Loan. The Company paid interest expense for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 of $3.8 million and $7.3 million, respectively, which consisted of cash interest, PIK interest
and amortization of the debt discount.

&RP P RQ DQG 3 UIHHUHG 6 VRFN

$ XWRU] HG 6 KDUHV

On October 14, 2020, in connection with the IPO, a new Certificate of Incorporation became effective for the Company, which
authorized capital stock of 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
$0.001 par value.

&RP P RQ6WFN
9RIQJ 5 LIKW

Each holder of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held as of the applicable record
date on any matter that is submitted to a vote or for the consent of the stockholders of the Company.

" MEGHQGBV
The holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to share equally, on a per share basis, in such dividends and other distributions

of cash, property or shares of stock of the Company as may be declared by the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”), subject to the preferences applicable to holders of Preferred Stock.

/ ITXICDWRQ

In the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or winding up of the Company, all assets
of the Corporation of whatever kind available for distribution to the holders of Common Stock shall be divided among and paid
ratably to the holders of Common Stock, subject to the preferences applicable to holders of Preferred Stock.

3 IHHUHG 6 WFN

Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time by the Company for such consideration as may be fixed by the Board. The
Board is authorized to provide for one or more series of Preferred Stock and to fix the designation of such series, the voting
rights, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special
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rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of such series of Preferred Stock and the number of shares of
such series, as may be permitted under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The powers, preferences and
relative, participating, optional and other special rights of, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of each series
of Preferred Stock, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding.

5 HYHQXHV

Based on Topic 606 provisions, the Company disaggregates its revenue from contracts with customers by those sales recorded
over-time and sales recorded at a point in time. The following table presents the Company’s revenue disaggregated by sales
recorded over-time and sales recorded at a point in time (in thousands):

<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Over-time Revenues $ 626,057 $ 503,238 $ 493,633
Point in time Revenues 227,261 369,424 154,266
Total Revenue $ 853,318 $ 872,662 $ 647,899

As discussed in FN 22 to the consolidated financial statements, ITC-related contracts were determined to have multiple
performance obligations satisfied at a point in time instead of one performance obligation satisfied over time. Total revenue was
not impacted, but the disaggregated revenue information above for 2020 and 2019 has been revised to correct this error, which
resulted in $360.1 and $106.2 of revenue being reclassified from over-time revenue to point in time revenue for 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

& RODPVW/DDQRHV

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled receivables
(contract assets), and deferred revenue (contract liabilities) on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The majority of the
Company’s contract amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, which generally
coincide with the shipment of one or more phases of the project. Billing sometimes occurs subsequent to revenue recognition,
resulting in contract assets. The changes in contract assets (i.e., unbilled receivables) and the corresponding amounts recorded
in revenue relate to fluctuations in the timing and volume of billings for the Company’s revenue recognized over-time.

(DWRIQIV / RW SHUB KDWH
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share

amounts):
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<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

Net income (loss) $ (50,403) $ 59,073 39,745
Preferred dividends and accretion (15,715) — —
Net income (loss) to common shareholders (66,118) 59,073 39,745
YDVIF
Weighted-average shares 129,984 121,467 119,994
Earnings (loss) per share $ (0.51) $ 049 §$ 0.33
" IOOWMG
Weighted-average shares 129,984 121,467 119,994
Equity compensation dilutive securities — 47 —
Weighted average dilutive shares 129,984 121,514 119,994
Earnings (loss) per share $ (0.51) $ 049 $ 0.33

Potentially dilutive common shares issuable pursuant to equity-based awards of 227,253 were not included for the year ended
December 31, 2021 as their potential effect was anti-dilutive as the Company generated a net loss. There were no potentially
dilutive common shares issuable pursuant to our 1% Senior Notes as the stock price is below the strike price and the Company
generated a net loss.

The Company’s capped call option agreement entered into in December 2021 is not included in the calculation of the earnings
per share as the impact would be anti-dilutive. The potential shares issuable under the Company’s convertible 1% notes issued
in December 2021 are not included in the earnings per share calculation as the par value of the notes is required to be paid in
cash upon conversion and the stock price has not exceeded the conversion price on the notes at December 31, 2021.

There were 26,671,594 Class B units and 1,000 Class C units of Former Parent issued to certain employees or directors of the
Company which were not included in the calculation of basic or diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
as the Class B and Class C units do not represent potential units of the Company.

&RP P IM? HOW DQG & RQMQI HQFLHV

/ I DARQ

The Company, in the normal course of business, is subject to claims and litigation. The Company reviews the status of each
matter and assesses its potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, the Company would accrue a liability for the estimated loss.

On May 14, 2021, a putative class action was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against the
Company and certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933
(“Plymouth Action”). The Plymouth Action alleges misstatements and/or omissions in the Company’s registration statements and
prospectuses related to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s December 2020 offering (the “2020 Follow-On Offering”), and the
Company’s March 2021
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offering (the “2021 Follow-On Offering”) during the putative class period of October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021.

On June 30, 2021, a second putative class action was filed in the Southern District of New York against the Company and
certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule
10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 (“Keippel Action”). The Keippel
Action similarly alleged misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s registration statements and prospectuses
related to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s 2020 Follow-On Offering, and the Company’s 2021 Follow-On Offering during the
putative class period of October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021. On July 6, 2021, the Court entered an order that the Keippel
Action was in all material respects substantially similar to the Plymouth Action that both actions arise out of the same or similar
operative facts, and that the parties are substantially the same parties. The Court accordingly consolidated the Keippel Action
with the Plymouth Action for all pretrial purposes and, ordered all filings to be made in the Plymouth Action.

On July 16, 2021, a verified derivative complaint was filed in the Southern District of New York against certain officers and
directors of the Company (“First Derivative Action”). The complaint alleges: (1) violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 for misleading proxy statements, (2) breach of fiduciary duty, (3) unjust enrichment, (4) abuse of control,
(5) gross mismanagement, (6) corporate waste, (7) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, and (8) contribution under
sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

On July 30, 2021, a second and related verified derivative complaint was filed in the Southern District of New York against
certain officers and directors of the Company (“Second Derivative Action”). The complaint alleges: (1) violations of Section 14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for causing the issuance of a false/misleading proxy statement, (2) breach of fiduciary
duty, and (3) aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty. On August 24, 2021, the Second Derivative Action was consolidated
with the First Derivative Action, the Court appointed co-lead counsel, and the case was temporarily stayed pending the entry of
an order on all motions to dismiss directed at the pleadings filed in the Plymouth Action. The stay shall remain in effect until the
later of (a) the entry of an order on any motions to dismiss the Plymouth Action or, (b) to the extent the complaint in the
Plymouth Action is amended, the entry of an order on any motions to dismiss any such amended complaints in the Plymouth
Action.

On September 21, 2021, the Court appointed a group comprised of institutional investors Plymouth County Retirement
Association and Carpenters Pension Trust Fund for Northern California as lead plaintiff in the Plymouth Action. The deadline for
the lead plaintiff to file an amended complaint in the Plymouth action was originally November 19, 2021 but was subsequently
extended by agreement of the parties and further order of the Court.

On December 7, 2021, an amended class action complaint was filed by lead plaintiff in the Plymouth Action against the
Company and certain officers and directors alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated thereunder, and Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, on
behalf of a putative class of persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities during the
period from October 14, 2020 through May 11, 2021 (the “Consolidated Amended Complaint”). The Consolidated Amended
Complaint alleges misstatements and/or omissions in: (1) certain of the Company’s registration statements and prospectuses
related to the Company’s IPO, the Company’s 2020 Follow-On Offering, and the Company’s 2021 Follow-On Offering; (2) in the
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Company’s annual report and associated press release announcing results for the fourth quarter and full fiscal year 2020; and
(3) in the Company’s November 5, 2020 and March 9, 2021 earnings calls.

Consistent with the individual rules of practice for the Court in the Plymouth Action, on January 24, 2022, the defendants in the
Plymouth Action, including the Company and certain of its officers and directors named as defendants therein, served on lead
plaintiff and the Court a letter outlining why the Consolidated Amended Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety. Lead
plaintiff must respond to that letter on or before February 23, 2022, stating the extent, if any, to which lead plaintiff concurs with
the defendants’ objections and the amendments, if any, to be made to the Consolidated Amended Complaint to address them,
or else stating the reasons and controlling authority that lead plaintiff asserts supports the Consolidated Amended Complaint. If,
as a result of this exchange of letters, the parties have failed to resolve their dispute about the sufficiency of the Consolidated
Amended Complaint, then, on or before March 21, 2022, defendants must submit a letter to the Court setting forth the reason
why a motion dismiss is warranted.

At this time the Company believes that the likelihood of any material loss related to these matters is remote given the preliminary
stage of the claims and strength of the Company’s defenses. The Company has not recorded any material loss contingency in
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021.

& RQWQI HOA& RQVIGHIDARQ
70 5 HFHYDE®! $J UHP HQW

Concurrent with the Acquisition, Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) entered into a Taxes Receivable Agreement
(“TRA”) with the former majority shareholder of Array. The TRA is valued based on the future expected payments under the
agreement. The TRA provides for the payment by Array Tech, Inc. to the former owners for certain federal, state, local and non-
U.S. tax benefits deemed realized in post-closing taxable periods by Array, from the use of certain deductions generated by the
increase in the tax value of the developed technology. The TRA is accounted for as contingent consideration and subsequent
changes in fair value of the contingent liability are recognized in contingent consideration in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of the TRA was $14.6 million and $19.7
million, respectively.

Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by nature imprecise. The significant fair value inputs
used to estimate the future expected TRA payments to the former owners include the timing of tax payments, a discount rate,
book income projections, timing of expected adjustments to calculate taxable income and the projected rate of use for attributes
defined in the TRA.

Payments made under the TRA consider tax positions taken by the Company and are due within 125 days following the filing of
the Company’s U.S. federal and state income tax returns under procedures described in the agreement. The current portion of
the TRA liability is based on tax returns. The TRA will continue until all tax benefit payments have been made or the Company
elects early termination under the terms described in the TRA.

As of December 31, 2021, the undiscounted future expected payments through December 31, under the TRA are as follows (in
thousands):
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$P RXQW

2022 $ 1,773
2023 —
2024 3,533
2025 1,772
2026 1,774
Thereafter 11,5632

$ 20,384

( DU 2 XW IDELOW

The Company had a liability to the selling stockholders of Array for contingent consideration consisting of earn-out payments in
the form of cash upon the occurrence of certain events, including the sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance,
distribution or disposition of shares held by the acquirer to a third-party; initial public offering of the equity securities of Former
Parent, acquirer or the Company; the sale of equity securities or assets of Former Parent, acquirer or the Company to a third-
party; or a merger, consolidation, recapitalization or reorganization of Former Parent, acquirer or the Company. The maximum
aggregate earn-out consideration was $25.0 million. The earn-out liability was paid off in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2020.

The fair value of the earn-out liability was initially determined as of the Acquisition Date using unobservable inputs. These inputs
include the estimated amount and timing of future cash flows, the probability of a qualifying event occurring, and a risk-free rate
used to adjust the probability-weighted cash flows to their present value. Subsequent to the Acquisition Date, at each reporting
period, the earn-out liability was re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recorded in contingent consideration in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes the liability related to the estimated contingent consideration (in thousands):

& ROWQJ HOW
75% ( D 2 XW LDELON & ROVIGHIDWRQ
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 17,168 $ 442 $ 17,610
IRS Settlement (2,727) — (2,727)
Fair value adjustment 3,367 — 3,367
Balance, December 31, 2019 17,808 442 18,250
IRS Settlement 1,883 24,558 26,441
Fair value adjustment — (25,000) (25,000)
Balance, December 31, 2020 19,691 — 19,691
Fair value adjustment 2,696 — 2,696
Payments (7,810) — (7,810)
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 14,577 § — $ 14,577

The TRA and earn-out liabilities require significant judgment and are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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6 XUHW %RQG

The Company provides surety bonds to various parties as required for certain transactions initiated during the ordinary course of
business to guarantee the Company’s performance in accordance with contractual or legal obligations. As of December 31,
2021, the maximum potential payment obligation with regard to surety bonds was $160.4 million.

) DWUIDGHRI') LQDQFIDO,QVAKP HQW

The carrying values and the estimated fair values of debt financial instruments as of December 31 are as follows:

&DUY 1QJ
9DOH )DWODOH  &DUWYIQJ 9DXH ) DIU9DOXH
Convertible senior notes $ 411,863 $ 410,771 $ — $ —

The carrying values of the Company's revolving credit facility recorded in long-term debt on the Balance Sheet approximate fair
value due to the variable interest rate. The fair value of the Convertible senior notes is estimated using Level 2 inputs as they
are not registered securities nor listed on any securities exchange but may be traded by qualified institutional buyers.

( TXIW %DVHG &RP SHOVDARQ

30Q

On October 14, 2020, the Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) became effective. The 2020 Plan authorized
6,683,919 new shares, subject to adjustments pursuant to the 2020 Plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted an aggregate of 661,924 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to
employees and board of director members and 177,472 Performance Stock Units (PSUs) to certain executives. The fair value of
the RSUs is determined using the market value of common stock on the grant date. The PSUs cliff vest after three years and
upon meeting certain revenue and adjusted EPS targets. The PSUs also contain a modifier based on the total stock return
(TSR) compared to a certain Index which modifies the number of PSUs that vest. The PSUs were valued using a Monte-Carlo
simulation method with a volatility assumption of 66%, risk free interest rate of 0.28% based on the United States Treasury
Constant Maturity rates and no dividends paid assumption. Based on results achieved in 2021 and the forecasted amounts over
the remainder of the performance period, the Company does not expect the units to vest and therefore has recognized no
expense in 2021.
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Activity under the 2020 Plan was as follows:

: HIKWG $ YHIDIH
* LDQW DM) DU
1 XP EHURI 6 KDUHV 9DOXH

568V
Unvested, December 31, 2019 — —
Granted 500,006 $ 22.00
Vested — —
Forfeited — _
Unvested, December 31, 2020 500,006 $ 22.00
Granted 661,924 $ 23.17
Vested (157,473) $ 22.00
Forfeited (74,048) $ 27.51
Unvested, December 31, 2021 930,409 $ 22.39
: HIKWG $ YHIDIH

* LDQW DWA) DU
1 XP EHURI 6 KDUHV 9DOXH

368V
Unvested, December 31, 2020 = =
Granted 177,472 $ 28.25
Vested — —
Forfeited (29,785) 30.74
Unvested, December 31, 2021 147,687 $ 27.75

& MW %8 QW DQG &MW & 8 QW RI ) RUP HU3 DIHQW

The Company accounted for equity grants to employees (Class B units and Class C units, “the Units”, of Former Parent) as
equity-based compensation under ASC 718, &RP SHQDMRQ 6\RFN &RP SHOQDMRQ The Units contain vesting provisions as
defined in the agreement. Vested units do not forfeit upon termination and represent a residual interest in Former Parent. Equity-
based compensation cost is measured at the grant date fair value and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period, including those units with graded vesting with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital as a capital
contribution from Former Parent. However, the amount of equity-based compensation at any date is equal to the portion of the
grant date value of the award that is vested.

The Units issued to employees are measured at fair value on the grant date using an option pricing model. The Company
utilizes the estimated weighted average of the Company’s expected fund life dependent on various exit scenarios to estimate
the expected term of the awards. Expected volatility is based on the average of historical and implied volatility of a set of
comparable companies, adjusted for size and leverage. The risk-free rates are based on the yields of U.S. Treasury instruments
with comparable terms. Actual results may vary depending on the assumptions applied within the model.
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On November 19, 2019 and May 19, 2020, Former Parent issued 22,326,653 and 4,344,941, respectively, Class B units to
certain employees of the Company. On March 28, 2020, Former Parent issued 1,000 Class C units to a member of the board of
directors of Array Technologies, Inc.

On March 23, 2021, in connection with the closing of the 2021 Follow-on Offering, all of the outstanding Class B Units of Former
Parent were immediately vested per the terms of the equity awards, resulting in the Company accelerating the recognition of
expense of $8.9 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $16.3 million, $4.8 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, in equity-based compensation. At December 31, 2021, the Company had $16.8 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to RSU’s which is expected to be recognized over approximately 2.1 years. There were 103,833
forfeitures during the year ended December 31, 2021, and no forfeitures during 2020 and 2019.

/ HDVHV

Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASC 842 Leases using the modified retrospective approach. The Company
elected the use of the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which allows the Company not to
reassess whether a contract contains a lease, carry forward the historical lease classification and not reassess initial direct lease
costs. The Company also elected to apply the short-term measurement and recognition exemption in which the right-of-use
(“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities are not recognized for short-term leases. Adoption of this standard resulted in recording of
net operating lease ROU assets and corresponding operating lease liabilities of $13.2 million and $13.5 million, respectively.
The standard did not materially affect the consolidated statements of income and had no impact on the consolidated statements
of cash flows.

The following table summarizes the balances as it relates to leases at the end of the period (in thousands):
Location on the

consolidated balance sheet ' HFHP EHU
ROU Asset Other assets $ 11,245
Lease liability, current portion Other current liabilities $ 5,909
Lease liability, long-term portion Other long-term liabilities 5,359
Total lease liability $ 11,268

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at its inception. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are
recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU
assets also include any initial direct costs and prepayments less lease incentives. Lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. As the Company’s leases
generally do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its collateralized incremental borrowing rate based on the
information available at the lease commencement date, including lease term, in determining the present value of lease
payments. Lease expense for these leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Operating lease arrangements are comprised primarily of real estate and equipment agreements for which the right-of-use
assets are included in other assets and the corresponding lease liabilities, depending on their maturity, are included in accrued
liabilities or other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The details of the Company’s operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

<HDU(
" HFHP EHU
Operating lease expense $ 6,635
Variable lease expense 106
Short-term lease expense —
Total lease expense $ 6,741

The following table presents the maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):
Operating Leases

2022 $ 4,213

2023 1,782

2024 1,782

2025 1,027

2026 1,023

Thereafter 3,197

Total lease payments 13,024
Less: Imputed lease interest (1,756)
Total lease liabilities $ 11,268

The following table represents future minimum lease obligations under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31,
2020 (in thousands):

Operating Leases

2021 $ 6,663
2022 6,073
2023 893
2024 791
2025 15
Thereafter —
Total $ 14,435

The Company’s weighted-average remaining lease-term and weighted-average discount rate are as follows:
<HDU( QGHG
' HFHP EHU
Weighted average remaining lease-term 3.8 years
Weighted average discount rate 5%

Supplemental cash flow and other information related to operating leases are as follows (in thousands):
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<HDU(
" HFHP EHU
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 6,644
Non cash investing activities:
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets $ 17,363
5 HDWG 3 DUV 7 IDQVDRWRQV

$ FFRXQW 3 D\ DE®! 5 HDWIG 3 DUV

The Company had $0.6 million and $2.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, of accounts payable-related party
with the former shareholders of Array. The payables relate to a federal tax refund related to the pre-Acquisition periods,
restricted cash at Acquisition Date which were due to the sellers of Array upon release of the restriction offset by a receivable
related to a sales/use tax audit from the pre-Acquisition period for which the seller provided the Company with indemnification.

&RQVHQW HHV 5 HIWG 3 DUV

The Company incurred $2.2 million in consent fees with the former majority shareholder of Array to allow a carryback of post-
acquisition net operating losses to pre-acquisition periods under the CARES Act. The consent fee is included in accounts
payable — related party and other expense, net in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2020.

6 SHFIDO IMMEXWRQWR ) RUP HU3 DUHQW

On October 14, 2020, the Company issued a special distribution of $589 million to Former Parent (the “Special Distribution”).

5 HDWG 3DUV / RDQV  VHH 1 RWM

& RQMQ HOARRQVIGHIMRQ  VHH 1 RWM

* HRJ WSKIF ,Q RWP DWRQ

6 XP P DU LQRUWP DWRQ DERXW HRJ WDSKLF DUHDV

ASC 280 (“Segment Reporting”) establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments
are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by
the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company manages
its business on the basis of one operating and reportable segment and derives revenues from selling its product. The
Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States.

Revenues within geographic areas based upon Customers’ project location (in thousands):
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<HDU( QGHG' HFHP EHU

United States $ 826,639 $ 805,070 $ 563,157
Australia 5,509 45,216 51,531
Rest of the world 21,170 22,376 33,211
Total Revenue $ 853,318 $ 872,662 $ 647,899
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5 WP HQWS QDXGLMG
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During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
identified errors in the accounting for certain contracts under ASC 606. Specifically, certain contracts were inappropriately
combined with other contracts and ITC related contracts were determined to have multiple performance obligations satisfied at a
point in time instead of one performance obligation satisfied over time. The Company’s management and the audit committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors concluded that it is appropriate to restate the quarterly unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021 and September 30, 2021.

The following presents the restated quarterly unaudited financial statements as of March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021 and

September 30, 2021, as well as the statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2021, the three and six month
periods ended June 30, 2021 and the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2021.
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0 DUFK
LQWRXVDQGEV H FHSWEHUVKDUH DQG VKDUH DP RXQW $V 3HYIRXVO 5 HABWP HQW
XCQDXAWG 5 HSRUMG $ GHVW HOW $V 5 HWIMWG
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,133 $ 19,133
Accounts receivable, net 121,921 2,308 124,229
Inventories, net 124,705 124,705
Income tax receivables 4,155 4,155
Prepaid expenses and other 15,639 15,639
Total current assets 285,553 2,308 287,861
Property, plant and equipment, net 9,740 9,740
Goodwill 69,727 69,727
Other intangible assets, net 192,383 192,383
Other assets 25,873 25,873
Total assets $ 583,276 $ 2,308 $ 585,584
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 71,823 $ 71,823
Accounts payable - related party 2,608 2,608
Accrued expenses and other 34,551 34,551
Accrued warranty reserve 3,098 3,098
Income tax payable 10,224 657 10,881
Deferred revenue 89,880 89,880
Current portion of contingent consideration 9,567 9,567
Current portion of term loan 4,300 4,300
Other current liabilities 6,288 6,288
Total current liabilities 232,339 657 232,996
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability 13,043 (38) 13,005
Contingent consideration, net of current portion 10,272 10,272
Other long-term liabilities 6,055 6,055
Long-term debt, net of current portion, debt
discount and issuance costs 391,682 391,682
Total long-term liabilities 421,052 (38) 421,014
Total liabilities 653,391 619 654,010

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Preferred stock of 0.001 par value - 5,000,000 shares
authorized; none issued as of March 31, 2021 — —
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Common stock of $0.001 par value - 1,000,000,000
shares authorized; 126,994,467 shares issued as of
March 31, 2021

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $

Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net

Income tax receivables
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets

Total assets $

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $

Accounts payable - related party

Accrued expenses and other

Accrued warranty reserve

Income tax payable

Deferred revenue

Current portion of contingent consideration
Current portion of term loan

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability
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127 127
148,370 148,370
(218,612) 1,689 (216,923)
(70,115) 1,689 (68,426)
583,276 $ 2,308 $ 585,584
- XQ—|
$V 3UHYIRXVO 5 IVIWP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GMWR HOW $V 5 HSRUMG
17,682 $ 17,682
153,610 (3,972) 149,638
137,666 137,666
9,657 (1,735) 7,922
11,597 11,597
330,212 (5,707) 324,505
9,763 9,763
69,727 69,727
186,507 186,507
26,109 26,109
622,318 (5,707) $ 616,611
81,377 81,377
610 610
19,129 19,129
2,968 2,968
51,458 51,458
1,908 1,908
4,300 4,300
6,379 6,379
168,129 — 168,129
14,472 (1,896) 12,576



Table of Contents

$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

Contingent consideration, net of current portion 10,108 10,108

Other long-term liabilities 4,273 4,273

Long-term debt, net of current portion, debt

discount and issuance costs 493,945 493,945
Total long-term liabilities 522,798 (1,896) 520,902
Total liabilities 690,927 (1,896) 689,031

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Preferred stock of 0.001 par value - 5,000,000
gggqes authorized; none issued as of June 30,

Common stock of $0.001 par value - 1,000,000,000
shares authorized; 126,994,467 shares issued as

of June 30, 2021 127 127
Additional paid-in capital 149,893 149,893
Accumulated deficit (218,629) (3,811) (222,440)
Total stockholders’ deficit (68,609) (3,811) (72,420)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 622,318 $ (5,707) $ 616,611
6 HSWP EHU
$V 3HYIRXVO 5 HABMAP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GVW HOW $V 5 HWVIMWG

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 116,391 $ 116,391

Restricted cash — —

Accounts receivable, net 177,462 (7,354) 170,108

Inventories, net 173,126 173,126

Income tax receivables 6,453 1,029 7,482

Prepaid expenses and other 18,193 18,193

Total current assets 491,625 (6,325) 485,300
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,202 10,202
Goodwill 69,727 69,727
Other intangible assets, net 180,630 180,630
Other assets 24,405 24,405
Total assets $ 776,589 $ (6,325) $ 770,264

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY/(DEFICIT)

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 84,703 84,703
Accounts payable - related party 610 610
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

Accrued expenses and other

Accrued warranty reserve

Income tax payable

Deferred revenue

Current portion of contingent consideration

Current portion of term loan
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Contingent consideration, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion, debt
discount and issuance costs

Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock of
$0.001 par value - 500,000 authorized; 350,000
issued as of September 30, 2021; liquidation
preference of $352.8 million at September 30, 2021
Stockholders’ equity/(deficit)

Preferred stock of $0.001 par value - 4,500,000
Sggqes authorized; zero issued as of September 30,

Common stock of $0.001 par value - 1,000,000,000
shares authorized; 134,869,467 shares issued as of
September 30, 2021

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity/(deficit)

Total liabilities, redeemable perpetual preferred stock
and stockholders’ equity/(deficit)

31,256 31,256
3,025 3,025
629 629
81,347 81,347
2,168 2,168
4,300 4,300
6,457 6,457
214,495 — 214,495
6,583 (505) 6,078
10,784 10,784
2,953 2,953
299,212 299,212
319,532 (505) 319,027
534,027 (505) 533,522
235,278 235,278
135 135
251,330 251,330
(244,181) (5,820) (250,001)
7,284 (5,820) 1,464
776,589 $ (6,325) $ 770,264

F-55



Table of Contents

7KUHH 0 ROWY ( QGHG
0 DUFK

$UD 7THFKQR®RILHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \VAMP HQW

LQ WKRXVDQGV H[SHFW SHU VKDUH DQG VK DRM3HYERXZV Vv

XQDXGLWHG
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses

General and administrative

Contingent consideration

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Income from operations

Other expense
Other expense, net
Interest expense
Total other expense
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense

Net income

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average number of shares
Basic

Diluted

5 FVBWP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GMWWR HQW $V 5 HADWMG

245932 $ 2,308 $ 248,240
202,074 202,074
43,858 2,308 46,166
24,673 24,673

148 148

5,984 5,984
30,805 — 30,805
13,053 2,308 15,361
(78) (78)
(9,009) (9,009)
(9,087) — (9,087)

3,966 2,308 6,274

1,079 619 1,698

2,887 $ 1,689 4,576

0.02 $ 0.01 0.04

002 §$ 0.01 0.04
126,994 126,994 126,994
127,298 127,298 127,298
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \VAMP HQW

LQ WKRXVDQGV H[SHFW SHU VKDUH DQG VKDUH D FRA/OMNRXVO

XQDXGLWHG
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses

General and administrative

Contingent consideration

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Income (loss) from operations

Other expense
Other expense, net
Interest expense
Total other expense
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax benefit

Net loss

Loss per share
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average number of shares
Basic

Diluted
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7KUHH O RQMV ( QGHG
- XQH
5 HWIWMP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GAWR HOW $V 5 HAVIWG
202,796 $ (6,280) $ 196,516
176,009 176,009
26,787 (6,280) 20,507
15,113 15,113
(13) (13)
5,981 5,981
21,081 — 21,081
5,706 (6,280) (574)
(122) (122)
(6,651) (6,651)
(6,773) — (6,773)
(1,067) (6,280) (7,347)
(1,050) (780) (1,830)
(17) $ (5,500) $ (5,517)
— 3 (0.04) $ (0.04)
— $ (0.04) $ (0.04)
126,994 126,994 126,994
126,994 126,994 126,994
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

LQ WKRXVDQGYV H[SHFW SHU VKDUH DQG VKDUH DPRXBWIRXVO

XQDXGLWHG
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses

General and administrative

Contingent consideration

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other expense
Other expense, net
Interest expense

Total other expense
Loss before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net loss

Preferred dividends and accretion

Net loss to common shareholders
Loss per share

Basic

Diluted
Weighted average number of shares

Basic

Diluted
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7KUHH 0 ROWV ( QGHG
6 HS\WP EHU
5 HAIMWP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GMWWR HQW $V 5 HWIWMG
$ 192,068 $ (3,382) $ 188,686
182,789 182,789
9,279 (3,382) 5,897
18,493 18,493
936 936
5,984 5,984
25,413 — 25,413
(16,134) (3,382) (19,516)
(297) (297)
(13,109) (13,109)
(13,406) — (13,406)
(29,540) (3,382) (32,922)
(3,988) (1,373) (5,361)
$ (25,552) $ (2,009) $ (27,561)
(5,479) (5,479)
$ (31,031) $ (2,009) $ (33,040)
$ (0.24) $ (0.02) $ (0.25)
$ (0.24) $ (0.02) $ (0.25)
130,955 130,955 130,955
130,955 130,955 130,955
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$UD 7HFKQR®RJLHV ,QF DQG 6 XEMIGIDUHY
1 RMV VR & RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDOS WP HOW

61 0 ROWV ( QGHG
- XQH
LQ WKRXVDQGYV H[SHFW SHU VKDUH DQG VKDUH DP BX¥GUHVIRXVO 5 HABWP HQW
XQDXGLWHG 5 HSRUMG $ GAVW HOWV $V 5 HABMWG

Revenue $ 448,728 $ (3,972) $ 444,756
Cost of revenue 378,083 378,083

Gross profit 70,645 (3,972) 66,673
Operating expenses
General and administrative 39,786 39,786
Contingent consideration 135 135
Depreciation and amortization 11,965 11,965

Total operating expenses 51,886 — 51,886
Income (loss) from operations 18,759 (3,972) 14,787
Other expense
Other expense, net (200) (200)
Interest expense (15,660) (15,660)

Total other expense (15,860) — (15,860)
Income (loss) before income tax expense 2,899 (3,972) (1,073)
Income tax expense (benefit) 29 (161) (132)
Net income (loss) $ 2,870 $ (3.811) $ (941)
Earnings (loss) per share

Basic $ 0.02 $ (0.03) $ (0.01)

Diluted $ 0.02 $ (0.03) $ (0.01)
Weighted average number of shares

Basic 126,994 126,994 126,994

Diluted 127,203 127,203 127,203
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

LQ WKRXVDQGYV H[SHFW SHU VKDUH DQG VKDUH DP BX¥GUHVIRXVO

XQDXGLWHG
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Operating expenses

General and administrative

Contingent consideration

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Income (loss) from operations

Other expense
Other expense, net
Interest expense

Total other expense
Loss before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net loss

Preferred dividends and accretion

Net loss to common shareholders
Loss per share

Basic

Diluted
Weighted average number of shares

Basic

Diluted
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11QH0 RQMY ( QGHG
6 HSWP EHU
5 IDWP HOW
5 HSRUMG $ GMWR HOW $V 5 HAMG
$ 640,796 $ (7,354) $ 633,442
560,872 560,872
79,924 (7,354) 72,570
58,279 58,279
1,071 1,071
17,949 17,949
77,299 — 77,299
2,625 (7,354) (4,729)
(497) (497)
(28,769) (28,769)
(29,266) — (29,266)
(26,641) (7,354) (33,995)
(3,959) (1,534) (5,493)
$ (22,682) $ (5,820) $ (28,502)
(5,479) (5,479)
$ (28,161) $ (5,820) $ (33,981)
$ 0.22) $ (0.05) $ (0.26)
$ 0.22) $ (0.05) $ (0.26)
128,315 128,315 128,315
128,315 128,315 128,315
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$UD 7THFKQR®RILHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \VAMP HQW

6 VWP HQWRI &KDQJ HV 1Q 6 KDUHKR@HY ' HIIFIW7 KUHH O ROWYV ( QGHG 0 DUFK

LQ WKRXVDQGY VKDUH DPRXQWYV

XQDXGLWHG

$V 3HYIRXVO 5 HSRUMG

YDDQFH ' HFHP EHU

Equity based
compensation

Net Income

%DDQFH 0 DUFK

$ GAWR HOW
UDOQFH ' HFHP EHU

Net Income

7RG GXWVW HQW
$V 5 HWIMG
%DDMQFH ' HFHP EHU

Equity based
compensation
Net Income
Y%DOOQFH 0 DUFK
$V 5 HWIMG

3WHHUHG 6 \RFN &RPPRQ6WRFN  $GGEWRQDO
SDIG IQ SHEIQHG  7RWIOCE \RFNKRGHW
6 KDUHV $PRXQW 6KDHV $PRXQW FDSMBO  HDWQIQIV " HLFW
— 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)
— — — — 7,897 — 7,897
— — — — — 2,887 2,887
— 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 148,370 $ (218,612) $ (70,115)
— $ — — $ — $ — $ — —
— — — — — 1,689 1,689
— $ — — $ — $ — $ 1,689 1,689
— 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)
— — — — 7,897 — 7,897
— — — — — 4,576 4,576
— — 126,994 $ 127 $ 148,370 $ (216,923) $ (68,426)
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$UD 7HFKQR®RJLHV ,QF DQG 6 XEMIGIDUHY
1 RWV WR & RQVRAGDWG ) LODQFLDCE VM HOW

6 VWP HOWRI &KDQJ HV 1Q 6 KDUHKR@HWY ' HILFIW7 KUHH O RQMV ( QGHG - XQH

LQ WKRXVDQGV VKDUH DPRXQWYV
XQDXGLWHG 3 UHHUHG 6 VRFN &RP P RQ6\RFN $ GGMRQDO

SDGIQ  SHEIQHG  7RBOS \RFNKRGHUAT
HDLOQIV

$V 3HYIRXVO 5 HSRUMG 6 KDULHV $PRXQW 6KDHV  $PRXQW  FDSMEO " HLIFIW
YDOMQFH 0 DUFK — $ — 126,994 127 148,370 (218,612) $ (70,115)
Equity-based

compensation — — — — 1,523 — 1,523
Net loss — — — — — (17) (17)
YUDDMOFH - XQH — $ — 126,994 $ 127 $ 149,893 $ (218,629) $ (68,609)
$ GAWWR HOW

%DDQFH 0 DUFK — $ — — $ — $ — $ 1,689 1,689
Net loss — — — — — (5,500) (5,500)
7TRWCE GAWR HQWV — 5 — — 5 — 3 — $  (381) (3,811)
$V 5 HAVIMG

%DDQFH 0 DUFK — 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 148,370 $ (216,923) $ (68,426)
Equity based

compensation — — — — 1,523 — 1,523
Net loss — — — — — (5,517) (5,517)
YUDDQFH - XCH

$V 5 HWIMMG — — 126,994 $ 127 $ 149,893 $ (222,440) $ (72,420)
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

6 VWP HQWRI &KDQI HV 1Q 6 KDUHKR@GHY ( TXIW ' HIFIW 7 KUHHO ROWV ( QGHG 6 HSWP EHU

7HP SRWDY ( TXIW

3 HUP DOHQW( TXIW

LQ WKRXVDQGV \bkisidiP DEGI

DPRXQWYV
XQDXGLWHG

$V 3HYIRXVO
5 HSRUMG

UDDMQFH - XQH

Equity-based
compensation
Issuance of Series
A Preferred, net of
fees

Issuance of
common stock, net

Preferred
cumulative
dividends plus
accretion

Net loss
%DDQFH

6 HSWP EHU

$ GNWWR HOW

Y%DDQFH - XQH

Net loss

7RVECS GV HOW
$V 5 HWIMWG
%DDOFH - XQH

Equity based
compensation

6 HIHV $
3 HLBHWDO
3UHHUHG 6 \RFN 3 UHHUHG 6 \RFN &RP P RQ6\RFN  $GGMWRQDO
7RWIO
SDGIQ 5HEIQHG 6\RFNKRGHWA
6KDIHV $PRXQM 6KDIHV $PRXQN 6KDIHV $PRXQN FDSWMO HDWQQIV " HIFIW
— $ — — 9 — 126,994 127 149,893  (218,629) $ (68,609)
— — — — — — 2,160 — 2,160
350 229,799 — — — — — — —
— — — — 7,875 8 104,756 — 104,764
— 5,479 — — — — (5,479) — (5,479)
— — — — — — — (25,552) (25,552)
350 235,278 — 3 — 134869 $ 135 $ 251,330 $(244,181) $ 7,284
= — — $ — — 9 — 3 — $ (3,811) (3,811)
— — — — — — — (2,009) (2,009)
= — — $ — — — $ — $ (5,820) (5,820)
— — — 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 149,893 $(222,440) $ (72,420)
— — — — — — 2,160 — 2,160
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Issuance of Series A

$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

Preferred, net of fees 350 229,799 — — — — — — —
Issuance of common
stock, net — — — — 7,875 8 104,756 — 104,764
Preferred cumulative
dividends plus
accretion — 5,479 — — — — (5,479) — (5,479)
Net loss — — — — — — — (27,561) (27,561)
YDOQFH 6$HSWP EHU
Y
5 HAVEWG 350 235,278 — — 134,869 $ — $ 251,330 $(250,001) $ 1,464
6 VIMAP HOWRI & KDQJ HV 1Q 6 KDUHKKR@HY ' HIIFIW6 L[ 0 ROWYV ( QGHG - X(H
LQ WKRXVDQGV VKDUH DPRXQWYV
XQDXGLWHG 3 WHHUHG 6 \RFN &RP P RQ6\RFN $ GGMRQDO
SDIG 1Q S5HEIQHG  7RWIOE WRFNKRG@HUA
$VIWHYIRXVO 5HSRUMG 6 KDUHV $PRXQW 6KDIHY $PRXQW  FDSMRO HDLLQIV " HIFIW
%DOQFH ' HFHP EHU
— $ — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)
Equity-based
compensation — — — — 9,420 — 9,420
Net loss — — — — — 2,870 2,870
YDDMOQFH - XQH — 3 — 126,994 $ 127 $ 149,893 $ (218,629) $ (68,609)
$ GAWWR HOW
%DOQFH * HFHP EHU
— $ — — % — 8 — $ — $ —
Net loss — — — — — (3,811) (3,811)
7TRVECH GWWR HQW — $ — — — $ — $ (3811) $ (3,811)
$V 5 HWVIMG
UDOQFH ' HFHP EHU
— $ — 126,994 $ 127 $ 140,473 $ (221,499) $ (80,899)
Equity based
compensation — — — — 9,420 — 9,420
Net loss — — — — — (941) (941)
YDOQFH - XCH
$V 5 HAVIMG — — 126,994 $ 127 $ 149,893 $ (222,440) $ (72,420)
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1 RMV VR & RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDOS WP HOW

6 VWP HOWRI & KDQJ HV 1Q 6 KDUHKRGHY ( TXIW * HIFIW 110H0 RQWYV ( QGHG 6 HSWP EHU

7HP SRUDY ( TXIW 3 HP DOHQW( TXIW

6 HUHV $
LQ WKRXVDQGV \bdiohiP DEG
DPRXQWYV 3 HSHXDO
XQDXGLWHG 3 WHHUHG 6 WRFN 3WUHHUHG 6 \RFN &RP P RQ6WFN  $GGWRQDO

7TRWO

$V 3WHYIRXVO SDG 1Q S5HBIOHG 6 VRFNKR@HUA
5 HSRUMG 6KDIHV $PRXQM 6KDIHV $PRXQW 6KDIHV $PRXQW FDSMWO HDWQIQIV " HLIFIW
YDMQFH
' HFHP EHU

— $ — — $ — 126,994 127 140,473 $(221,499) $ (80,899)

Equity-based
compensation — — — — — — 11,580 — 11,580
Issuance of Series
A Preferred, net of
fees 350 229,799 — — — — — — —
Issuance of
common stock, net — — — — 7,875 8 104,756 — 104,764
Preferred
cumulative
dividends plus
accretion — 5,479 — — — — (5,479) — (5,479)
Net loss — — — — — — — (22,682) (22,682)
Y%DDQFH

6 HSWP EHU

350 235,278 — $ — 134,869 $ 135 § 251,330 $(244,181) $ 7,284

$ GNWWR HOWV

%DDQFH
" HFHP EHU

= — — % — — $ — 9% — $ — 9 —
Net loss — — — — — — — (5,820) (5,820)
7TRVICE GV HQW — — — 3 — —3$ -3 — $ (5820 % (5,820)
$V 5 HAMIMG

%DDQFH
" HFHP EHU

— — — $ — 126,994 $§ 127 $ 140,473 $(221,499) $ (80,899)
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Equity based
compensation
Issuance of Series A
Preferred, net of
fees

Issuance of common
stock, net

Preferred cumulative
dividends plus
accretion

Net loss

%DDQFH

6 HSWP EHU
$V 5 HWIMWG

$UD 7THFKQR®RILHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \VAMP HQW

— — — — — — 11,580 — 11,580
350 229,799 — — — — — — —
— — — — 7875 8 104,756 — 104,764
— 5479 — — — — (5,479) — (5,479)
— — — — — — —  (28,502) (28,502)
350 235,278 — — 134869 $ — $ 251,330 $(250,001)$— $ 1,464
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \VAMP HQW

6 VWP HQWRI &DVK ) BZV

LQ WKRXVDQGV $V 3WHYIRXVO

XQDXGLWHG

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net income $
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in
operating activities:
Recovery of bad debts
Deferred tax benefit
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Interest paid-in-kind
Equity-based compensation
Contingent consideration
Warranty provision
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Income tax receivables
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accounts payable - related party
Accrued expenses and other
Income tax payable
Lease liabilities
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investment in equity security

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Principal payments on term loan facility
Debt issuance costs

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of
period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $

7KUHH 0 RQMV ( QGHG
0 DUFK
5 HABMWP HQW
5 HSRUMG $ GAWR HOW $V 5 HWIWMG

2,887 $ 1,689 $ 4,576
(535) (535)
(71) (38) (109)
6,481 6,481
3,586 3,586
7,911 7,911
148 148
302 302
(2,692) (2,308) (5,000)
(6,246) (6,246)
13,003 13,003
(3,216) (3,216)
(10,556) (10,556)
5,134 5,134
1,410 657 2,067
247 247
(59,941) — (59,941)
(42,148) = (42,148)
(570) (570)
(10,000) (10,000)
(10,570) — (10,570)
(30,000) (30,000)
(6,590) (6,590)
(36,590) — (36,590)
(89,308) — (89,308)
108,441 108,441
19,133 $ — 19,133
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

LQ WKRXVDQGYV
XQDXGLWHG

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net income

6WDWHPHQW RI &DVK J)ORZYV

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in

operating activities:
Recovery of bad debts
Deferred tax benefit
Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs

Interest paid-in-kind

Equity-based compensation
Contingent consideration

Warranty provision

Provision for inventory obsolescence

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Income tax receivables

Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable

Accounts payable - related party
Accrued expenses and other
Income tax payable

Lease liabilities

Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Investment in equity security

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Principal payments on term loan facility
Payments on related party loans
Contingent consideration
Debt issuance costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash

61 0 RQKV ( QGHG
- XQ—|
$V 3 HYIRXVO 5 HAVEWP HQW
5 HSRUMG $ GMWWR HQW $V 5 HMWIG
$ 2,870 $ (3,811) $ (941)
(551) (551)
1,358 (1,896) (538)
12,964 12,964
5,118 5,118
9,467 9,467
135 135
425 425
1,236 1,236
(34,365) 3,972 (30,393)
(20,443) (20,443)
7,501 1,735 9,236
826 826
(1,378) (1,378)
(1,622) (1,622)
(10,541) (10,541)
(8,814) (8,814)
68 68
(98,363) — (98,363)
(134,109) — (134,109)
(1,200) (1,200)
(11,975) — (11,975)
(13,175) — (13,175)
102,000 102,000
(31,075) (31,075)
(7,810) — (7,810)
(6,590) — (6,590)
56,525 — 56,525
(90,759) — (90,759)
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$UD 7THFKQR®RIIHV ,QF DQG 6 XEVIGIDUHV
1 RWV \R &RQVRIGDWG ) LQDQFLDCE \AMP HQW

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of
period 108,441 108,441

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 17,682 $ — $ 17,682

6 VWP HOWRI &DVK ) BZV

110H0 RQWYV ( QGHG
6 HSWP EHU
LQ WKRXVDQGYV $V 3HYIRXVO 5 HABWP HQW
XQDXGLWHG 5 HSRUMG $ AW HOW $V 5 HABWMG
Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss $ (22,682) $ (5,820) $ (28,502)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
used in operating activities:
Recovery of bad debts (574) (574)
Deferred tax benefit (6,531) (505) (7,036)
Depreciation and amortization 19,454 19,454
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 13,653 13,653
Interest paid-in-kind — —
Equity-based compensation 11,706 11,706
Contingent consideration 1,071 1,071
Warranty provision 305 305
Provision for inventory obsolescence 654 654
Changes in operating assets and liabilities —
Accounts receivable (58,194) 7,354 (50,840)
Inventories (55,321) (55,321)
Income tax receivables 10,705 (1,029) 9,676
Prepaid expenses and other (5,770) (5,770)
Accounts payable 1,948 1,948
Accounts payable - related party (1,622) (1,622)
Accrued expenses and other 1,683 1,683
Income tax payable (8,185) (8,185)
Lease liabilities 337 337
Deferred revenue (68,474) — (68,474)
Net cash used in operating activities (165,837) — (165,837)
Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,252) (2,252)
Investment in equity security (11,975) (11,975)
Net cash used in investing activities (14,227) — (14,227)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from revolving credit facility 102,000 102,000
Principal payments on term loan facility (132,150) (132,150)
Proceeds from Series A issuance 224,987 224,987
Proceeds from common stock issuance 120,645 120,645
Series A equity issuance costs (7,195) (7,195)
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Common stock issuance costs (3,873) (3,873)
Payments on revolving credit facility (102,000) (102,000)
Payments on related party loans — —
Contingent consideration (7,810) (7,810)
Deferred offering costs — —
Debt issuance costs (6,590) — (6,590)
Net cash provided by financing activities 188,014 — 188,014

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 7,950 — 7,950
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 108,441 108,441
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 116,391 $ — 3 116,391
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On January 11, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed the previously announced STI Acquisition, pursuant to that
certain definitive agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), dated as of November 10, 2021, by and among Array Tech, Inc, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Amixa Capital, S.L. and Aurica Trackers, S.L., each a company duly organized under
the laws of the Kingdom of Spain, and Mr. Javier Reclusa Etayo.

In accordance with the Purchase Agreement, the Company paid closing consideration to STI consisting of $410.5 million in cash
(the “Cash Consideration”) and 13,894,800 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Stock Consideration”). The fair value
of the purchase consideration was $610.7 million and resulted in the Company owning 100% of the interests in STI. The
Company is in the process of determining the acquisition assets and liabilities and the related accounting impact.

The purchase price will be increased by the amount that is four times the audited Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation
and Amortization (“EBITDA”) of the target less €47.0 million ($53.5 million at current exchange rates), such that the amount of
contingent consideration is subject to a cap of €45.0 million ($52.0 million at current exchange rates). Subsequent to December
31, 2021, it was determined that the targets were not met.

The acquisition of STI will provide the Company with an immediate presence in Brazil as well as Western Europe. Transaction
expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition are estimated to be $5.3 million.
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In connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the Certificate of Designations governing the Series A Redeemable
Perpetual Preferred Stock (see Note 11 - Redeemable Perpetual Preferred), on January 7, 2022, the Company issued and sold
to the Purchasers 50,000 shares of Series A Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock and 1,125,000 shares of Common Stock in
an Additional Closing for an aggregate purchase price of $49,376,125.
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The Company’s Compensation Committee approved the Employee Stock Purchase Plan in December 2021. The Plan allows
employees to purchase shares at 15% off the lower of the stock price at the beginning or ending of the six months window
through payroll deductions. The plan is considered compensatory in nature and the Company will record stock compensation
expense on the plan beginning in 2022.
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Array Tech, Inc. (f/k/a Array Technologies, Inc.) New Mexico

ATI Investment Sub, Inc. Delaware

Array Technologies International Pty Ltd Australia
Brazil

Array Tecnologia Do Brasil Ltda.

Array Technologies UK Limited United Kingdom



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Array Technologies, Inc.
Albuquerque, New Mexico

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-249552) of Array Technologies,
Inc. of our report dated April 5, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, and the effectiveness of Array Technologies, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K. Our report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting expresses an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Austin, Texas

April 6, 2022
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I, Jim Fusaro, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Array Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Jim Fusaro

Jim Fusaro
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 6, 2022
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I, Nipul Patel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Array Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Nipul Patel

Nipul Patel
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Date: April 6, 2022
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In connection with this Annual Report of Array Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") filed on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31,
2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jim Fusaro, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my

knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Jim Fusaro
Jim Fusaro
Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 6, 2022
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In connection with this Annual Report of Array Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") filed on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31,
2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Nipul Patel, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my

knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Nipul Patel
Nipul Patel
Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 6, 2022



